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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This annual report (this “Annual Report”) contains “forward-looking” statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995, as well as historical information. When used in this Annual Report, statements that are not statements of current or historical fact may be deemed to be
forward-looking statements, including, without limitation, all statements related to any expectations of revenues, expenses, cash flows, earnings or losses
from operations, cash required to maintain current and planned operations, capital or other financial items; any statements of the plans, strategies and
objectives of management for future operations; any plans or expectations with respect to product research, development and commercialization, including
regulatory approvals; any other statements of expectations, plans, intentions or beliefs; and any statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing.
Without limiting the foregoing, the words “plan,” “project,” “forecast,” “outlook,” “intend,” “may,” “will,” “expect,” “likely,” “believe,” “could,”
“anticipate,” “estimate,” “continue” or similar expressions or other variations or comparable terminology are intended to identify such forward-looking
statements, although some forward-looking statements are expressed differently. We remind readers that forward-looking statements are merely predictions
and therefore inherently subject to uncertainties and other factors and involve known and unknown risks that could cause the actual results, performance,
levels of activity or our achievements or industry results, to be materially different from any future results, performance, levels of activity or our
achievements or industry results expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from
anticipated results expressed or implied by forward-looking statements include, among others:
•

our ability to obtain sufficient capital or strategic business arrangements to fund our operations and expansion plans, including meeting our financial
obligations under various licensing and other strategic arrangements, the funding of our clinical trials for product candidates, and the
commercialization of the relevant technology;

•

our ability to build and maintain the management and human resources infrastructure necessary to support the growth of our business;

•

whether a market is established for our cell-based products and services and our ability to capture a meaningful share of this market;

•

scientific, regulatory and medical developments beyond our control;

•

our ability to obtain and maintain, as applicable, appropriate governmental licenses, accreditations or certifications or to comply with healthcare laws
and regulations or any other adverse effect or limitations caused by government regulation of our business;

•

whether any of our current or future patent applications result in issued patents, the scope of those patents and our ability to obtain and maintain
other rights to technology required or desirable for the conduct of our business; and our ability to commercialize products without infringing upon
the claims of third-party patents;

•

whether any potential strategic or financial benefits of various licensing agreements will be realized;

•

our ability to diversify our pipeline of development product candidates, which could include an acquisition, merger, business combination, in-license
or other strategic transaction, and whether any of such efforts will result in us entering into or completing any transaction or that any such
transaction, if completed, will add to shareholder value;

•

the results of our development activities;

•

our ability to complete our other planned clinical trials (or initiate other trials) in accordance with our estimated timelines due to delays associated
with enrolling patients due to the novelty of the treatment, the size of the patient population and the need of patients to meet the inclusion criteria of
the trial or otherwise; and

•

the extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic may impact our business, including our clinical trials and financial condition.

The factors discussed herein, including those risks described in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and in our other periodic filings with the SEC, which are
available for review at www.sec.gov, could cause actual results and developments to be materially different from those expressed or implied by such
statements. All forward-looking statements attributable to us are expressly qualified in their entirety by these and other factors. Readers are cautioned not to
place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date they were made. Except as required by law, we undertake no
obligation to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
Overview
Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. (“we,” “us,” “our,” “Caladrius” or the “Company”) is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company dedicated to the
development of treatments and reversal of severe diseases. We are developing what are intended to be first-in-class therapeutics based on the characteristics of
naturally occurring CD34+ cells and their ability to stimulate the growth of new microvasculature. Our technology is intended to leverage these cells to
enable the body's natural repair mechanisms using formulations unique to each medical indication.
Our leadership team has decades of collective biopharmaceutical development experience. Our goal is to develop and commercialize products that
address important unmet medical needs based on a broad and versatile portfolio of candidates. Our current product candidates include:
• XOWNA® (CLBS16), the subject of both a completed positive Phase 2a study (ESCaPE-CMD) and an ongoing follow-on Phase 2b study
(FREEDOM Trial) in the United States for the treatment of coronary microvascular dysfunction (“CMD”);

•

HONEDRA® (CLBS12), recipient of SAKIGAKE designation pursuant to which early conditional approval in Japan for the treatment of critical
limb ischemia (“CLI”) and Buerger’s disease is being sought based on the current results of a clinical trial executed in Japan. CLBS12 was the recipient of
orphan drug designation in March 2021 from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) for Buerger's disease; and
• CLBS201, designed to assess the safety and efficacy of CD34+ cell therapy as a treatment for patients with chronic kidney disease related to type 2
diabetes (diabetic kidney disease or “DKD”).
Corporate Information
We incorporated in 1980 as a Delaware corporation and our principal executive offices are located at 110 Allen Road, Second Floor, Basking Ridge, NJ
07920. Our telephone number is (908) 842-0100 and the corporate website address is www.caladrius.com. Our website address in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K is included only as an inactive textual reference and is not intended to be an active link to our website. The information on the website is not
incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports, as well as other
documents filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), are available free of charge through the Investors section of the website as soon
as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC. The public can obtain documents that are filed with the SEC
at www.sec.gov.
This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes the following trademarks owned by us: Caladrius®, XOWNA® and HONEDRA®. These trademarks are the
property of Caladrius. This Annual Report on Form 10-K also includes other trademarks, service marks and trade names owned by us or other companies. All
trademarks, service marks and traded names included herein are the property of their respective owners.
Ischemic Repair (CD34 Cell Technology)
The CD34+ cell was discovered as a result of the deliberate search for a cell capable of stimulating the development and/or repair of blood vessels. All
tissues in the body maintain their function by replacing cells over time. In addition to the maintenance function, the body must also be capable of building
new blood vessels after injury. A CD34+ cell is an endothelial progenitor cell that has the ability to stimulate new blood vessel formation at the level of the
microvasculature.
Our proprietary cell technology using autologous (a patient’s own naturally occurring) CD34+ cells has led to the development of therapeutic product
candidates designed to address diseases and conditions caused by ischemia. Ischemia occurs when the supply of oxygenated blood to healthy tissue is
restricted or reduced. Through the administration of CD34+ cells, we seek to promote the development and formation of new microvasculature and thereby
increase blood flow to the impacted area. We believe that a number of conditions caused by underlying ischemic injury can be improved through our CD34+
cell technology including, but not limited to, Buerger's disease, CLI, CMD, and DKD.

4

Index

XOWNA® for Treatment of Coronary Microvascular Dysfunction
In 2017, with the assistance of a $1.9 million grant from the National Institutes of Health (Award Number R44HL135889), we initiated our program for
XOWNA® for the treatment of CMD, a disease that afflicts as many as 1.6 million patients in the United States alone, with no current targeted treatment
options. That study, the ESCaPE-CMD Trial, was a Phase 2a proof-of-concept open label study that enrolled patients at the Mayo Clinic in Rochester, MN
and Cedars-Sinai Medical Center in Los Angeles, CA. Those data showed a positive therapeutic effect with a statistically significant improvement in angina
frequency, coronary flow reserve, Canadian Cardiovascular Society Angina Class and Seattle Angina Questionnaire scores, as well as an acceptable safety
profile. The full data set from that study was presented at the SCAI 2020 Scientific Sessions Virtual Conference on May 14, 2020 by Dr. Timothy Henry,
FACC, of the Christ Hospital in Cincinnati, Ohio. In December 2020, we commenced enrollment in our Phase 2b FREEDOM Trial of XOWNA®, a doubleblind, randomized and placebo-controlled clinical trial designed to further evaluate the efficacy and safety of intracoronary artery delivery of autologous
CD34+ cells in subjects with CMD and without obstructive coronary artery disease. While early enrollment proceeded to plan with the first patient treated in
January 2021, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic contributed to a general slowing of enrollment. Protocol amendments to the initial FREEDOM Trial
protocol, as agreed to by the FDA, were implemented with the goal of enhancing breadth and speed of subject enrollment.
HONEDRA® for Treatment of Critical Limb Ischemia
Our randomized, open-label, registration-eligible study of HONEDRA® in Japan for the treatment of CLI and Buerger's disease has, to date,
demonstrated positive trends in both safety and efficacy. The HONEDRA® study's enrollment, however, has been significantly curtailed by the COVID-19
pandemic's impact in Japan, including the States of Emergency in Japan that have persisted for much of the past 18 months. Due to the significant and
continued operational and financial burden incurred as a result of these COVID-19 delays, coupled with the unpredictability of the timing of site enrollment
re-initiation, we suspended further enrollment and are focusing our efforts on consummating a partnership for the product in Japan. Such a partnership may
become the basis for the completion of development and registration of HONEDRA® in Japan and may include the completion of enrollment of the four
remaining no-option CLI subjects stipulated in the original protocol, if necessary, and/or exploration of submitting the existing data to Japan's
Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency (“PMDA”) under Japan's regenerative medicine regulations, which allow for conditional approval of
innovative regenerative medicine products. Despite receipt from FDA in March 2021 of orphan designation in the United States for CLBS12 as a potential
treatment for Buerger's disease, based on a response from the FDA in October 2021 regarding a development plan for U.S. registration, we have decided not
to pursue U.S. development in Buerger's disease at this time.
CLBS201 for Treatment of Diabetic Kidney Disease
Progressive kidney failure is associated with attrition of the microcirculation of the kidney. Pre-clinical studies in kidney disease and injury models have
demonstrated that protection or replenishment of the microcirculation results in improved kidney function. Based on these observations, we have elected to
move forward with a Phase 1, open-label, proof-of-concept trial evaluating CLBS201 dosed via intra-renal artery injections in subjects with DKD. This
protocol, as approved by an Institutional Review Board (“IRB”), is expected to include six subjects in total with the first two subjects sequentially dosed and
followed for a two-week safety observation period. Clearance by an independent Data Safety Monitoring Board (“DSMB”) overseeing the study will then
permit the treatment of the next four patients, with all patients being followed for safety and therapeutic effect. A read-out of data will occur after the sixmonth follow-up visit for all patients. A key criterion for continued development of CLBS201 will be our ability to demonstrate a therapeutic effect that will
make it competitive in the field of DKD treatment, i.e., kidney function regeneration, as indicated by increased glomerular filtration rate.
Additional Out-licensing Opportunities and Pipeline Diversification
Our broad intellectual property portfolio of cell therapy assets includes notable programs available for out-licensing in order to continue their clinical
development. Our current long-term strategy focuses on advancing our therapies through development with the ultimate objective of obtaining market
authorizations and entering commercialization, either alone or with partners, to provide treatment options to patients suffering from life-threatening medical
conditions. We believe that we are well-positioned to realize potentially meaningful value increases within our own proprietary pipeline if we are successful
in advancing our product candidates to their next significant development milestones.
In addition, we further desire to diversify our pipeline of development product candidates and are exploring a range of strategic transactions in
furtherance of that goal. We have taken, and intend to continue to take, active steps to identify assets and/or companies for acquisition and/or partnership that
would complement our current development programs and de-risk our overall development portfolio. Such assets potentially could target indications beyond
cardiovascular disease as well as product categories outside of cell therapy. The range of possible transactions includes an acquisition, merger, business
combination, in-license or other strategic transaction, any of which could result in the issuance of securities that could significantly dilute the
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shares of our existing stockholders. There can be no assurance that this exploration of strategic alternatives will result in us entering into or completing any
transaction or that such transaction, if completed, will add to shareholder value.
COVID-19 Considerations
In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2), which causes COVID-19, was reported to have surfaced in China. In March 2020, the
World Health Organization declared the outbreak of COVID-19 to be a pandemic, and the world's economies began to experience pronounced effects. Despite
the FDA approval of multiple COVID-19 vaccines, there remains uncertainty around the extent and duration of disruption and any future related financial
impact cannot reasonably be estimated at this time. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we implemented a universal work from home policy as well as
stringent social distancing and other hygiene policies for employees when they must be in the office. Our clinical study of HONEDRA® in Japan has
experienced significant delays in enrollment due to the States of Emergency in effect in Japan for most of 2020 and re-implemented from January 7, 2021
through March 21, 2021 covering Tokyo and other regions in response to an increased number of COVID-19 infections. Due to reported increases in COVID19 cases and a low rate of vaccination in Japan, States of Emergency were renewed on April 25, 2021 through May 11, 2021 and then re-implemented in
Tokyo from July 12, 2021 through September 30, 2021. With our expectation that COVID-19 in Japan would continue to impact negatively enrollment of
patients in the HONEDRA® clinical trial, we have elected to suspend trial enrollment, seek a development partner and consult with the Japanese regulatory
authorities regarding the submission of patient data already accrued. Our phase 2b trial of XOWNA® in the United States has also experienced delays in
enrolling patients as a result of COVID-19.
THE FIELD OF CELL THERAPY
Regenerative medicine is defined as the process of replacing or regenerating human cells, tissues or organs to restore normal function. Among the
categories of therapeutic technology platforms within this field are cell therapy, gene therapy, tissue engineering, tools, device diagnostics and aesthetic
medicine. All living complex organisms start as a single cell that replicates and then individual groups of cells differentiate (mature into complex cell types),
thereby yielding the diversity of organs and organ systems in an adult organism. Cell therapy is a process that uses cells to prevent, treat or cure disease, or to
regenerate damaged or aged tissue. Since the 1970s, bone marrow, blood and umbilical cord-derived stem cells have been used to restore bone marrow, as
well as blood and immune system cells damaged by the chemotherapy and radiation historically used to treat many cancers. Notably, this approach holds
certain curative potential for patients with otherwise fatal conditions.
There are two general classes of cell therapies: autologous and allogeneic. When cells are collected from a person (donor) and transplanted or used to
develop a treatment solely for that same person (recipient or patient) with or without modification, the treatment paradigm is known as “autologous” cell
therapy. For long-term repair of cardiovascular tissues, evidence indicates that the repair cells must remain in the target tissue for a period of time. Since
autologous cells are not destroyed by the immune system, autologous cell therapy can be expected to result in long-term residence of the administered cells.
When the donor and the recipient are not the same individual, however, the procedures are referred to as “allogeneic” cell therapy.
Various cell therapies are in clinical development for an array of human diseases, including autoimmune, oncologic, cardiovascular, neurologic and
orthopedic diseases, among other indications. While no assurances can be given regarding future medical developments, we believe that the field of cell
therapy holds the promise to better the human experience and minimize or ameliorate the pain and suffering from many common and often life-threatening
diseases. The FDA has been investing significant resources into policies and organizational changes to advance the cell and gene therapy fields in recent years
through what the agency has labeled its “comprehensive regenerative medicine policy framework,” as first announced in late 2017 and incrementally
developed since that time through various agency actions.
TECHNOLOGY OUT-LICENSING OPPORTUNITIES
Ischemic Repair (CD34+ Cell Technology)
Our CD34+ Cell Technology is an autologous cell platform technology with potential application to a broad array of ischemic conditions and we will
seek to out-license the technology in geographies and/or indications in which we do not intend to pursue development ourselves.
Intellectual Property Platform
Our developed and owned ischemic repair patent portfolio comprises the following:

a. Nine U.S. patents, three European Union (“EU”) patents (each filed in 5 individual countries) and ten other patents in Japan, Canada, Russia and
b.

Hong Kong;
Claims cover, inter alia, a pharmaceutical composition that contains a therapeutic concentration of non-expanded CD34+ stem cells that move in
response to SDF-1 or VEGF, together with a stabilizing amount of serum, that can be delivered to repair an injury caused by vascular insufficiency;
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c.

Issued and pending claims can be applied to a broad range of conditions caused by underlying ischemia, including acute myocardial infarction,
chronic myocardial ischemia post-AMI, chronic heart failure, critical limb ischemia, and ischemic brain injury and DKD;

d.

One pending patent application in the United States; and

e.

One pending patent application outside the United States.

Market Opportunity for CLI
In Japan, there are approximately 300,000 patients with CLI, of whom approximately 51,000 are not candidates for revascularization, together with an
addressable population of approximately 560,000 patients in the EU and 300,000 in the United States.
The field of cardiovascular cell therapy development is competitive. There are a number of companies that are developing cell-based therapies for
cardiovascular diseases. These companies are utilizing a number of different therapeutic approaches in their development efforts. There are both autologous
and allogeneic based competitive therapies that derive cells principally from four sources: fat, peripheral blood, cord blood, and bone marrow. HONEDRA® is
an autologous therapy that derives its cells from the peripheral blood of the patient via apheresis.
Market Opportunity for CMD
In the United States there is an addressable population of approximately 400,000 to 1,600,000 patients with CMD, while the addressable population is
roughly 1,200,000 to 4,800,000 in the EU and between 43,000 and 166,000 in Japan.
Market Opportunity for DKD
In the United States, stage 3 and 4 DKD patients represent an addressable population of approximately 7,000,000 and there is an estimated addressable
population of 12,000,000 patients in the EU.
SEASONALITY
We do not believe that our operations are seasonal in nature.
GOVERNMENT REGULATION
The healthcare industry is one of the most highly regulated industries in the United States and abroad. Various governmental regulatory authorities, as
well as private accreditation organizations, oversee and monitor the activities of individuals and businesses engaged in the development, manufacture and
delivery of health care products and services. The following is a general description of certain current laws and regulations that are relevant to our business:
Premarket Review and Approval of Pharmaceutical and Biological Products in the United States
In the United States, pharmaceutical and biological products, including cellular therapies, are subject to extensive pre- and post-market regulation by the
FDA. The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (“FD&C Act”) and other federal and state statutes and regulations, govern, among other things, the
research, development, testing, manufacture, storage, recordkeeping, approval, labeling, promotion and marketing, distribution, post-approval monitoring
and reporting, sampling, and import and export of pharmaceutical products, including biological products, intended for therapeutic uses. Biological products
are approved for marketing under provisions of the Public Health Service Act (“PHS Act”). However, biological products that also meet the definition of
“drugs” under the FD&C Act are also subject to regulation under FD&C Act provisions and to applicable provisions from two sets of FDA implementing
regulations, those for biological products and those for drugs. Another distinction between pharmaceuticals and cellular therapies is that the PHS Act
requires the submission of a Biological Licensing Application (“BLA”), rather than a New Drug Application (“NDA”), for market authorization of a cellular
therapy candidate like ours. Generally, the application process and requirements for product approval under BLA is similar to those for an NDA, and the
review process for biological products is associated with similar approval risks and application costs as for chemical entity drug products.
Failure to comply with applicable U.S. requirements may subject a company to a variety of administrative or judicial sanctions, such as the FDA refusal
to approve pending NDAs or BLAs, withdrawal of an approval, issuance of warning letters and other types of enforcement letters, product recalls, product
seizures, total or partial suspension of production or distribution, injunctions, fines, refusals of government contracts, restitution, disgorgement of profits, or
civil or criminal investigations and penalties brought by the FDA and the Department of Justice, or DOJ, or other governmental entities. Under certain
circumstances, individual members of company management may also be subject to civil or criminal penalties related to company violations of applicable
legal requirements.
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An applicant seeking approval to market and distribute a new pharmaceutical or biological product in the United States typically must undertake the
following:
•

completion of preclinical laboratory tests, animal studies and formulation studies in compliance with the FDA's good laboratory practice or GLP
regulations;

•

submission to the FDA of an IND, which includes the detailed clinical protocol, which must take effect before human clinical trials can commence;

•

approval of the clinical trial protocol and the sponsor's safeguards for human subjects by one or more institutional review boards, or “IRBs,”
depending on the numbers of clinical sites and other features of the study design, before each clinical trial may be initiated;

•

performance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials in accordance with good clinical practices, or “GCPs,” to establish the safety and
efficacy of the proposed drug or biological product for each proposed indication for which FDA approval is sought;

•

satisfactory completion of FDA audits of clinical trial sites to assure compliance with GCPs and the integrity of the clinical data;

•

preparation and submission to the FDA of an NDA or BLA, as appropriate;

•

review of the product by an FDA advisory committee, where appropriate or if applicable, as determined by the FDA at its discretion;

•

satisfactory completion of one or more FDA inspections of the manufacturing facility or facilities at which the product, or components thereof, are
produced to assess compliance with the regulations establishing current Good Manufacturing Practices, or “cGMPs,” and current Good Tissue
Practices or “cGTPs” (if applicable), and to assure that the facilities, methods and controls used for the manufacture, processing and packing of the
drug or biological product are adequate to preserve the product’s identity, strength, quality and purity; and

•

payment of applicable user fees and securing FDA approval of the NDA or BLA.

Satisfaction of FDA pre-market approval requirements typically takes many years and the actual time required may vary substantially based upon the type,
complexity and novelty of the product or disease. Moreover, submission of an IND may not result in FDA authorization to initiate a clinical trial if the FDA
raises concerns or questions about the design of the clinical trial or the preclinical or manufacturing information supporting it, including concerns that human
research subjects will be exposed to unreasonable health risks. A separate submission to an existing IND must also be made for each successive clinical trial
conducted during product development. After a trial is initiated, the FDA may order the temporary or permanent discontinuation of a clinical trial at any time,
or impose other sanctions, if it believes that the clinical trial is not being conducted in accordance with FDA requirements, or presents an unacceptable risk to
the clinical trial patients.
Clinical trials involve the administration of the investigational new drug to healthy volunteers or patients under the supervision of a qualified investigator.
Clinical trials must be conducted in compliance with federal regulations and GCPs, which are meant to protect the rights and health of patients and to define
the roles of clinical trial sponsors, administrators, and monitors. In addition, sponsors of most clinical trials involving FDA regulated products, including
drugs and biologics, are required to register and disclose certain clinical trial information on a public registry and results database managed by the National
Institutes of Health called ClinicalTrials.gov. Registration information that must be submitted includes information related to the product, patient population,
phase of investigation, study sites and investigators, and other aspects of the clinical trial. Sponsors are also obligated to disclose the results of their clinical
trials after completion. Competitors may use this publicly available information to gain knowledge regarding the progress of development programs. Failure
to comply with applicable clinical trial registration or results reporting obligations can result in civil monetary penalties or the withholding of grant funds
from a federally funded grantee.
Clinical trials to support NDAs or BLAs for marketing approval are typically conducted in three sequential phases, but the phases may overlap or may be
combined. Under certain circumstances, a fourth post-approval phase may be required.
•

Phase 1: Trials in this phase are initially conducted in a limited population of healthy volunteers to test the product candidate for safety, dose
tolerance, absorption, metabolism, distribution and excretion in healthy humans or, on occasion, in patients, such as cancer patients, when the drug
or biologic is too toxic to be ethically given to healthy individuals.

•

Phase 2: These clinical trials are generally conducted in a limited patient population to determine the presence and approximate magnitude of
therapeutic effect of the product for specific targeted indications and to identify
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appropriate therapeutic dose and dose frequency as well as any corresponding additional possible adverse effects and safety risks. Multiple Phase 2
clinical trials may be conducted by the sponsor to obtain information prior to beginning larger and more expensive Phase 3 clinical trials.
•

Phase 3: These are commonly referred to as pivotal or registration studies. When Phase 2 evaluations demonstrate that a dose range of the product
is effective and has an acceptable safety profile, Phase 3 clinical trials are typically undertaken in a larger patient population to further evaluate
dosage, to provide substantial evidence of clinical efficacy and to further test for safety in an expanded and diverse patient population at multiple
and geographically-dispersed clinical trial sites. In most cases, the FDA requires two adequate and well-controlled Phase 3 clinical trials to
demonstrate the efficacy of the drug or biologic as a requirement for marketing authorization.

•

Phase 4: In some cases, the FDA may condition approval of an NDA or BLA for a product candidate on the sponsor's agreement to conduct
additional clinical trials after NDA or BLA approval. In other cases, a sponsor may voluntarily carry out additional trials post approval to gain more
information about the drug or biologic.

Submission of an NDA or BLA to the FDA
Assuming successful completion of the required clinical testing, the results of the preclinical studies and clinical trials, together with detailed
information relating to the product’s chemistry, manufacture, controls and proposed labeling, among other things, are submitted to the FDA as part of an
NDA or BLA seeking approval to market the drug product for one or more indications. FDA approval of the NDA or BLA is required before marketing of
the product may begin in the United States. The cost of preparing and submitting an NDA or BLA is substantial. Under federal law, most NDA or BLA
submissions are additionally subject to a substantial application user fee. The current fee for FY2022 is $3,117,218 (some small businesses may qualify for a
waiver under certain circumstances) and an annual program fee, currently $369,413, must also be paid for each approved prescription drug or biological
product. These fees are typically adjusted annually.
The FDA has 60 days from its receipt of an NDA or BLA to determine whether the application will be accepted for filing based on the Agency's
threshold determination that the application is sufficiently complete to permit substantive review. Once the submission is accepted for filing, the FDA begins
an in-depth review. If the application is not sufficiently complete, the FDA may issue a Refusal to File, or RTF, letter, although the FDA may permit an
applicant to correct certain easily correctable deficiencies in the NDA/BLA before filing without taking an official RTF action. Under certain NDA and BLA
review performance goals to which the FDA has agreed, most applications for standard review of drug or biological products are reviewed within ten to
twelve months, and most applications for priority review drugs or biologics are reviewed within six to eight months. If a sponsor submits a major
amendment to a filed NDA or BLA at any time during the review cycle, the FDA may extend these reviews by three months although only one such
extension is permitted during a review cycle. Priority review can be applied to drugs or biologics that, in the FDA's determination, offer major advances in
treatment or provide a treatment for a disease or condition for which no adequate therapy exists. For biologics, priority review is further limited to products
intended to treat a serious or life-threatening disease relative to currently approved products. Priority review requests must be submitted in conjunction with
the original NDA/BLA for which the sponsor is seeking the designation, and the FDA decision will be made in conjunction with its official action to file the
application and begin the substantive review process.
Before approving an NDA or BLA, the FDA will typically inspect one or more clinical trial sites to ensure compliance with GCPs. Additionally, the
FDA will inspect the facility or the facilities at which the drug is manufactured. These pre-approval inspections cover all facilities associated with an NDA
or BLA submission, including drug component manufacturing (such as active pharmaceutical ingredients), finished drug product manufacturing, and control
testing laboratories. The FDA will not approve the product unless it determines that the manufacturing processes and facilities are in compliance with
applicable cGMP and cGTP requirements and are adequate to assure consistent production of the drug or biological product within required specifications
and the NDA or BLA contains data that provide substantial evidence that the drug or biologic is safe and effective for the proposed indication.
The FDA may refer applications for novel drug or biological products, or drug or biological products that present difficult questions of safety or
efficacy, to an advisory committee, typically a panel that includes clinicians and other experts, for review, evaluation, and a recommendation as to whether
the application should be approved. The FDA is not bound by the recommendation of an advisory committee, but the FDA will carefully consider them.
After the FDA fully evaluates the NDA or BLA and the relevant manufacturing facilities, the FDA will issue either an approval/licensure letter or a
complete response letter (“CRL”). A CRL generally outlines the deficiencies in the submission and may require substantial additional testing or information
in order for the FDA to reconsider the application. If and when those deficiencies have been addressed to the FDA's satisfaction in a resubmitted NDA or
BLA, the FDA will issue an approval letter. The FDA has committed to reviewing such resubmissions within two or six months, depending on the type of
information being provided to address the deficiencies in the CRL. Even with the submission of this additional information,
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however, the FDA ultimately may decide that the application does not satisfy the regulatory criteria for approval.
If the FDA approves a drug or biological product for marketing in the United States, it may limit the approved indications for use for the product;
require that contraindications, warnings or precautions be included in the product labeling; require that post-approval studies, including Phase 4 clinical
trials, be conducted to further assess the drug’s safety after approval; require testing and surveillance programs to monitor the product after
commercialization; or impose other conditions, including distribution restrictions or other risk management mechanisms, such as a risk evaluation and
mitigation strategy or “REMS,” which can materially affect the potential market and profitability of the product. The FDA also may prevent or limit further
marketing of a product based on the results of post-market studies or surveillance programs. After approval, many types of changes to the approved product,
such as adding new indications or patient populations, making certain types of manufacturing changes or seeking to make additional labeling claims, are
subject to further testing requirements and FDA review and approval.
One potential condition of approval is that the FDA may require an applicant to develop a REMS to ensure that the benefits of the drug outweigh its
risks. To determine whether a REMS is needed, the FDA will consider the size of the population likely to use the product, seriousness of the disease,
expected benefit of the product, expected duration of treatment, seriousness of known or potential adverse events, and whether the product is a new
molecular entity. REMS requirements are tailored to the specific risk/benefit profile of a drug and can include requirements such as medication guides for
patients, detailed communication plans for health care professionals, and elements to assure safe use, or “ETASU.” ETASU may include, but are not limited
to, special training or certification for prescribing or dispensing, dispensing only under certain circumstances, special monitoring, restricted distribution, and
the use of patient registries. The FDA may require a REMS as a condition of approval or may add such a requirement at any point post-approval if it
becomes aware of a serious risk associated with use of the product. The requirement for a REMS and the specific components that are involved can
materially affect the potential market and profitability of a product. If the FDA concludes a REMS plan is needed, the sponsor of the NDA or BLA must
submit a proposed REMS. The FDA will not approve an NDA without a REMS, if required.
Expedited Review Programs (Fast Track, Breakthrough, RMAT) and Accelerated Approval Pathways
The FDA is authorized to facilitate the development and expedite the review of certain drugs or biologics that are intended for the treatment of a serious
or life-threatening disease or condition for which there is no effective treatment and which demonstrate the potential to address unmet medical needs for the
condition. Under the Fast Track Program, the sponsor of an IND for a drug candidate may request that the FDA designate the drug candidate for a specific
indication as a Fast Track drug concurrent with, or after, the submission of the IND for the drug candidate. The FDA must determine if the drug candidate
qualifies for Fast Track designation within 60 days of receipt of the sponsor’s request. In addition to other benefits such as the ability to engage in more
frequent interactions with the FDA, the FDA may initiate review of sections of a Fast Track drug’s NDA or BLA before the application is complete. This
“rolling review” is available if the applicant provides, and the FDA approves, a schedule for the submission of the remaining information and the applicant
pays applicable user fees. The FDA’s time period goal for reviewing an application, however, does not begin until the last section of the NDA/BLA is
submitted. Additionally, the Fast Track designation may be withdrawn by the FDA if the FDA believes that the designation is no longer supported by data
emerging in the clinical trial process.
Separately, under the FDA’s accelerated approval regulations, the FDA may approve a drug for a serious or life-threatening illness that provides
meaningful therapeutic benefit to patients beyond existing treatments based upon a surrogate endpoint that is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit, or
on a clinical endpoint that can be measured earlier than irreversible morbidity or mortality, that is reasonably likely to predict an effect on irreversible
morbidity or mortality or other clinical benefit, taking into account the severity, rarity or prevalence of the condition and the availability or lack of alternative
treatments.
In clinical trials, a surrogate endpoint is a measurement of laboratory or clinical signs of a disease or condition that substitutes for a direct measurement
of how a patient feels, functions or survives. Surrogate endpoints can often be measured more easily or more rapidly than clinical endpoints. A drug
candidate approved on this basis is subject to rigorous post-marketing compliance requirements, including the completion of Phase 4 or post-approval
clinical trials to confirm the effect on the clinical endpoint. Failure to conduct required post-approval studies, or confirm a clinical benefit during postmarketing studies, will allow the FDA to withdraw approval of the drug such that accelerated approval is also referred to as U.S. “conditional” approval.
Products granted accelerated approval also are subject to additional requirements for the pre-dissemination review by the FDA of proposed promotional
materials both during the NDA review process and for 120 days after marketing approval.
In addition to the above, the FDA may designate an investigational product as a Breakthrough Therapy or as a Regenerative Medicine Advanced
Therapy (“RMAT”), depending on the type of investigational product and its ability to meet applicable eligibility criteria. Breakthrough Therapy
designation is a process designed to expedite the development and
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review of drugs that are intended to treat a serious condition and preliminary clinical evidence indicates that the drug may demonstrate substantial
improvement over available therapy on a clinically significant endpoint(s). The RMAT designation requires similar eligibility criteria to be met, but it is
available only to cell therapies, tissue therapies, and other products that meet the statutory definition of a “regenerative medicine therapy.” Specifically, a
biological product is eligible for RMAT designation if: (a) the product candidate is a regenerative medicine therapy, which is defined in the FD&C Act as a
cell therapy, therapeutic tissue engineering product, human cell and tissue product, or any combination product using such therapies or products, except for
those regulated solely under the PHS Act (that is, excluding those biological products that are not also regulated as “drugs” under the FD&C Act); (b) the
product candidate is intended to treat, modify, reverse, or cure a serious or life-threatening disease or condition; and (c) preliminary clinical evidence
indicates that the product candidate has the potential to address unmet medical needs for such disease or condition. Both Breakthrough Therapy and RMAT
designations are intended to help accelerate product development by allowing more frequent interactions with the FDA and receiving intensive FDA
guidance on efficient drug development.
Pediatric Information
Under the Pediatric Research Equity Act (“PREA”), NDAs or BLAs or supplements to NDAs or BLAs must contain data that are adequate to assess the
safety and effectiveness of the drug or biologic for the claimed indications in all relevant pediatric subpopulations and to support dosing and administration
for each pediatric subpopulation for which the drug is safe and effective. Sponsors must also submit pediatric trial plans prior to the assessment data, and
those plans must contain an outline of the proposed pediatric trial or trials the applicant plans to conduct, including trial objectives and design, any deferral
or waiver requests and other information required by regulation. The applicant, the FDA, and the FDA’s internal review committee must then review the
information submitted, consult with each other, and agree upon a final plan. The FDA or the applicant may request an amendment to the plan at any time.
The FDA may grant full or partial waivers or deferrals for submission of data. Unless otherwise required by regulation, the pediatric data requirements do
not apply to products with orphan designation, although the FDA has recently taken steps to limit what it considers abuse of this statutory exemption in
PREA by announcing that it does not intend to grant any additional orphan drug designations for rare pediatric subpopulations of what is otherwise a
common disease.
The Best Pharmaceuticals for Children Act (“BPCA”) provides approved NDA and BLA holders a six-month extension of any exclusivity that attaches
to the end of all existing marketing exclusivities and patents for the drug or biologic. Conditions for exclusivity include the FDA’s determination that
information relating to the use of a new drug or biologic in the pediatric population may produce health benefits in that population, the FDA making a
written request for pediatric studies, and the applicant agreeing to perform, and reporting on, the requested studies within the statutory timeframe. The data
do not need to show the product to be effective in the pediatric population studied; rather, if the clinical trial is deemed to fairly respond to the FDA's
request, the additional protection is granted. If reports of requested pediatric studies are submitted to and accepted by the FDA within the statutory time
limits, whatever statutory or regulatory periods of exclusivity or patent protection cover the product are extended by six months. Applications under the
BPCA are treated as priority applications, with all of the benefits that designation confers.
Orphan Drugs
Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may designate a candidate as an orphan drug if it is intended to treat a rare disease or condition (generally meaning
that it affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States) Orphan drug designation must be requested by an applicant before submitting an NDA or
BLA for the relevant drug candidate. If the FDA grants orphan drug designation, the FDA will publicly disclose the generic identity of the drug candidate and
its potential orphan use. Orphan drug designation does not convey any advantage in, or shorten the duration of, the regulatory review and approval process.
If a product with orphan status receives the first FDA approval for the disease or condition for which it has such designation, the product generally will
receive orphan drug exclusivity. Orphan drug exclusivity means that the FDA may not approve any other applications for the same product for the same
indication for seven years, except in certain limited circumstances comprising methods by which a second sponsor can demonstrate clinical superiority of its
drug in comparison to the first approved orphan drug. Regardless of the orphan drug designation, a competitor may receive FDA approval for a different
product (i.e., a different therapeutic agent from the orphan drug) for the same indication for which the orphan product has exclusivity and may obtain
approval for the same product (i.e., the same therapeutic agent as the orphan drug) but for a different indication. If a designated orphan drug ultimately
receives marketing approval for an indication broader than what was described in its orphan drug designation request, it may not be entitled to exclusivity
under the Orphan Drug Act. Among the other benefits of orphan drug designation, the sponsor receives a waiver of the NDA or BLA application user fee and
is eligible for tax credits for certain research (although the amount of this potential tax credit was decreased from 50% to 25% of qualified clinical testing
expenses with the 2017 overhaul of the U.S. Tax Code, effective in 2018).
Post-Approval Requirements
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Drugs and biological products manufactured, marketed or distributed pursuant to FDA approval decisions are subject to pervasive and continuing
regulation by the FDA, including, among other things, requirements relating to recordkeeping, periodic reporting, product sampling and distribution,
advertising and promotion, and reporting of adverse experiences with the product. After approval, most changes to the approved product, such as adding new
indications or other labeling claims, are subject to FDA review and approval before they can be implemented. There also are continuing, annual program fee
requirements for any marketed, approved prescription products, as well as new application fees for supplemental applications.
In addition, drug manufacturers and other entities involved in the manufacture of approved drugs are required to register their facilities with the FDA and
state agencies and are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA for compliance with cGMP/cGTP requirements. Prescription drug distribution
facilities are also subject to state licensure, including inspections, by the relevant local regulatory authority. Changes to the manufacturing process,
specifications or container closure system for an approved drug or biologic are strictly regulated and often require prior FDA approval before being
implemented. FDA regulations also require investigation and correction of any deviations from cGMP or cGTP and impose reporting and documentation
requirements upon the sponsor and others involved in the product’s manufacturing process. We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third parties for the
production of clinical and commercial quantities of our products in accordance with cGMP regulations. These manufacturers must comply with cGMP
regulations that require, among other things, quality control and quality assurance, the maintenance of records and documentation and the obligation to
investigate and correct any deviations from cGMP. Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expend time, money and effort in the area of production and
quality control to maintain cGMP/cGTP compliance and ensure ongoing compliance with other statutory requirements the FD&C Act, such as the
requirements for making manufacturing changes to an approved NDA or BLA.
Even after a new drug or biologic approval is granted, the FDA may withdraw that approval if compliance with regulatory requirements and standards is
not maintained or if problems occur after the product reaches the market. If a previously unknown problem, including adverse events of unanticipated severity
or frequency, or with manufacturing processes, is discovered or the manufacturer fails to comply with regulatory requirements, the FDA may require
revisions to the approved labeling to add new safety information; may impose additional post-market studies or clinical trials to assess new safety risks; or
may impose distribution or other restrictions under a REMS program. Other potential consequences of regulatory non-compliance include, among other
things:
•

restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the product, complete withdrawal of the product from the market or product recalls;

•

fines, warning letters or holds on post-approval clinical trials;

•

refusal of the FDA to approve pending NDAs/BLAs or supplements to approved NDAs/BLAs, or suspension or revocation of product license
approvals;

•

product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of products;

•

injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties;

•

consent degrees, corporate integrity agreements, debarment, or exclusion from federal health care programs; or

•

mandated modification of promotional materials and labeling and the issuance of corrective information.

The FDA strictly regulates marketing, labeling, advertising and promotion of prescription drug and biological products that are placed on the market.
Drugs may be promoted only for the approved indications and in accordance with the provisions of the approved label. The FDA and other agencies actively
enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses, and a company that is found to have improperly promoted off-label uses may be
subject to significant penalties. In addition, the distribution of prescription pharmaceutical products is subject to a variety of federal and state laws, the most
recent of which is still in the process of being phased into the U.S. supply chain and regulatory framework.
In addition, the distribution of prescription pharmaceutical products is subject to the Prescription Drug Marketing Act, or PDMA, which regulates the
distribution of drugs and drug samples at the federal level and sets minimum standards for the registration and regulation of drug distributors by the states.
Both the PDMA and state laws limit the distribution of prescription pharmaceutical product samples and impose requirements to ensure accountability in
distribution. Most recently, the Drug Supply Chain Security Act, or DSCSA, was enacted with the aim of building an electronic system to identify and trace
certain prescription drugs distributed in the United States, including most biological products. The DSCSA mandates phased-in and resource-intensive
obligations for pharmaceutical manufacturers, wholesale distributors, and dispensers over a 10‑year period that is expected to culminate in November 2023.
From time to time, new legislation and regulations may be implemented that could significantly change the statutory provisions governing the approval,
manufacturing and marketing of products regulated
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by the FDA. It is impossible to predict whether further legislative or regulatory changes will be enacted, or FDA regulations, guidance or interpretations
changed or what the impact of such changes, if any, may be.
Other Health Care Regulations
If our product candidates are approved in the United States, we will have to comply with various U.S. federal and state laws, rules and regulations
pertaining to health care fraud and abuse, including anti-kickback laws and physician self-referral laws, rules and regulations. Violations of the fraud and
abuse laws are punishable by criminal and civil sanctions, including, in some instances, exclusion from participation in federal and state health care programs,
including Medicare and Medicaid. Other federal and state laws and regulations that could directly or indirectly affect our ability to operate the business and/or
financial performance include:
–

state and local licensure, applicable to the processing and storage of human cells and tissues;

–

laws and regulations administered by the United States Department of Health and Human Services, including the Office for Human Research
Protections and the Office of Inspector General;

–

state laws and regulations governing human subject research;

–

federal and state coverage and reimbursement laws and regulations, including laws and regulations administered by the Centers for Medicare &
Medicaid Services and state Medicaid agencies;

–

the federal Medicare and Medicaid Anti-Kickback Law and similar state laws and regulations;

–

the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”), as amended by the Health Information Technology for
Economic and Clinical Health Act and similar state laws and regulations;

–

the federal physician self-referral prohibition commonly known as the Stark Law, and state equivalents of the Stark Law;

–

the federal transparency requirements under the Physician Payments Sunshine Act that require manufacturers of FDA-approved drugs, devices,
biologics and medical supplies covered by Medicare or Medicaid to report, on an annual basis, to the Department of Health and Human Services
information related to payments and other transfers of value physicians, teaching hospitals, and certain advanced non-physician health care
practitioners and physician ownership and investment interests;

–

Occupational Safety and Health Administration requirements;

–

state and local laws and regulations dealing with the handling and disposal of medical waste; and

–

the Intermediate Sanctions rules of the IRS providing for potential financial sanctions with respect to “Excess Benefit Transactions” with taxexempt organizations.

Some state laws require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines, or the relevant
compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government, in addition to requiring drug manufacturers to report information related to payments to
physicians and other health care providers or marketing expenditures to the extent that those laws impose requirements that are more stringent than the
Physician Payments Sunshine Act. State and foreign laws also govern the privacy and security of health information in some circumstances, many of which
differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts.
Japan's Pharmaceutical and Medical Device Authority Regulation of Regenerative Medicine
Prior to 2014, there was no specific regulatory oversight of regenerative medicine products in Japan. However, in November 2013, the Japanese
authorities revised the Pharmaceutical Affairs Law and renamed it the Pharmaceuticals, Medical Devices, and Other Therapeutic Products Act (the “PMD
Act”). The new legislation became effective on November 25, 2014 and provides for a timely introduction of innovative regenerative medicine products. The
new legislation formalizes a legal basis for development of regenerative medicine therapies. The new legislation defines regenerative medicine products as
processed human cells that are intended to be used for either (1) the reconstructive repair, or formation of structures or functions of the human body; (2) the
treatment or prevention of human diseases; or (3) gene therapy.
The legislation allows the PMDA/Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare (“MHLW”) to award conditional approval to a regenerative medicine therapy
if there is evidence of adequate safety and results which predict likely efficacy. The evidence for efficacy may be based on surrogate endpoints and may come
from an exploratory study. This conditional approval is time-
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limited, and there must be an agreement with PMDA/MHLW as to follow-up collection of information which confirms efficacy and safety, similar to a postmarketing commitment in the United States.
Under the PMD Act, products under consideration may also be given a SAKIGAKE designation (similar to an FDA “Breakthrough” or “RMAT”
designation in certain respects) with a priority six month review period. Additionally, there is a commitment that the PMDA will facilitate research and
development by giving scientific and regulatory advice to sponsors from the early stage of development.
According to the new legislation, the sponsor prepares a marketing authorization application which is submitted for review to the PMDA. The PMDA
reviews the application and prepares a review report and recommendation which is submitted to the MHLW. The MHLW reviews the recommendation and
makes a decision regarding approval of the product. This procedure is followed for both a conditional approval and subsequently for a full approval after the
post-marketing commitments have been fulfilled.
SUMMARY OF RISK FACTORS
Our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties that are summarized below. The below
summary of risk factors should be read together with the more detailed discussion of risks set forth following this section under the heading “Risk Factors,” as
well as elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

•

We have incurred substantial losses and negative cash flow from operations in the past and expect to continue to incur losses and negative cash flow
for the foreseeable future. Additionally, we anticipate that we will need substantial additional financing to continue our operations; if we are unable
to raise additional capital, we may be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate one or more of our product development programs, and our business will
be harmed.

•

If our status as a smaller reporting company changes, Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 may require an independent registered
public accounting firm to report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Any delays or difficulty in satisfying these
requirements could adversely affect our future results of operations and our stock price.

•

Our future success may be dependent on the timely and successful partnering and/or commercialization of HONEDRA®, our experimental product
candidate for CLI and Buerger's Disease that is in clinical development in Japan, CLBS16 (XOWNA®) for CMD in clinical development in the
United States, and CLBS201 for DKD in the United States, and if we encounter delays or further difficulties in the development of these product
candidates, our business prospects would be significantly harmed.

•

Our business has been and may continue to be adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic.

•

We have experienced and may continue to experience delays in completing our clinical trials and in enrolling patients in our clinical trials, which
could delay or prevent the receipt of necessary regulatory approvals.

•

We may be unable to manage multiple late stage clinical trials for a variety of product candidates simultaneously.

•

The development of cell therapy product candidates is subject to uncertainty because autologous cell therapy is inherently variable.

•

Any disruption to our access to the reagents we are using in the clinical development of our cell therapy product candidates could adversely affect
our ability to perform clinical trials and seek future regulatory submissions.

•

The initiation of pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials for cell therapy product candidates requires the validation and establishment of manufacturing controls
that may delay product development timelines.

•

If serious or unacceptable side effects are identified during the development of any of our product candidates, we may need to abandon or limit our
development of that product candidate.

•

A Fast Track designation by the FDA and other similar regulatory designations may not lead to a faster development, regulatory review, or approval
process.

•

Our clinical trials may fail to demonstrate adequately the safety and efficacy of our product candidates, which failure would prevent or delay
regulatory approval and commercialization.
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•

We presently rely on contract manufacturing organizations to produce our product candidates at development and commercial scale quantities and
have not yet qualified an alternate manufacturing supply, which could negatively impact our ability to meet any future demand for the products.

•

We may enter into collaborations, strategic alliances, additional licensing arrangements, acquisitions, business combinations and/or other strategic
transactions in the future, any of which could require us to issue securities that could significantly dilute the shares of our existing stockholders, and
we may not realize the benefits of any such alliances, licensing arrangements, acquisitions, business combinations or strategic transactions, if
completed. .

•

Our cell therapy business is based on novel technologies that are inherently expensive, risky and may not be understood by or accepted in the
marketplace, which could adversely affect our future value.

•

If competitors develop and market products that are more effective, safer, or less expensive than our product candidates or offer other advantages,
our commercial prospects will be limited.

•

We may be subject to significant product liability claims and litigation, including potential exposure from the use of our product candidates in human
subjects, and our insurance may be inadequate to cover claims that may arise.

•

We may be unable to retain key officers or employees or hire new key officers or employees needed to implement our business strategy and develop
our products and businesses.

•

Our internal computer systems, or those used by our clinical investigators, clinical research organizations or other contractors or consultants, may
fail or suffer security breaches, which could result in a material disruption of development programs for our product candidates. Additionally, the
increasing use of social media platforms presents new risks and challenges.

•

Contract development and manufacturing organizations have a finite cell manufacturing capacity, which limitations could inhibit the long-term
growth prospects of our business such that it will need to improve manufacturing efficiency at our contract manufacturers in order to establish cost of
goods levels that will permit approved products to succeed commercially.

•

The development and commercialization of our product candidates are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and other regulatory agencies in
the United States and abroad, and the failure to receive regulatory approvals for cell therapy product candidates would likely have a material and
adverse effect on our business and prospects.

•

We may be subject to numerous and varying privacy and security laws, and our failure to comply could result in penalties and reputational damage.

•

We will continue to be subject to extensive regulation following any product approvals, and if we fail to comply with these regulations, we may
suffer a significant setback in our business.

•

Health care companies have been the subject of federal and state investigations, and we could become subject to investigations in the future.

•

It is uncertain to what extent government, private health insurers and third-party payors will approve coverage or provide reimbursement for the
therapies and products to which our research and development relate. Availability for such reimbursement may be further limited by an increasing
uninsured population and reductions in Medicare and Medicaid funding in the United States.

•

Competitor companies or hospitals may be able to take advantage of EU rules permitting sales of unlicensed medicines for individual patients to sell
competing products without marketing authorization.

•

We may be unable to obtain or maintain patent protection for our products and product candidates, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business.
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•

Litigation and third-party claims relating to intellectual property are expensive, time-consuming and uncertain, and we may be unsuccessful in our
efforts to protect against infringement by third parties or defend ourselves against claims of infringement.

•

In certain countries, patent holders may be required to grant compulsory licenses, which would likely have a significant and detrimental effect on any
future revenues in such country.

•

Our stock price has been, and will likely continue to be, highly volatile.

•

We may fail to comply with the continued listing requirements of the Nasdaq Capital Market, such that our common stock may be delisted and the
price of our common stock and its ability to access the capital markets could be negatively impacted.

•

In addition to potential dilution associated with potential future fundraising and strategic transactions, we currently have a significant number of
securities outstanding that are exercisable for our common stock, which exercise could result in significant additional dilution and downward
pressure on the stock's price.

•

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and by-laws and Delaware law may inhibit a takeover of us, which could limit the
price investors might be willing to pay in the future for our common stock and could entrench management.

•

Failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could have a
material adverse effect on our business and stock price.

HUMAN CAPITAL RESOURCES
As of December 31, 2021, we had 27 full-time employees. Senior management and professional employees have had prior experience in pharmaceutical
or biotechnology companies. None of our employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements. We believe that our relations with our employees are
good. Our human capital resources objectives include, as applicable, identifying, recruiting, retaining, incentivizing and integrating our existing and
additional employees, advisors and consultants. The principal purposes of our equity incentive plans are to attract, retain and reward personnel through the
granting of equity-based compensation awards in order to increase shareholder value and our success by motivating such individuals to perform to the best of
their abilities and achieve our objectives.
We recognize that our industry is specialized and dynamic, and a significant aspect of our success is our continued ability to execute our human capital
strategy of attracting, engaging, developing and retaining highly skilled talent. There is fierce competition both within our industry and in the geographic
locations in which we have offices for highly skilled talent, and we offer a robust set of benefits, career-enhancing learning experiences and initiatives aligned
with our mission, vision, and values in order to attract qualified prospective employees and to retain and motivate our employees. We offer competitive
compensation for our employees and strongly embrace a pay for performance philosophy in setting and adjusting compensation.
Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics clearly outlines our commitment to diversity and inclusion, where all employees are welcomed in an
environment designed to make them feel comfortable, respected, and accepted regardless of their age, race, national origin, gender, religion, disability or
sexual orientation. We have a set of policies explicitly setting forth our expectations for nondiscrimination and a harassment-free work environment. We are
also a proud equal opportunity employer and cultivate a highly collaborative and entrepreneurial culture.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.
Our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows can be affected by a number of factors, including, but not limited to, those set forth
below, any one of which could cause our actual results to vary materially from recent results or from our anticipated future results. The risks described below
are not the only ones we face, but those we currently consider to be material. There may be other risks which we now consider immaterial, or which are
unknown or unpredictable, with respect to our business, our competition, the regulatory environment or otherwise that could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.
RISKS RELATED TO OUR FINANCIAL CONDITION AND CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS
We have incurred substantial losses and negative cash flow from operations in the past and expect to continue to incur losses and negative cash flow for
the foreseeable future.
We have a limited operating history, limited capital, and limited sources of revenue. Since our inception in 1980 through December 31, 2021, we have
incurred aggregate net losses of approximately $453.0 million. Our net losses from continuing operations attributable to common stockholders for the years
ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 were approximately $27.5 million and $8.2 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2021, our cash and
cash equivalents and marketable securities were $95.0 million. Our current business has not generated revenues in the past and for the foreseeable future we
do not expect it to generate revenue to be sufficient to cover costs attributable to that business or to our operations as a whole, including our development
activities associated with our product candidates. Ultimately, we may never generate sufficient revenue from our business to reach profitability, generate
positive cash flow or sustain, on an ongoing basis, our current or projected levels of product development and other operations.
We anticipate that we will need substantial additional financing to continue our operations; if we are unable to raise additional capital, we may be forced
to delay, reduce or eliminate one or more of our product development programs, and our business will be harmed.
Our current operating plan will require significant levels of additional capital to fund the continued development of our cell therapy product candidates
and our clinical development activities.
Our clinical activities are expected to continue to grow as our programs are advanced and they will require significant investment over a period of several
years before they could potentially be approved by the FDA and commercialized by us or a partner, if ever. Even if data from our current clinical trials for our
product candidates were deemed positive, we may be required to conduct additional clinical trials of the product candidates, including larger and more
expensive pivotal Phase 3 trials, to pursue commercialization of the candidates. To do so, we will need to raise additional capital, enter into collaboration
agreements with third parties or undertake any combination thereof. If we are unsuccessful in our efforts to raise capital or find collaborative partners, we will
likely need to otherwise delay or abandon the trials.
The amount and timing of our future capital requirements also will likely depend on many other factors, including:
•

the scope, progress, results, costs, timing and outcomes of our cell therapy research and development programs and product candidates;

•

our ability to enter into any collaboration agreements with third parties for our product candidates and the timing and terms of any such agreements;

•

the costs associated with the consummation of one or more strategic transactions;

•

the timing of, and the costs involved in obtaining, regulatory approvals for our product candidates, a process which could be particularly lengthy, or
complex given the FDA's limited experience with marketing approval for cell therapy products;

•

the costs of maintaining, expanding and protecting our intellectual property portfolio, including potential litigation costs and liabilities relating
thereto;

•

the cost of expansion of our development operations and personnel; and

•

the availability of, or our access to, state or federal government awards.

To both fund our clinical trials and support our future operations, we would likely seek to raise capital through a variety of different public and/or private
financings vehicles. This could include, but not be limited to, utilization of our at-the-market (“ATM”) offering agreement with H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC
(“HCW”), equity sales pursuant to our purchase agreement with Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC potential issuances of other debt or equity securities in
public or private financings and/or
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sale or licensing of assets. If we raise capital through the sale of equity, or securities convertible into equity, it will result in dilution to our then-existing
stockholders. Servicing the interest and principal repayment obligations under debt we incur, or whether any such debt is called, would divert funds that might
otherwise be available to support research and development, clinical or commercialization activities. In addition, debt financing involves covenants that
restrict our ability to operate our business. In certain cases, we also may seek funding through collaborative arrangements that would likely require us to
relinquish certain rights to our technology or product candidates and diminish our share in the future revenues associated with the partnered product.
Ultimately, we may be unable to raise capital or enter into collaborative relationships on terms that are acceptable to us, if at all. Our inability to obtain
necessary capital or financing to fund our future operating needs could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
We have never generated any revenue from product sales and our ability to generate revenue from product sales and become profitable depends
significantly on our success in a number of factors.
We have no products approved for commercial sale, have not generated any revenue from product sales, and do not anticipate generating any revenue
from product sales until sometime after we have received regulatory approval for the commercial sale of a product candidate, which may never occur. Our
ability to generate revenue from product sales and achieve profitability depends significantly on our success in many factors, including:
•

completing research regarding, and nonclinical and clinical development of, our current and future product candidates;

•

obtaining regulatory approvals and marketing authorizations for product candidates for which we complete clinical trials;

•

developing a sustainable and scalable manufacturing process for our product candidates;

•

identifying and contracting with contract manufacturers that have the ability and capacity to manufacture our development products and make them
at an acceptable cost;

•

launching and commercializing product candidates for which we obtain regulatory approvals and marketing authorizations, either directly or with a
collaborator or distributor;

•

obtaining market acceptance of our product candidates as viable treatment options;

•

ensuring ongoing regulatory compliance post-approval and with respect to sales and marketing of future products;

•

addressing any competing technological and market developments;

•

identifying, assessing, acquiring and/or developing new product candidates;

•

negotiating favorable terms in any collaboration, licensing, or other arrangements into which we may enter;

•

maintaining, protecting, and expanding our portfolio of intellectual property rights, including patents, trade secrets, and know-how; and

•

attracting, hiring, and retaining qualified personnel.

Even if one or more of the product candidates that we develop is approved for commercial sale, we anticipate incurring significant costs associated with
commercializing any approved product candidate. Our expenses could increase beyond expectations if we are required by the FDA, or other regulatory
agencies, domestic or foreign, to change our manufacturing processes or assays, or to perform clinical, nonclinical, or other types of studies in addition to
those that we currently anticipate. If we are successful in obtaining regulatory approvals to market one or more of our product candidates, our revenue will
depend, in part, upon the size of the markets in the territories for which we obtain regulatory approval, the accepted price for the product, the ability to receive
reimbursement at any price, and whether we own the commercial rights for that territory. If the number of our addressable disease patients is not as significant
as we estimate, the indication approved by regulatory authorities is narrower than we expect, or the reasonably accepted population for treatment is narrowed
by competition, physician choice or treatment guidelines, we may not generate significant revenue from sales of such products, even if approved. If we are
not able to generate revenue from the sale of any approved products, we may never become profitable.
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If our status as a smaller reporting company changes, Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 may require an independent registered public
accounting firm to report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Any delays or difficulty in satisfying these requirements
could adversely affect our future results of operations and our stock price.
Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires an independent registered public accounting firm to test the internal control over financial
reporting of public companies, and to report on the effectiveness of such controls, for each fiscal year ending after June 15, 2010. Under the Dodd Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, we are exempt from Section 404(b) as long as we remain a smaller reporting company or a nonaccelerated filer. If our status as a smaller reporting company changes, we may be required to comply with this auditor attestation requirement.
In addition, we may in the future discover areas of our internal controls that need improvement, particularly with respect to businesses that we may
acquire. If so, we cannot be certain that any remedial measure we take will ensure that we have adequate internal controls over our financial processes and
reporting in the future. Any failure to implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation could harm our
operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. If we are unable to conclude that we have effective internal controls over financial
reporting, or if it becomes necessary for our independent registered public accounting firm to provide us with an unqualified report regarding the effectiveness
of our internal control over financial reporting and it is unable to do so, investors could lose confidence in the reliability of our financial statements. This
could result in a decrease in the value of our common stock.
RISKS RELATED TO OUR CELL THERAPY PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT EFFORTS
Our future success may be dependent on the timely and successful continued development and commercialization of HONEDRA®, our experimental
product candidate for CLI and Buerger's Disease that has been in clinical development in Japan, XOWNA® or CLBS16 for CMD, and CLBS201 for
DKD, and if we encounter delays or further difficulties in the development of these product candidates, our business prospects would be significantly
harmed.
We are dependent upon the successful development, approval and commercialization of our product candidates. Before we are able to seek regulatory
approval of our product candidates, we must conduct and complete extensive clinical trials to demonstrate their safety and efficacy in humans. We have never
taken a product through the regulatory approval process or successfully to U.S. or international commercialization.
In early 2018, we treated the first patient in a clinical trial in Japan for HONEDRA® for use in CLI taking advantage of the paradigm of potential
conditional approval for regenerative medicine products established by new regulations in Japan for products that show sufficient safety evidence and some
evidence of efficacy. Because of difficulty enrolling the remaining patients in the trial and the costs of continued delays in such, we suspended enrollment of
the trial at the end of 2021 and commenced talks with development partners as well as with PMDA to consider paths forward. There can be no assurance that
we will find a partner or that PMDA will consider the drug for approval without completing enrollment of the trial, such that HONEDRA® may be delayed
indefinitely or never commercialized.
In late 2020 we began enrolling patients in the FREEDOM trial using CD34+ cells to treat CMD (CLBS16). That trial also has been delayed significantly
by COVID-19-related challenges to enrollment. Additionally, we currently have an open investigational new drug application (“IND”) for CLBS201 in a pilot
study examining the effectiveness of CD34+ cells to treat diabetic kidney disease.
Clinical testing is expensive, difficult to design and implement, and can take many years to complete. Importantly, a failure of one or more of these or
any other clinical trials can occur at any stage of testing. We may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of clinical trials that could
delay or prevent our ability to complete our clinical trials, receive regulatory approval or commercialize our cell therapy product candidates, including the
following:
•

suspensions, delays or changes in the design, initiation, enrollment, implementation or completion of required clinical trials;

•

adverse changes in our financial position or significant and unexpected increases in the cost of our clinical development program;

•

changes or uncertainties in, or additions to, the regulatory approval process that require us to alter our current development strategy;

•

clinical trial results that are negative, inconclusive or even less than desired as to safety and/or efficacy, which could result in the need for additional
clinical trials or the termination of the product's development;

•

delays in our ability to manufacture our product candidates in quantities or in a form that is suitable for any required
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clinical trials;
•

intellectual property constraints that prevent us from making, using, or commercializing any of our cell therapy product candidates;

•

the supply or quality of our product candidates or other materials or equipment necessary to conduct clinical trials of these product candidates may
be no longer available for purchase, insufficient or inadequate;

•

inability to generate sufficient preclinical, toxicology, or other in vivo or in vitro data to support the initiation of clinical trials;

•

delays in reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective contract research organizations (“CROs”), contract manufacturing organizations
(“CMOs”), and clinical trial sites, the terms of which can be subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs,
CMOs and clinical trial sites;

•

delays in obtaining required IRB approval at each clinical trial site;

•

inability to file INDs with the FDA for our development candidates or comparable clinical trial applications with other regulatory authorities outside
of the United States;

•

imposition of a temporary or permanent clinical hold by the FDA or similar restrictions by other regulatory agencies for a number of reasons,
including after review of an IND or amendment, or equivalent application or amendment; as a result of a new safety finding that presents
unreasonable risk to clinical trial participants; a negative finding from an inspection of our clinical trial operations or clinical trial sites;
developments on trials conducted by competitors or approved products post-market for related technology that raises FDA concerns about risk to
patients of the technology broadly; or if the FDA finds that the investigational protocol or plan is clearly deficient to meet its stated objectives;

•

difficulty collaborating with patient groups and investigators;

•

failure by our CROs, CMOs other third parties, or us to adhere to clinical trial requirements;

•

failure to perform in accordance with the FDA or international GCP requirements;

•

failure to reach agreement with the FDA on a satisfactory development path of our development candidates;

•

delays in having patients qualify for or complete participation in a trial or return for post-treatment follow-up;

•

patients dropping out of a clinical trial;

•

occurrence of adverse events associated with the product candidate;

•

changes in the standard of care on which a clinical development plan was based, which may require new or additional trials or abandoning existing
trials;

•

transfer of manufacturing processes from our academic collaborators to larger-scale facilities operated by either a contract manufacturing
organization, or CMO, or by us, and delays or failure by our CMOs or us to make any necessary changes to such manufacturing process;

•

delays in manufacturing, testing, releasing, validating, or importing/exporting sufficient stable quantities of our product candidates for use in clinical
trials or the inability to do any of the foregoing; and

•

the FDA may not accept clinical data from trials that are conducted in countries where the standard of care is potentially different from the United
States.

Any inability to successfully complete nonclinical and clinical development could result in additional costs to us or impair our ability to generate
revenue. In addition, if we make manufacturing or formulation changes to our product candidates, we may be required to, or we may elect to, conduct
bridging studies to demonstrate the equivalence of our modified product candidates to earlier versions. Clinical trial delays could also shorten any periods
during which our products have patent protection and may allow our competitors to bring products to market before we do, which could impair our ability to
successfully commercialize our product candidates and may harm our business and results of operations.
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Our business has been and may continue to be adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic.
The COVID-19 pandemic has affected our operations and may materially affect our business. In response to the pandemic, we have limited in-office
operations, including implementing work from home and social distancing policies. We risk a delay, default and/or nonperformance under our existing
agreements arising from force majeure.
In addition, COVID-19 has resulted in significant governmental measures being implemented to control the spread of the virus, including quarantines,
travel restrictions, social distancing and business shutdowns. We have taken temporary precautionary measures intended to help minimize the risk of the virus
to our employees, including temporarily allowing all employees to work remotely. These measures could negatively affect our business. For instance,
temporarily requiring all employees to work remotely may induce absenteeism, disrupt our operations, or increase the risk of a cybersecurity incident.
COVID-19 has also caused volatility in the global financial markets and threatened a slowdown in the global economy, which may negatively affect our
ability to raise additional capital on attractive terms or at all.
Our clinical trials have suffered and may continue to suffer from delays and lower than anticipated patient recruitment or enrollment. Our clinical study
of HONEDRA® in Japan has experienced significant delays in enrollment due to the States of Emergency in effect in Japan for most of 2020 and reimplemented from January 7, 2021 through March 21, 2021 covering Tokyo and other regions in response to an increased number of COVID-19 infections.
Due to reported increases in COVID-19 cases and a low rate of vaccination in Japan, States of Emergency were renewed on April 25, 2021 through May 11,
2021 and then re-implemented in Tokyo from July 12, 2021 through September 30, 2021. With our expectation that COVID-19 in Japan would continue to
impact negatively enrollment of patients in the HONEDRA® clinical trial, we elected to suspend trial enrollment, seek a development partner and consult
with the Japanese regulatory authorities regarding the submission of patient data already accrued. Our phase 2b trial of XOWNA® in the United States has
also experienced delays in enrolling patients as a result of COVID-19.
The extent to which COVID-19 will continue to impact our business will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be
predicted with confidence, such as the duration of the pandemic, the severity of COVID-19 or new variants or the effectiveness of actions to contain and treat
COVID-19 and its variants, particularly in the geographies where we or our third party suppliers, contract manufacturers, or contract research organizations
operate. We cannot presently predict the scope and severity of any potential business shutdowns or disruptions. If we or any of the third parties with whom we
engage, however, were to experience shutdowns or other business disruptions, our ability to conduct our business in the manner and on the timelines presently
planned could be materially and negatively affected, which could have a material adverse impact on our business and our results of operations and financial
condition.
Even if we are able to successfully complete our clinical development programs for our product candidates and receive regulatory approval to market one
or more of the products, if the commercial opportunities are smaller than we anticipate, our future revenues may be adversely affected, and our business
may suffer.
If the size of the commercial opportunities in any of our target indications is smaller than we anticipate, or if the FDA grants our candidates approval to
treat only specific subpopulations or otherwise approves the products for more narrow indications for use than we are seeking, we may not be able to achieve
profitability and growth.
Even if we are able to successfully complete our clinical development program for our product candidates, and ultimately receive regulatory approval to
market one or more of the products, we may, among other things:
•

obtain approval for indications that are not as broad as the indications we sought;

•

have the product removed from the market after obtaining marketing approval;

•

encounter problems with respect to the manufacturing of commercial supplies;

•

be subject to additional post-marketing testing requirements; and/or

•

be subject to restrictions on how the product is distributed or used.

We may experience delays in enrolling patients in our clinical trials, which could delay or prevent the receipt of necessary regulatory approvals.
We may not be able to initiate or complete as planned any clinical trials if we are unable to identify and enroll a sufficient number of eligible patients to
participate in the clinical trials required by the FDA or other regulatory authorities. We also may be unable to engage a sufficient number of clinical trial sites
to conduct our trials. Moreover, our ability to conduct trials outside of the United States may be constrained by our inability to transport trial materials to
foreign destinations within the expiry period of such materials unless and until we commence operation outside of the United States or find another source of
supply.
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We may face continuing challenges in enrolling patients to participate in our clinical trials due to the novelty of our cell-based therapies, the size of the
patient populations, the eligibility criteria for enrollment in the trial and COVID-19 impact. Moreover, changes to enrollment criteria may be prohibited by
regulating agencies, may have no impact on enrollment rates and may change or harm the outcome of the study. In addition, some patients may have concerns
or negative perceptions regarding cell therapy that may affect their decision to enroll in the trials. Furthermore, patients suffering from diseases within target
indications may enroll in competing clinical trials, which could negatively affect our ability to complete enrollment of our trials. Enrollment challenges in
clinical trials often result in increased development costs for a product candidate, significant delays and potentially the abandonment of the clinical trial.
Outside of the unique aspects of conducting a clinical trial for a cell therapy candidate, patient enrollment in general is affected by many factors,
including:
•

size of the target patient population;

•

severity of the disease or disorder under investigation;

•

eligibility criteria for the clinical trial in question;

•

other clinical trials being conducted at the same time involving patients who have the disease or disorder under investigation;

•

perceived risks and benefits of the product candidate under study;

•

approval and availability of other therapies to treat the disease or disorder that is being investigated in the clinical trial;

•

willingness or unwillingness to participate in a placebo controlled clinical trial;

•

efforts to facilitate timely enrollment in clinical trials;

•

patient referral practices of physicians;

•

the ability to monitor patients adequately during and after treatment; and

•

proximity and availability of clinical trial sites for prospective patients.

Our inability to enroll a sufficient number of patients in any of our planned clinical trials would result in significant delays or may require us to abandon
one or more clinical trials altogether.
We may have other delays in completing our clinical trials and we may not complete them at all.
We have not completed the clinical trials necessary to obtain FDA approval to market HONEDRA®, XOWNA® or CLBS201 or any of our other product
candidates in development. Our operational team lacks significant experience in completing Phase 3 pivotal clinical trials and bringing a drug or biological
product through commercialization. Clinical trials for products in development may be delayed or terminated as a result of many factors, including the
following:
•

patients failing to complete clinical trials due to dissatisfaction with the treatment, side effects or other reasons;

•

failure by regulators, IRBs, or independent ethics committees to authorize us or our investigators at individual sites to commence a clinical trial;

•

suspension or termination by regulators of clinical research for many reasons, including concerns about patient safety or failure of our contract
manufacturers to comply with applicable cGMP/cGTP requirements for the clinical supplies of the cell therapy candidate;

•

delays or failure to obtain clinical supply for our product candidates necessary to conduct clinical trials from contract manufacturers, including
commercial grade clinical supply for our trials;

•

our third-party contractors may fail to comply with regulatory requirements or meet their contractual obligations to us in a timely manner, or at all;

•

treatment candidates demonstrating a lack of efficacy during clinical trials;

•

inability to continue to fund clinical trials or to find a partner to fund the clinical trials;

•

competition with ongoing clinical trials and scheduling conflicts with participating clinicians; and

•

delays in completing data collection and analysis for clinical trials.
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Any delay or failure to complete clinical trials and obtain FDA approval for our product candidates could have a material adverse effect on our cost to
develop and commercialize, and our ability to generate revenue from, a particular product candidate.
We may be unable to manage multiple late stage clinical trials for a variety of product candidates simultaneously.
As our current clinical trials progress, we may need to manage multiple late stage clinical trials simultaneously in order to continue developing all of our
current product candidates. Our management team does not have significant experience in completing late stage clinical trials and the management of late
stage clinical trials is more complex and time consuming than early stage trials. Typically, early stage trials involve several hundred patients in no more than
30 clinical sites. Late stage (Phase 3) trials may involve up to several thousand patients in up to several hundred clinical sites and may require facilities in
several countries. Therefore, the project management required to supervise and control such an extensive program is substantially larger than early stage
programs. As the need for these resources is not known until some months before the trials begin, it is necessary to recruit large numbers of experienced and
talented individuals very quickly. If the labor market does not allow this team to be recruited quickly, the sponsor is faced with a decision to delay the
program or to initiate it with inadequate management resources. This may result in recruitment of inappropriate patients, inadequate monitoring of clinical
investigators and inappropriate handling of data or data analysis. Consequently, it is possible that conclusions of efficacy or safety may not be acceptable to
permit submission of a BLA for any one of the above reasons or a combination of several.
The development of our cell therapy product candidates is subject to uncertainty because autologous cell therapy is inherently variable.
When manufacturing an autologous cell therapy, the number and the composition of the cell population varies from patient to patient. Such variability in
the number and composition of these cells could adversely affect our ability to manufacture autologous cell therapies in a cost-effective or profitable manner
and meet acceptable product release specifications for use in a clinical trial or, if approved, for commercial sale. As a consequence, the development and
regulatory approval process for autologous cell therapy products could be delayed or may never be completed. Our product development costs will also
increase if manufacturing processes and controls require unexpected investments, which could harm our business and results of operations.
Any disruption to our access to the reagents, devices, material or equipment we are using in the clinical development of our cell therapy product
candidates could adversely affect our ability to perform clinical trials and seek future regulatory submissions.
Reagents, devices, materials and systems that we are using in our clinical trials, that we intend to use in our planned clinical trials and that we may need
or use in commercial production, are provided by unaffiliated third parties. Any lack of continued availability of these reagents, devices, materials and
systems for any reason would have a material adverse effect on our ability to complete these studies and could adversely impact our ability to achieve
commercial manufacture of our planned therapeutic products. Although other available sources for these reagents, devices, materials and systems may exist in
the marketplace, we have not evaluated their cost, effectiveness, or intellectual property foundation and therefore cannot guarantee the suitability or
availability of such other potential sources.
The initiation of pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials for cell therapy product candidates requires the validation and establishment of manufacturing controls
that may delay product development timelines.
To conduct pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials, we are required to have certain validated and established manufacturing controls with respect to the safety,
purity and potency of our product candidates when administered to patients. If we determine that the results of any Phase 2 clinical trial we may conduct
supports Phase 3 development, we expect to initiate and complete one or more pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials for such programs and would need to address any
outstanding chemistry, manufacturing and control CMC issues raised by the FDA prior to initiating such trials. We may not be successful in our efforts to
address any CMC issues raised by the FDA. If we cannot initiate, or if we are delayed in initiating, a pivotal Phase 3 clinical program as a result of our failure
to satisfy the FDA's CMC concerns or otherwise, the timing of regulatory submission for commercialization of our product candidates would be delayed, or
we may be unable to seek regulatory approval to commercialize our products at all.
Product candidates that appear promising in research and development may be delayed or may fail to reach later stages of clinical development.
The successful development of pharmaceutical product candidates is highly uncertain. Product candidates that appear promising in research and
development and early clinical trials may be delayed or fail to reach later stages of development. Decisions regarding the further development of product
candidates must be made with limited and incomplete data, which makes it difficult to ensure or even accurately predict whether the allocation of limited
resources and the expenditure of
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additional capital on specific product candidates will result in desired outcomes. Preclinical and clinical data can be interpreted in different ways, and
negative or inconclusive results or adverse events during a clinical trial could delay, limit or prevent the development of a product candidate.
Clinical testing is expensive and can take many years to complete, and its outcome is inherently uncertain. Failure can occur at any time during the
clinical trial process. The results of preclinical studies and early clinical trials of our product candidates may not be predictive of the results of later-stage
clinical trials. Exploratory trends and results observed in earlier stage clinical trials, particularly trends and results observed for small subsets that were not
pre-specified, may not be replicated in later stage clinical trials. Product candidates in Phase 3 clinical trials may fail to demonstrate sufficient efficacy despite
having progressed through initial clinical trials, even if certain exploratory subset analyses of primary or secondary endpoints in those early trials showed
trends toward efficacy or, in some analyses, nominal statistical significance. The results of clinical trials in one set of patients or line of treatment may not be
predictive of those obtained in another.
If serious or unacceptable side effects are identified during the development of any of our product candidates, we may need to abandon or limit our
development of that product candidate.
All of our product candidates are in clinical development and their risk of failure is high. It is impossible to predict when or if any of our product
candidates will prove effective or safe in humans or will receive marketing approval. If our product candidates are associated with undesirable side effects or
have other unexpected, unacceptable characteristics, we may need to abandon their development or limit development to certain uses or subpopulations in
which the undesirable side effects or other characteristics are less prevalent, less severe or more acceptable from a risk-benefit perspective. Many
investigational products that initially showed promise in clinical or earlier stage testing have later been found to cause side effects or other safety issues that
prevented further development. Even if we receive regulatory approval for a candidate with a known safety risk, such an approved product may not achieve
market acceptance by physicians, patients, third-party payors or others in the medical community, which would materially and adversely affect our business.
A Fast Track designation by the FDA and other similar regulatory designations may not lead to a faster development, regulatory review or approval
process.
We were granted SAKIGAKE designation in Japan and Advanced Therapeutic Medicinal Product (“ATMP”) designation in Europe for HONEDRA® for
the treatment of CLI and Buerger's Disease. However, SAKIGAKE and ATMP designations do not ensure that we will experience a faster development,
regulatory review or approval process compared to conventional FDA or Japan PMDA procedures. Additionally, a regulatory authority may withdraw a
designation if it believes that the designation is no longer supported by data from the clinical development program. Moreover, award of a particular
designation does not imply a higher probability of success of a product in the approval process.
Our clinical trials may fail to demonstrate adequately the safety and efficacy of our product candidates, which would prevent or delay regulatory approval
and commercialization.
The clinical trials of our product candidates are, and the manufacturing and marketing of our products will be, subject to extensive and rigorous review
and regulation by numerous government authorities in the United States and in other countries where we intend to test and market our product candidates.
Before obtaining regulatory approvals for the commercial sale of any of our product candidates, we must demonstrate through lengthy, complex and
expensive preclinical testing and clinical trials that our product candidates are both safe and effective for use in each target indication. In particular, because
our cell therapy candidates are subject to regulation as biological drug products, we will need to demonstrate that they are safe, pure, and potent for use in
their target indications. Each product candidate must demonstrate an adequate risk versus benefit profile in its intended patient population and for its intended
use. The risk/benefit profile required for product licensure will vary depending on these factors and may include adequate duration of response, a delay in the
progression of the disease, and/or an improvement in survival. For example, response rates from the use of our product candidates may not be sufficient to
obtain regulatory approval unless we can also show an adequate duration of response.
We expect there may be greater variability in results for products processed and administered on a patient-by-patient basis, as anticipated for our product
candidates, than for “off-the-shelf” products, like many other drugs. There is typically an extremely high rate of attrition from the failure of product
candidates proceeding through clinical trials. Product candidates in later stages of clinical trials may fail to show the desired safety and efficacy profile
despite having progressed through preclinical studies and initial clinical trials. A number of companies in the biopharmaceutical industry have suffered
significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials due to lack of efficacy or unacceptable safety issues, notwithstanding promising results in earlier trials. Most
product candidates that begin clinical trials are never approved by regulatory authorities for commercialization.
Data from earlier studies conducted by the third-party research institutions should not be relied upon as evidence that later or larger-scale clinical trials
will succeed. Some future trials may have different patient populations than current studies and will test our product candidates in different indications,
among other differences. In addition, our proposed manufacturing processes
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for our product candidates include what we believe will be process improvements that are not part of the production processes that were previously used in
the earlier conducted clinical trials being conducted by the research institutions. Accordingly, our results with our product candidates may not be consistent
with the results of the clinical trials.
In addition, even if such trials are successfully completed, we cannot guarantee that the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities will interpret the results as
do we, and more trials could be required before we submit our product candidates for approval. To the extent that the results of the trials are not satisfactory to
the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities for support of a marketing application, we may be required to expend significant resources, which may not be
available to us, to conduct additional trials in support of potential approval of our product candidates.
We presently rely on contract manufacturing organizations to produce our product candidates at development and commercial scale quantities and have
not yet qualified an alternate manufacturing supply, which could negatively impact our ability to meet any future demand for the products.
We currently rely on one contract manufacturer, Cognate Bioservices, a Charles River Company (“Cognate”), to provide the cell processing services
necessary for clinical production for our various CD34+ cell therapy product candidates. To date, Cognate has not produced any products at commercial scale
quantities and we expect that Cognate would need to significantly expand its manufacturing capabilities to meet potential commercial demand for XOWNA®
and CLBS201 and any other of our product candidates, if approved, as well as any of our other product candidates that might attain regulatory approval. Such
expansion would require additional regulatory approvals. Even if they increase their manufacturing capabilities, it is possible that they may still lack sufficient
capacity to meet demand. At present we have no contract manufacturer for the production of HONEDRA® in Japan. Ultimately, if we are unable to supply our
products to meet commercial demand, whether because of processing constraints or other disruptions, delays or difficulties that we experience, sales of the
products and their long-term commercial prospects could be significantly damaged.
We do not presently have redundant suppliers for any of our product candidates. If the facilities where our product candidates are being manufactured
and/or the associated equipment were significantly damaged or destroyed, or if there were other disruptions, delays or difficulties affecting manufacturing
capacity, our planned and future clinical trials and commercial production for these product candidates would likely be significantly disrupted and delayed. It
would be both time consuming and expensive to replace this capacity with third parties, particularly since any new facility would need to comply with
regulatory requirements.
Ultimately, if we are unable to supply our cell therapy product candidates to meet commercial demand, were commercial approval to be obtained,
whether because of processing constraints or other disruptions, delays or difficulties that we experience, our production costs could increase dramatically, and
sales of the product and its long-term commercial prospects could be significantly damaged.
Also, as a result of the current geopolitical tensions and the conflict between Russia and Ukraine following the recent and ongoing Russian invasion of
Ukraine, the governments of the United States, the European Union, Japan and other jurisdictions have recently announced the imposition of sanctions on
certain industry sectors and parties in Russia, as well as enhanced export controls on certain products and industries. These and any additional sanctions and
export controls, as well as any counter responses by the governments of Russia or other jurisdictions, could adversely affect, directly or indirectly, the global
supply chain, with negative implications on the availability and prices of raw materials, energy prices, and our customers, as well as the global financial
markets and financial services industry.
The commercial potential and profitability of our product candidates are unknown and subject to significant risk and uncertainty.
Even if we successfully develop and obtain regulatory approval for our cell therapy product candidates, the market may not understand or accept the
products, which could adversely affect both the timing and level of future sales. Ultimately, the degree of market acceptance of our product candidates (or any
of our future product candidates) will depend on a number of factors, including:
•

the efficacy and potential advantages compared to alternative treatments or competitive products;

•

the prevalence and severity of any side effects;

•

physician acceptance of our cell therapy approach to our target disease indications, include the ease or difficulty of administering the future products;

•

restrictions on how the product is distributed or used;
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•

the strength of our marketing and distribution support, including whether we receive support from any patient advocacy groups;

•

the adequacy of product supply in light of complex manufacturing and distribution processes;

•

our ability to distinguish our products (which involve adult cells) from any ethical and political controversies associated with stem cell products
derived from human embryonic or fetal tissue; and

•

the cost of the product, the reimbursement policies of government and third-party payors and our ability to obtain sufficient third-party coverage or
reimbursement.

Even if we are successful in achieving sales of our product candidates, it is not clear to what extent, if any, the products will be profitable. The costs of
goods associated with production of cell therapy products are significant. While we are working to improve the speed and efficiency and lower the cost of our
manufacturing processes, there can be no assurance that we will be successful in these efforts. In addition, some changes in manufacturing processes or
procedures generally require FDA or foreign regulatory authority review and approval prior to implementation. Thus, we may need to conduct additional
nonclinical studies and clinical trials to support approval of any such changes. Furthermore, this review process could be costly and time-consuming and
could delay or prevent the commercialization of product candidates.
We may enter into collaborations, strategic alliances, additional licensing arrangements, acquisitions, business combinations or other strategic
transactions in the future, any of which could require us to issue securities that could significantly dilute the shares of our existing stockholders, and we
may not realize the benefits of such alliances or licensing arrangements, acquisitions, business combinations or strategic transactions.
We may enter into collaborations, strategic alliances, additional licensing arrangements, acquisitions, business combinations or other strategic
transactions with third parties that we believe are essential to product commercialization or will complement or augment our development and
commercialization efforts with respect to our product candidates and any future product candidates that we may develop. Any of these relationships may
require us to incur non-recurring and other charges, increase our near and long-term expenditures, issue securities that could significantly dilute the shares of
our existing stockholders, or disrupt our management and business. In addition, we face significant competition in seeking appropriate strategic partners
and/or acquisition candidates and the negotiation process can be time-consuming and complex. Moreover, we may not be successful in our efforts to establish
a strategic partnership or other alternative arrangements for our product candidates because they may be deemed to be at too early of a stage of development
for collaborative effort and third parties may not view our product candidates as having the requisite potential to demonstrate safety and efficacy.
Furthermore, there can be no assurance that our exploration of potential acquisitions, business combinations or strategic alternatives will result in us entering
or completing any transaction or that such transaction, if completed, will add to shareholder value.
Further, collaborations involving our product candidates, such as our collaborations with third-party research institutions, are subject to numerous risks,
which may include the following:
•

collaborators have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to a collaboration;

•

collaborators may not pursue development and commercialization of our product candidates or may elect not to continue or renew development or
commercialization programs based on clinical trial results, changes in their strategic focus due to the acquisition of competitive products, availability
of funding, or other external factors, such as a business combination that diverts resources or creates competing priorities;

•

collaborators may delay clinical trials, provide insufficient funding for a clinical trial, stop a clinical trial, abandon a product candidate, repeat or
conduct new clinical trials, or require a new formulation of a product candidate for clinical testing;

•

collaborators could independently develop, or develop with third parties, products that compete directly or indirectly with our products or product
candidates;

•

a collaborator with marketing and distribution rights to one or more products may not commit sufficient resources to their marketing and
distribution;

•

collaborators may not properly maintain or defend our intellectual property rights or may use our intellectual property or proprietary information in a
way that gives rise to actual or threatened litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate our intellectual property or proprietary information or expose
us to potential liability;
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•

disputes may arise between us and a collaborator that cause the delay or termination of the research, development or commercialization of our
product candidates, or that result in costly litigation or arbitration that diverts management attention and resources;

•

collaborations may be terminated and, if terminated, may result in a need for additional capital to pursue further development or commercialization
of the applicable product candidates; and

•

collaborators may own or co-own intellectual property covering our products that results from our collaborating with them, and in such cases, we
would not have the exclusive right to commercialize such intellectual property.

As a result, if we enter into collaboration agreements and strategic partnerships or license our products or businesses, we may not be able to realize the
benefit of such transactions if we are unable to successfully integrate them with our existing operations and company culture, which could delay our timelines
or otherwise adversely affect our business. We also cannot be certain that, following a strategic transaction or license, we will achieve the revenue or specific
net income that justifies such transaction. Any delays in entering into new collaborations or strategic partnership agreements related to our product candidates
could delay the development and commercialization of our product candidates in certain geographies for certain indications, which would harm our business
prospects, financial condition and results of operations.
We have limited experience in the development and marketing of cell therapies and may be unsuccessful in our efforts to establish a profitable business.
We have limited experience in the areas of cell therapy product development and marketing, and in the related regulatory issues and processes. Although
we have recruited a team that has experience with designing and conducting clinical trials, as a company we have limited experience in conducting clinical
trials and no experience in conducting clinical trials through to regulatory approval of any product candidate. In part because of this lack of experience, we
cannot be certain that ongoing or planned clinical trials will begin or be completed on time, if at all.
Our cell therapy business is based on novel technologies that are inherently expensive, risky and may not be understood by or accepted in the
marketplace, which could adversely affect our future value.
The clinical development, commercialization and marketing of cell and tissue-based therapies are at an early stage, substantially research-oriented and
financially speculative. To date, very few companies have been successful in their efforts to develop and commercialize a cell therapy product. In general,
cell-based or tissue-based products may be susceptible to various risks, including undesirable and unintended side effects, unintended immune system
responses, inadequate therapeutic efficacy, or other characteristics that may prevent or limit their approval or commercial use. Regulatory approval of novel
product candidates such as HONEDRA®, XOWNA® and CLBS201, which are each manufactured having novel and proprietary formulations, can be more
complex and expensive and take longer than other, more well-known or extensively studied pharmaceutical or biopharmaceutical products, due to the FDA’s
lack of experience with them. To our knowledge, the FDA has only approved five autologous cell therapy products to date.
This lack of experience may lengthen the regulatory review process, require us to conduct additional studies or clinical trials, which would increase our
development costs, lead to changes in regulatory positions and interpretations, delay or prevent approval and commercialization of these product candidates
or lead to significant post-approval limitations or restrictions. Furthermore, the number of people who may use cell or tissue-based therapies is difficult to
forecast with accuracy. Our future success is dependent on the establishment of a large global market for cell and tissue-based therapies and our ability to
capture a share of this market with our product candidates.
If competitors develop and market products that are more effective, safer, or less expensive than our product candidates or offer other advantages, our
commercial prospects will be limited.
Our cell therapy development programs now face, and will continue to face, intense competition from pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies, as well as numerous academic and research institutions and governmental agencies engaged in drug discovery activities or funding,
both in the United States and abroad. Some of these competitors are pursuing the development of drugs and other therapies that target the same diseases and
conditions that we are targeting with our product candidates.
As a general matter, we also face competition from many other companies that are researching and developing cell therapies. Many of these companies
have financial and other resources substantially greater than ours. In addition, many of these competitors have significantly greater experience in testing
pharmaceutical and other therapeutic products, obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals, and marketing and selling FDA-approved products in highly
regulated commercial health care markets. If we ultimately obtain regulatory approval for any of our product candidates, we also will be competing with
respect to manufacturing efficiency and marketing capabilities, areas in which we have limited or no commercial-scale experience.
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Mergers and acquisitions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries may result in resources being even more concentrated by our competitors.
Competition may increase further as a result of advances made in the commercial applicability of our technologies and greater availability of capital for
investment in these fields.
Our cell therapy product candidates for which we intend to seek approval as biologic products may face competition sooner than anticipated.
The Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act of 2009, or BPCIA, created an abbreviated pathway for licensure of so-called biosimilar and
interchangeable biological products, both of which have specific defined meanings under the law. The abbreviated regulatory pathway establishes legal
authority for the FDA to review and approve biosimilar biologics, including the possible designation of a biosimilar as “interchangeable” based on its
similarity to an existing reference product. Under the BPCIA, an application for a biosimilar product cannot be approved by the FDA until 12 years after the
original reference product is approved for marketing in the United States a stand-alone BLA. The law is complex and is still being interpreted and
implemented by the FDA. While it is uncertain when such processes intended to implement BPCIA may be fully adopted by the FDA, any such processes
could have a material adverse effect on the future commercial prospects for our biological products.
There is a risk that the FDA will not consider any of our therapeutic candidates to be reference products for competing products, potentially creating the
opportunity for generic competition sooner than anticipated. Additionally, this period of regulatory exclusivity does not apply to companies pursuing
regulatory approval via their own traditional BLA, rather than via the abbreviated pathway. Moreover, the extent to which a biosimilar, once approved, will be
substituted for any one of our reference products in a way that is similar to traditional generic substitution for non-biological products is not yet clear, and will
depend on a number of marketplace and regulatory factors that are still developing, as well as unique state laws and government/private policies.
We may be subject to significant product liability claims and litigation, including potential exposure from the use of our product candidates in human
subjects, and our insurance may be inadequate to cover claims that may arise.
Our business exposes us to potential product liability risks inherent in the testing, processing and marketing of cell therapy products. Such liability claims
may be expensive to defend and result in large judgments against us. We face an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to the testing of our current
and any future product candidates in human clinical trials and will face an even greater risk with respect to any commercial sales of our products should they
be approved. None of our product candidates have been widely used over an extended period of time, and therefore relevant safety data are limited. Cell
therapy companies also derive the raw materials for manufacturing of product candidates from human cell sources, and therefore the manufacturing process
and handling requirements, including ensuring compliance with cGTPs, are extensive, which increases the risk of quality failures and subsequent product
liability claims. We presently have product liability insurance limited to $10 million per incident and $10 million in annual aggregate.
We will need to increase our insurance coverage when we begin commercializing product candidates, if ever. At that time, we may not be able to obtain
or maintain product liability insurance on acceptable terms with adequate coverage or at all, or if claims against us substantially exceed our coverage, then our
financial position could be significantly impaired.
Whether or not we are ultimately successful in any product liability litigation that may arise, such litigation could consume substantial amounts of our
financial and managerial resources, decrease demand for our products and injure our reputation.
We seek to maintain errors and omissions, directors and officers, workers' compensation and other insurance at levels we believe to be appropriate to our
business activities. If, however, we were subject to a claim in excess of this coverage or to a claim not covered by our insurance and the claim succeeded, we
would be required to pay the claim from our own limited resources, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of
operations and business. Additionally, liability or alleged liability could harm our business by diverting the attention and resources of our management and
damaging our reputation.
We may be unable to retain key officers or employees or hire new key officers or employees needed to implement our business strategy and develop our
products and businesses.
Given the specialized nature of cell therapy and that it is a relatively new field, there is an inherent scarcity of experienced personnel in the field. We are
substantially dependent on the skills and efforts of current senior management for their management and operations, as well as for the implementation of our
business strategy. In addition, our future success depends upon our ability to attract and retain additional qualified personnel (including medical, scientific,
technical, commercial, business and administrative personnel) necessary to support our anticipated growth, develop our business, perform our contractual
obligations to third parties and maintain appropriate licensure. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in attracting or retaining personnel
required by us to continue to grow our operations. The loss of a key employee, the failure of a key employee to perform in his or her current position or our
inability to attract and/or retain skilled employees, as needed,
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could result in our inability to continue to grow our business or to implement our business strategy, or may have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and operating results.
Our internal computer systems, or those used by our clinical investigators, clinical research organizations or other contractors or consultants, may fail or
suffer security breaches, which could result in a material disruption of development programs for our product candidates.
We rely on information technology systems to keep financial records, maintain laboratory and corporate records, communicate with staff and external
parties and operate other critical functions. Any significant insufficiency degradation or failure of these computer systems could cause us to inaccurately
calculate or lose our data. Despite the implementation of security measures, these internal computer systems and those used by our clinical investigators,
clinical research organizations, and other contractors and consultants are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters,
terrorism, war, and telecommunication and electrical failures. The techniques that could be used by criminal elements or foreign governments to attack these
computer systems are sophisticated, change frequently and may originate from less regulated and remote areas of the world. Furthermore, there is an
increased risk of cybersecurity attacks by state actors due to the current conflict between Russia and Ukraine. Recently, Russian ransomware gangs have
threatened to increase hacking activity against critical infrastructure of any nation or organization that retaliates against Russia for its invasion of Ukraine.
Any such increase in such attacks on our third-party provider or other systems could adversely affect our network systems or other operations. While we have
not experienced any such system failure, theft of information, accident or security breach to date, if such an event were to occur and cause interruptions in its
operations, it could result in a material disruption of our clinical development activities. For example, the loss of clinical trial data from historical or future
clinical trials could result in delays in regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase costs to recover or reproduce the data. To the extent that any
disruption, theft of information, or security breach were to result in a loss of or damage to data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or
proprietary information, we could incur liability and the clinical development, and the future development of our product candidates could be delayed.
The increasing use of social media platforms presents new risks and challenges.
Social media is increasingly being used to communicate information about our product candidates and the diseases that our therapies are designed to
treat. Social media practices in our industry continue to evolve and regulations related to such use are not always clear. This evolution creates uncertainty and
risk of noncompliance with regulations applicable to our business. For example, patients and others may use social media channels to comment on the
effectiveness of a product candidate or to report an alleged adverse event. When such disclosures occur, we may fail to monitor and comply with applicable
adverse event reporting obligations or we may not be able to defend against political and market pressures generated by social media due to restrictions on
what we may say about our product candidates. There is also a risk of inappropriate disclosure of sensitive information or negative or inaccurate comments
about us on any social networking website. If any of these events were to occur or we otherwise fail to comply with applicable regulations, we could incur
liability, face overly restrictive regulatory actions or incur other harm to our business.
RISKS RELATED TO MANUFACTURING OUR DEVELOPMENT PRODUCT CANDIDATES
We have no internal capacity to manufacture our development product candidates and have no assurance that we will continue to have access to
manufacturers in our industry that can effectively make our development products or make them at an affordable, salable or otherwise commercially
reasonable price or quantity.
Contract development and manufacturing organizations have a finite cell manufacturing capacity, which could inhibit the long-term growth
prospects of our business.
We currently have minimal manufacturing contracts to produce materials for our clinical trials in the United States. It is possible that the demand for our
products could exceed existing manufacturing capacity. We expect that, as our own cell therapy development programs progress and demand for cell therapy
services in the industry expand, it may become necessary or desirable for us to expand our manufacturing vendors for cell therapy services and products in the
future, which may require us to invest significant amounts of capital and to obtain regulatory approvals. If manufacturers are unable to meet our rising
demand for products and services on a timely basis or unable to maintain cGMP/cGTP compliance standards, then it is likely that the progress of our own
programs will be impaired which could materially and adversely affect the overall success of our development programs.
Components of therapeutic products approved for commercial sale or used in late-stage clinical trials must be manufactured in accordance with cGMPs
and manufacturers of cell-based product candidates must comply with cGTPs. In addition, manufacturers of therapeutic products may be required to modify
their manufacturing processes from time to time in response to regulatory requests. The manufacture of live cellular-based products is complex and imposes
significant regulatory burdens
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that may change over time. We may encounter difficulties in the production of our product candidates due to our limited manufacturing experience.
We will need to improve manufacturing efficiency at our contract manufacturers in order to establish cost of goods levels that will permit approved
products to succeed commercially.
CMOs cannot provide assurances that they will be able to develop process enhancements that are acceptable to regulators or other comparable regulatory
authorities, on a timely basis, on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, or that any expected improvement in profitability will be realized. If they are
unsuccessful in their efforts to develop necessary improvements, we may be unable to develop commercially viable products, which would impair our ability
to continue our operations.
Lack of access to safe, reliable, and effective transportation options could adversely affect our ability to meet our needs.
To effectively and efficiently deliver our cell therapy product, we also need to establish and maintain cost-effective relationships with reliable and
experienced transportation carriers. Most existing transportation carriers are not optimally designed for the transportation of cell therapy products. For
example, these carriers generally lack a true point-to-point chain of control, may have non-controlled X-ray and inspection, do not guarantee package
orientation, handling or storage conditions and, in many cases, lack a standard, documented and tracked operating procedures. While reliable ground carriers
with experience in the transport of blood products exist in major U.S. metropolitan areas, air carriers meeting such needs are limited. If carriers we currently
use should cease medical shipping operations or otherwise become unable to properly meet our transportation needs or comply with applicable customs and
import regulations, the lack of access to safe, reliable and effective transportation options could adversely affect our ability to meet our needs.
RISKS RELATED TO GOVERNMENT REGULATION
The development and commercialization of our product candidates are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and other regulatory agencies in the
United States and abroad, and the failure to receive regulatory approvals for our cell therapy product candidates would likely have a material and adverse
effect on our business and prospects.
Government authorities in the United States, at the federal, state and local level, and in other countries, extensively regulate, among other things, the
research, development, testing, manufacture, including any manufacturing changes, packaging, storage, recordkeeping, labeling, advertising and promotion,
distribution, marketing, import and export of pharmaceutical and biological products, such as HONEDRA®, XOWNA® and CLBS201. The process of
obtaining required regulatory approvals and the subsequent compliance with appropriate statutes and regulations requires the expenditure of substantial time
and money, and there is no guarantee that we will successfully complete the steps needed to obtain regulatory approval of HONEDRA®, XOWNA® and
CLBS201 or any future product candidates. There also are extensive and ongoing post-marketing compliance obligations to which we would be subject
following FDA approval of any of our product candidates. In addition, these federal regulations may change, and our product candidates may be subject to
new laws or regulations due to the rapid advancement of the regenerative medicine field and legislators'/regulators' interest in it.
To date, we have not received regulatory approval to market any of our product candidates in any jurisdiction. If we seek approval of any of our cell
therapy product candidates, we will be required to submit to FDA, Japan's PMDA, and potentially other regulatory authorities, extensive preclinical and
clinical data supporting the safety and efficacy of such product candidates, as well as information about the manufacturing process and to undergo inspection
of manufacturing facilities, among other things. The process of obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals is expensive, typically takes many years and is
subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, particularly with complex and/or novel product candidates such as our cell-based product candidates. Changes in
regulatory approval policies during the clinical research and development period, changes in or the enactment of additional statutes or regulations, or
changes in regulatory review for each submitted product application, may cause delays in the approval or rejection of an application or may make it easier
for our competitors to gain regulatory approval to enter the marketplace. Ultimately, the FDA and other regulatory agencies have substantial discretion in the
approval/licensure process and may refuse to accept any application or may decide that our product candidate data are insufficient for approval without the
submission of additional preclinical, clinical or other time-consuming studies. In addition, varying agency interpretations of the data obtained from
preclinical and clinical testing could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval of a product candidate. Any regulatory approval we ultimately obtain may be
limited or subject to restrictions or post-approval commitments that render the approved product not commercially viable.
Any of the following factors, among others, could cause regulatory approval for our product candidates to be delayed, limited or denied:
•

the product candidates require significant clinical testing to demonstrate safety and effectiveness before applications for marketing approval can be
submitted to the FDA and other regulatory authorities;
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•

data obtained from animal testing and other nonclinical testing and clinical trials can be interpreted in different ways, and regulatory authorities may
not agree with our respective interpretations or may require us to conduct additional testing;

•

negative or inconclusive results or the occurrence of serious or unexpected adverse events during a clinical trial could cause us to delay and/or
terminate development efforts for a product candidate; and/or

•

the FDA and other regulatory authorities may require expansion of the size and scope of the clinical trials.

Any difficulties or failures that we encounter in securing regulatory approval for our product candidates would likely have a substantial adverse impact
on our ability to generate product sales and could make any search for a collaborative partner more difficult.
We may be unsuccessful in our efforts to comply with applicable federal, state and international laws and regulations, which could result in loss of
licensure, certification or accreditation or other government enforcement actions or impact our ability to secure regulatory approval of our product
candidates.
Although we seek to conduct our business in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, these laws and regulations are exceedingly complex and
often subject to varying interpretations. The cell therapy industry is the topic of significant government interest, and thus the laws and regulations applicable
to our business are subject to frequent change and/or reinterpretation. As such, there can be no assurance that we will be able, or will have the resources, to
maintain compliance with all applicable biopharmaceutical and health care laws and regulations. Failure to comply with such biopharmaceutical and health
care laws and regulations could result in significant enforcement actions, civil or criminal penalties, which along with the costs associated with such
compliance or with enforcement of such biopharmaceutical and health care laws and regulations, may have a material adverse effect on our operations or may
require restructuring of our operations or impair our ability to operate profitably.
Facilities engaged in the recovery, processing, storage, labeling, packaging or distribution of any human cells, tissues or cellular- and tissue-based
products, or the screening or testing of a donor, are required to register with the applicable regulatory agencies. Any third party retained by us to process our
samples must be similarly registered with regulators and comply with applicable regulations as well as applicable cGTP regulations and any failure to comply
with these requirements could adversely affect our business.
In addition to cGTPs, cGMP regulations govern the manufacture, processing, packaging and holding of cell therapy products that are regulated as drugs.
Any third-party manufacturers that prepare our products must comply with cGMP requirements including quality control, quality assurance and the
maintenance of records and documentation for certain products. They may be unable to comply with these cGMP requirements and with other national
regulators and state and local regulatory requirements. These requirements may change over time and we or third-party manufacturers may be unable to
comply with the revised requirements.
If we are unable to conduct clinical trials in accordance with regulations and accepted standards, we may be delayed in receiving, or may never receive,
regulatory approvals of our product candidates from the FDA and other regulatory authorities.
To obtain marketing approvals for our product candidates in the United States and abroad, we must, among other requirements, complete adequate and
well-controlled clinical trials sufficient to demonstrate to the FDA and other regulatory bodies that the product candidate is safe and effective for each
indication for which approval is sought. If the FDA finds that patients enrolled in the trial are or would be exposed to an unreasonable and significant risk of
illness or injury due to, among other things, occurrence of one or more serious adverse events in an ongoing clinical trial, the FDA can place one or more of
our clinical trials on partial or full clinical hold. If safety concerns develop, we may, or the FDA, a foreign regulatory authority, or an IRB may require us to
pause or stop the affected trials before completion.
The completion of our clinical trials also may be delayed or terminated for a number of other reasons, including if:
•

third-party clinical investigators do not perform the clinical trials on the anticipated schedule or consistent with the clinical trial protocol, GCPs
required by the FDA and other regulatory requirements, or other third parties do not perform data collection and analysis in a timely or accurate
manner;

•

inspections of clinical trial sites by the FDA or by IRBs of research institutions participating in the clinical trials, reveal regulatory violations that
require the sponsor of the trial to undertake corrective action, suspend or terminate one or more sites, or prohibit use of some or all of the data in
support of marketing applications; or
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•

the FDA or one or more IRBs suspends or terminates the trial at an investigational site or precludes enrollment of additional subjects.

Our development costs will increase if there are material delays in our clinical trials, or if we are required to modify, suspend, terminate, or repeat a
clinical trial. If we are unable to conduct our clinical trials properly, we may never receive regulatory approval to market our product candidates.
We may be subject to numerous and varying privacy and security laws, and our failure to comply could result in penalties and reputational damage.
We are subject to laws and regulations covering data privacy and the protection of personal information including health information. The legislative and
regulatory landscape for privacy and data protection continues to evolve, and there has been an increasing focus on privacy and data protection issues which
may affect our business. In the United States, we may be subject to state security breach notification laws, state health information privacy laws and federal
and state consumer protections laws which impose requirements for the collection, use, disclosure and transmission of personal information. Each of these
laws are subject to varying interpretations by courts and government agencies, creating complex compliance issues for us. If we fail to comply with applicable
laws and regulations we could be subject to penalties or sanctions, including criminal penalties if we knowingly obtain individually identifiable health
information from a covered entity in a manner that is not authorized or permitted by HIPAA or for aiding and abetting the violation of HIPAA.
Numerous other countries have, or are developing, laws governing the collection, use and transmission of personal information as well. EU member
states and other jurisdictions have adopted data protection laws and regulations, which impose significant compliance obligations. In May 2016, the European
Union formally adopted the General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”), which applies to all EU member states from May 25, 2018 and replaced the EU
Data Protection Directive The regulation introduces stringent new data protection requirements in the European Union and substantial fines for breaches of
the data protection rules. It has increased our responsibility and liability in relation to personal data that we process and we may be required to put in place
additional mechanisms ensuring compliance with the new EU data protection rules. The GDPR is a complex law and the regulatory guidance is still evolving,
including with respect to how the GDPR should be applied in the context of clinical studies. Furthermore, many of the countries within the European Union
are still in the process of drafting supplementary data protection legislation in key fields where the GDPR allows for national variation, including the fields of
clinical study and other health-related information. These variations in the law may raise our costs of compliance and result in greater legal risks.
We will continue to be subject to extensive regulation following any product approvals, and if we fail to comply with these regulations, we may suffer a
significant setback in our business.
Even if we are successful in obtaining regulatory approval of our product candidates, we will continue to be subject to the requirements of and review by,
the FDA and comparable regulatory authorities in the areas of manufacturing processes, quality assurance, post-approval clinical data, adverse event
reporting, labeling, advertising and promotional activities, among other things. In addition, any marketing approval we receive may be limited in terms of the
approved product indication or require costly post-marketing testing and surveillance. Discovery after approval of previously unknown problems with a
product, manufacturer or manufacturing process, or a failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result in actions such as:
•

warning letters or untitled letters or other actions requiring changes in product manufacturing processes or restrictions on product marketing or
distribution;

•

product recalls or seizures or the temporary or permanent withdrawal of a product from the market; and

•

fines, restitution, or disgorgement of profits or revenue, the imposition of civil penalties or criminal prosecution.

The occurrence of any of these actions would likely cause a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Additionally, if we or others identify undesirable side effects, or other previously unknown problems, caused by our product candidates after obtaining
U.S. or foreign regulatory approval or other products with the same or related active ingredients, a number of potential consequences could result, including:
•

regulatory authorities may withdraw their approval of the product;

•

regulatory authorities may require a recall of the product or we may voluntarily recall a product;

•

regulatory authorities may require the addition of warnings or contradictions in the product labeling, narrowing of the indication in the product label
or issuance of field alerts to physicians and pharmacies;
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•

we may be required to create a medication guide outlining the risks of such side effects for distribution to patients or institute a REMS;

•

we may be subject to limitation as to how we promote the product;

•

we may be required to change the way the product is administered or modify the product in some other way;

•

the FDA or applicable foreign regulatory authority may require additional clinical trials or costly post-marketing testing and surveillance to monitor
the safety or efficacy of the product;

•

sales of the product may decrease significantly;

•

we could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients; and

•

our brand and reputation may suffer.

Health care companies have been the subject of federal and state investigations, and we could become subject to investigations in the future.
Both federal and state government agencies have heightened civil and criminal enforcement efforts. There are numerous ongoing investigations of health
care companies, including drug, biologic and medical device companies, as well as their executives and managers. In addition, amendments to the Federal
False Claims Act, including under health care reform, have made it easier for private parties to bring “qui tam” (whistleblower) lawsuits against companies
under which the whistleblower may be entitled to receive a percentage of any money paid to the government. The Federal False Claims Act provides, in part,
that an action can be brought against any person or entity that has knowingly presented, or caused to be presented, a false or fraudulent request for payment
from the federal government, or who has made a false statement or used a false record to get a claim approved. The government has taken the position that
claims presented in violation of the federal anti-kickback law, Stark Law or other health care-related laws, including laws enforced by the FDA, may be
considered a violation of the Federal False Claims Act. Penalties include substantial fines for each false claim, plus three times the amount of damages that
the federal government sustained because of the act of that person or entity and/or exclusion from the Medicare program. In addition, a majority of states have
adopted similar state whistleblower and false claims provisions.
We are not aware of any government investigations involving any of our facilities or management. While we believe that we are in material compliance
with applicable governmental health care laws and regulations, any future investigations of our business or executives could cause us to incur substantial
costs, and result in significant liabilities or penalties, as well as damage to our reputation.
It is uncertain to what extent government, private health insurers and third-party payors will approve coverage or provide reimbursement for the
therapies and products to which our research and development relate. Availability for such reimbursement may be further limited by an increasing
uninsured population and reductions in Medicare and Medicaid funding in the United States.
To the extent that health care providers cannot obtain coverage or reimbursement for our therapies and products, they may elect not to provide such
therapies and products to their patients and, thus, may not need our services. Further, as cost containment pressures are increasing in the health care industry,
government and private payors may adopt strategies designed to limit the amount of reimbursement paid to health care providers.
Similarly, the trend toward managed health care and bundled pricing for health care services in the United States, could significantly influence the
purchase of health care services and products, resulting in lower prices and reduced demand for our therapeutic products under development.
We may receive a portion of our revenues from services rendered to patients enrolled in federal health care programs, such as Medicare, and we may also
directly or indirectly receive revenues from federal health care programs. Federal health care programs are subject to changes in coverage and reimbursement
rules and procedures, including retroactive rate adjustments. These contingencies could materially decrease the range of services covered by such programs or
the reimbursement rates paid directly or indirectly for our products and services. To the extent that any health care reform favors the reimbursement of other
therapies over our therapeutic products under development, such reform could affect our ability to sell our services, which may have a material adverse effect
on our revenues.
The limitation on reimbursement available from private and government payors may reduce the demand for, or the price of, our services, which could
have a material adverse effect on our revenues. Additional legislation or regulation relating to the health care industry or third-party coverage and
reimbursement may be enacted in the future which could adversely affect the revenues generated from the sale of our products and services.
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Furthermore, there has been a trend in recent years towards reductions in overall funding for Medicare and Medicaid. There has also been an increase in
the number of people who do not have any form of health care coverage in recent years and who are not eligible for or enrolled in Medicare, Medicaid or
other governmental programs. The extent to which the reforms brought about under health care reform may be successful in reducing the number of such
uninsured is unclear, and the reduced funding of governmental programs and increase in uninsured populations could have a negative impact on the demand
for our services to the extent they relate to products and services which are reimbursed by government and private payors.
Unintended consequences of health care reform legislation in the United States may adversely affect our business.
The health care industry is undergoing fundamental changes resulting from political, economic and regulatory influences. In the United States,
comprehensive programs are under consideration that seek to, among other things, increase access to health care for the uninsured and control the escalation
of health care expenditures within the economy. In March 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (“PPACA”), as amended by the Health Care
and Education Reconciliation Act, or the Affordable Care Act, was passed, which substantially changes the way health care is financed by both governmental
and private insurers, and significantly impacts the U.S. pharmaceutical industry. While we do not believe this legislation will have a direct impact on our
business, the legislation requires the adoption of implementing regulations, which may have unintended consequences or indirectly impact our business. For
instance, the scope and implications of the amendments pursuant to the Fraud Enforcement and Recovery Act of 2009 (“FERA”), have yet to be fully
determined or adjudicated and as a result it is difficult to predict how future enforcement initiatives may impact our business. Also, in some instances our
clients may be health insurers that will be subject to limitations on their administrative expenses and federal review of “unreasonable” rate increases that
could impact the prices they pay for our services. If the legislation causes such unintended consequences or indirect impact, it could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the PPACA was enacted. On August 2, 2011, the Budget Control Act of 2011
was signed into law, which, among other things, creates the Joint Select Committee on Deficit Reduction to recommend proposals in spending reductions to
Congress. The Joint Select Committee did not achieve a targeted deficit reduction of at least $1.2 trillion for the years 2013 through 2021, triggering the
legislation’s automatic reduction to several government programs. This included aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to providers of up to 2% per
fiscal year, which went into effect on April 1, 2013. On January 2, 2013, the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 was signed into law, which, among other
things, further reduced Medicare payments to several providers, including hospitals, and increased the statute of limitations period for the government to
recover overpayments to providers from three to five years. Strong, partisan disagreement in Congress has prevented implementation of various PPACA
provisions, and the Trump Administration had made the repeal of the PPACA a priority. One of the first executive orders of the Trump administration granted
federal agencies broad powers to unwind regulations under the PPACA. On January 11, 2017, the Senate voted to approve a “budget blueprint” allowing
Republicans to repeal parts of the law while avoiding Democrat filibuster. The “Obamacare Repeal Resolution” passed 51-48. Certain legislators are
continuing their efforts to repeal the PPACA, although there is little clarity on how such a repeal would be implemented and what a PPACA replacement
might look like. For the immediate future, there is significant uncertainty regarding the health care, health care coverage and health care insurance markets.
The U.S. government has in the past considered, is currently considering and may in the future consider health care policies and proposals intended to
curb rising health care costs, including those that could significantly affect both private and public reimbursement for health care services. State and local
governments, as well as a number of foreign governments, are also considering or have adopted similar types of policies. Future significant changes in the
health care systems in the United States or elsewhere, and current uncertainty about whether and how changes may be implemented, could have a negative
impact on the demand for our products. We are unable to predict whether other health care policies, including policies stemming from legislation or
regulations affecting our business, may be proposed or enacted in the future; what effect such policies would have on our business; or the effect ongoing
uncertainty about these matters will have on the purchasing decisions of our customers.
We expect that additional state and federal health care reform measures will be adopted in the future, any of which could limit the amounts that federal
and state governments will pay for health care products and services, which could result in reduced demand for our products or additional pricing pressures.
Governments outside the United States tend to impose strict price controls, which may adversely affect our revenues, if any.
In some countries, particularly the member states of the European Union, the pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental control.
In these countries, pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can take considerable time after the receipt of marketing approval for a product. In
addition, there can be considerable pressure by governments and other stakeholders on prices and reimbursement levels, including as part of cost containment
measures. Political, economic and regulatory developments may further complicate pricing negotiations, and pricing negotiations may continue after
reimbursement has been obtained. Reference pricing used by various EU member states and parallel distribution, or arbitrage between low-priced and highpriced member states, can further reduce prices. In some countries where we may seek to market
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our product candidates in the future, we may be required to conduct a clinical trial or other studies that compare the cost-effectiveness of our product
candidate to other available therapies in order to obtain or maintain reimbursement or pricing approval. Publication of discounts by third-party payors or
authorities may lead to further pressure on prices or reimbursement levels within the country of publication and other countries. If reimbursement of our
products is unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, our business could be adversely affected.
Inadequate funding for the FDA, the SEC and other government agencies could hinder their ability to hire and retain key leadership and other
personnel, prevent new products and services from being developed or commercialized in a timely manner or otherwise prevent those agencies from
performing normal business functions on which the operation of our business may rely, which could negatively impact our business.
The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including government budget and funding levels,
ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment of user fees, and statutory, regulatory, and policy changes. Average review times at the agency
have fluctuated in recent years as a result. In addition, government funding of the SEC and other government agencies on which our operations may rely,
including those that fund research and development activities is subject to the political process, which is inherently fluid and unpredictable.
Disruptions at the FDA and other agencies may also slow the time necessary for new drugs to be reviewed and/or approved by necessary government
agencies, which would adversely affect our business. For example, over the last several years, including beginning on December 22, 2018, the U.S.
government has shut down several times and certain regulatory agencies, such as the FDA and the SEC, have had to furlough critical FDA, SEC and other
government employees and stop critical activities. If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA to timely
review and process our regulatory submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Further, upon completion of this offering and in
our operations as a public company, future government shutdowns could impact our ability to access the public markets and obtain necessary capital in order
to properly capitalize and continue our operations.
Competitor companies or hospitals may be able to take advantage of EU rules permitting sales of unlicensed medicines for individual patients to sell
competing products without a marketing authorization.
The EU medicines rules allow individual member states to permit the supply of a medicinal product without a marketing authorization to fulfill special
needs, where the product is supplied in response to a bona fide unsolicited order, formulated in accordance with the specifications of a health care
professional and for use by an individual patient under his direct personal responsibility. This may in certain countries also apply to products manufactured in
a country outside the EU and imported to treat specific patients or small groups of patients. In addition, designated advanced therapy medicinal products do
not need a marketing authorization if they are prepared on a non-routine basis and are used within the same EU member state in a hospital in accordance with
a medical prescription for an individual patient.
These exemptions could allow our competitors to make sales in the EU without having obtained a marketing authorization and without undergoing the
expense of clinical trials, especially if those competitors have cell processing facilities in the relevant EU member state. Similarly, certain hospitals may be
able to compete with us on the basis of these rules. Because any such sales would be made without a marketing authorization, there would be no need for the
competitor company or hospital to refer to the clinical data in our marketing authorization dossiers, and so any data exclusivity protection that we may obtain
for our products would not prevent such competing sales.
A variety of risks associated with operating our business internationally could materially adversely affect our business.
We plan to seek regulatory approval of our product candidates outside of the United States and, accordingly, we expect that we, and any potential
collaborators in those jurisdictions, will be subject to additional risks related to operating in foreign countries, including:
•

differing regulatory requirements in foreign countries;

•

differing coverage and reimbursement requirements in foreign countries;

•

unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers, price and exchange controls, and other regulatory requirements;

•

economic weakness, including inflation, or political instability in particular foreign economies and markets;

•

compliance with tax, employment, immigration, and labor laws for employees living or traveling abroad;

•

foreign taxes, including withholding of payroll taxes;

•

foreign currency fluctuations, which could result in increased operating expenses and reduced revenue, and other obligations incident to doing
business in another country;
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•

difficulties staffing and managing foreign operations;

•

workforce uncertainty in countries where labor unrest is more common than in the United States;

•

potential liability under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 or comparable foreign laws, such as the U.K. Anti-Bribery Act;

•

challenges enforcing our contractual and intellectual property rights, especially in those foreign countries that do not respect and protect intellectual
property rights to the same extent as the United States;

•

the continued threat of terrorism and the impact of military and other action, including military actions involving Russia and Ukraine;

•

production shortages resulting from any events affecting raw material supply or manufacturing capabilities abroad, including as a result of COVID19 or the recent military actions involving Russia and Ukraine; and

•

business interruptions resulting from geo-political actions, including war and terrorism.

These and other risks associated with our planned international operations may materially adversely affect our ability to attain or maintain profitable operations.
RISKS RELATED TO OUR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
We may be unable to obtain or maintain patent protection for our products and product candidates, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business.
Our commercial success will depend, in part, on obtaining and maintaining patent protection for new technologies, product candidates, products and
processes and successfully defending such patents against third-party challenges. To that end, we file patent applications, and have been issued patents, that
are intended to cover certain methods and uses of human cells as well as compositions and methods relating to hematopoietic stem cells. These patent
applications may never result in the issuance of patents.
The patent positions of biotechnology companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal, scientific and factual questions and recent court
decisions have introduced significant uncertainty regarding the strength of patents in the industry. Moreover, the legal systems of some foreign countries do
not favor the aggressive enforcement of patents and may not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Any of
the issued patents we own or license may be challenged by third parties and held to be invalid, unenforceable or with a narrower or different scope of
coverage than what we currently believe, effectively reducing or eliminating protection we believed we had against competitors with similar products or
technologies. If we ultimately engage in and lose any such patent disputes, we could be subject to competition and/or significant liabilities, we could be
required to enter into third-party licenses or we could be required to cease using the disputed technology or product. In addition, even if such licenses are
available, the terms of any license requested by a third party could be unacceptable or unaffordable to us.
Product development and approval timelines in the biotechnology industry are very lengthy. As such, it is possible that any patents that may cover an
approved product may have expired at the time of commercialization or only have a short remaining period of exclusivity, thereby reducing the commercial
advantages of the patent. In such case, we would then rely solely on other forms of exclusivity, such as regulatory exclusivity provided by the FD&C Act,
which may provide less protection to our competitive position.
Litigation relating to intellectual property is expensive, time-consuming and uncertain, and we may be unsuccessful in our efforts to protect against
infringement by third parties or defend ourselves against claims of infringement.
To protect our intellectual property, we may initiate litigation or other proceedings. In general, intellectual property litigation is costly, time-consuming,
diverts the attention of management and technical personnel and could result in substantial uncertainty regarding our future viability, even if we ultimately
prevail. Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of such litigation or other proceedings more effectively than can we because of their
substantially greater financial resources. The loss or narrowing of our intellectual property protection, the inability to secure or enforce our intellectual
property rights or a finding that we have infringed the intellectual property rights of a third party could limit our ability to develop or market our products and
services in the future or adversely affect our revenues. Furthermore, any public announcements related to such litigation or regulatory proceedings could
adversely affect the price of our common stock.
Third parties may allege that the research, development and commercialization activities we conduct infringe patents or other proprietary rights owned by
such parties. While we do not believe any of our current activities infringe the rights of

36

Index

others, we have not conducted an exhaustive search or analysis of third-party patent rights to determine whether our pre-clinical or clinical research and
development or activities may infringe or be alleged to infringe any third-party patent rights. If we are found to have infringed the patents of a third party, we
may be required to pay substantial damages; we also may be required to seek from such party a license, which may not be available on acceptable terms, if at
all, to continue our activities. A judicial finding or infringement or the failure to obtain necessary licenses could prevent us from commercializing our
products, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.
If we are unable to maintain our licenses, patents or other intellectual property we could lose important protections that are material to continuing our
operations and our future prospects.
To obtain and maintain patent protection and licensing rights under certain of our license agreement, we must, among other things, ensure the timely
payment of all applicable filing and maintenance fees. Any failure to do so could result in the loss of some or all of our rights to proprietary technology or the
inability to secure or enforce intellectual property protection.
Additionally, our license agreements require us to meet certain diligence obligations in the development of the licensed products. Our failure to meet
these diligence obligations could result in the loss of some or all of our rights, which could materially and adversely affect our business and future prospects.
If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of trade secrets, our competitive position could be impaired.
A significant amount of our technology, especially regarding manufacturing processes, is unpatented and is maintained as trade secrets and /or knowhow. We expend significant energy, resources and know-how in an effort to protect these trade secrets and know-how, including through the use of
confidentiality agreements. Even so, improper use or disclosure of our confidential information could occur, and in such case, adequate remedies may not
exist. The disclosure of trade secrets and know-how could impair our competitive position.
In certain countries, patent holders may be required to grant compulsory licenses, which would likely have a significant and detrimental effect on any
future revenues in such country.
Many countries, including some countries in Europe, have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner may be compelled to grant licenses to
third parties. In addition, most countries limit the enforceability of patents against government agencies or government contractors. In these countries, the
patent owner may be limited to monetary relief and may be unable to enjoin infringement, which could materially diminish the value of the patent.
Compulsory licensing of life-saving products is also becoming increasingly common in developing countries, either through direct legislation or international
initiatives. Such compulsory licenses could be extended to our product candidates, which may limit our potential revenue opportunities, including with
respect to any future revenues that may result from our product candidates.
Changes to U.S. patent law may have a material adverse effect on our intellectual property rights.
As is the case with other biopharmaceutical companies, our success is heavily dependent on intellectual property, particularly patents. Obtaining and
enforcing patents in the biopharmaceutical industry involves both technological and legal complexity and is therefore costly, time consuming and inherently
uncertain. Changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of the patent laws in the United States could increase the uncertainties and costs, and may
diminish our ability to protect our inventions, obtain, maintain, and enforce our intellectual property rights and, more generally, could affect the value of our
intellectual property or narrow the scope of our owned and any licensed patents. Patent reform legislation in the United States and other countries, including
the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act (the Leahy-Smith Act), signed into law on September 16, 2011, could increase those uncertainties and costs
surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents. In addition, the patent positions of companies in
the development and commercialization of pharmaceuticals are particularly uncertain. The U.S. Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases in recent
years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available in certain circumstances or weakening the rights of patent owners in certain situations.
Depending on future actions by the U.S. Congress, the U.S. courts, the U.S. Patent and Trade Office (the “USPTO”) and the relevant law-making bodies in
other countries, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in unpredictable ways that would weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to
enforce our existing patents and patents that we might obtain in the future.
Third-party claims of intellectual property infringement may prevent or delay our development and commercialization efforts.
Our commercial success depends in part on our avoiding infringement of the patents, trademarks and proprietary rights of third parties. There have been
many lawsuits and other proceedings involving patent and other intellectual property rights in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, including
patent infringement lawsuits, interferences, oppositions, and reexamination proceedings before the USPTO and corresponding foreign patent offices and
trademark violations. Numerous
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U.S. and foreign issued patents and pending patent applications, which are owned by third parties, exist in the fields in which we are developing products and
services. As the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries expand and more patents are issued, the risk increases that our products and services may be
subject to claims of infringement of the patent rights of third parties.
Third parties may assert that we are employing their proprietary technology without authorization. There may be third-party patents or patent applications
with claims to devices, materials, formulations, methods of manufacture, or methods for treatment related to the use or manufacture of our products and
services. We have conducted freedom to operate analyses with respect to only certain of our products and services, and therefore we do not know whether
there are any third-party patents that would impair our ability to commercialize these products and services. We also cannot guarantee that any of our analyses
are complete and thorough, nor can we be sure that we have identified each and every patent and pending application in the United States and abroad that is
relevant or necessary to the commercialization of our products and services. Because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be currently
pending patent applications that may later result in issued patents that our products or services may infringe upon.
In addition, third parties may obtain patents in the future and claim that use of our technologies infringes upon these patents. If any third-party patents
were held by a court of competent jurisdiction to cover aspects of our products or services, the holders of any such patents may be able to block our ability to
commercialize such products or services unless we obtained a license under the applicable patents, or until such patents expire or are finally determined to be
invalid or unenforceable. Such a license may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all.
Parties making claims against us may obtain injunctive or other equitable relief, which could effectively block our ability to further develop and
commercialize one or more of our products or services. Defense of these claims, regardless of their merit, would involve substantial litigation expense and
would be a substantial diversion of employee resources from our business. In the event of a successful claim of infringement against us, we may have to pay
substantial damages, including treble damages and attorneys’ fees for willful infringement, pay royalties, redesign our infringing products or obtain one or
more licenses from third parties, which may be impossible or require substantial time and monetary expenditure.
RISKS RELATED TO OUR CAPITAL STOCK
Our stock price has been, and will likely continue to be, highly volatile.
The market price of our common stock has been, and in the future may continue to be, highly volatile. For example, from January 1, 2021 through
March 22, 2022 our common stock traded as low as $0.63 per share and as high as $4.89 per share.
The market price for our common stock is highly dependent on, among other things, stock market conditions in general, our clinical development efforts
and the growth of our business in general, the amount of our available cash and investments and our level of cash utilization. Future events could increase the
volatility seen in our common stock and ultimately cause a significant decline in the price of our common stock and ultimately impact our ability to raise
additional capital in the future. These events could include the following, among others:
•

low levels of trading volume for our shares;

•

capital-raising or other transactions that are, or may in the future be, dilutive to existing stockholders or that involve the issuance of debt securities;

•

delays in our clinical trials, negative clinical trial results or adverse regulatory decisions relating to our product candidates;

•

adverse fluctuations in our revenues or operating results or financial results that otherwise fall below the market's expectations;

•

disappointing developments concerning our cell therapy product candidates;

•

positive developments concerning our cell therapy product candidates that lead to the need for additional capital to complete the development
process; and

•

legal challenges, disputes and/or other adverse developments impacting our patents or other proprietary rights that protect our products.

In addition, broader external events, such as news concerning economic or market conditions in the general economy or within our industry, the activities
of our competitors, changes (or the threat of changes) in U.S. or foreign government regulations impacting the life sciences industry or the movement of
capital into or out of our industry, are likely to affect the price of our common stock. Geopolitical events, including the continued threat of terrorism and the
impact of military and other
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action, including military actions involving Russia and Ukraine, could impact our stock price as well. There can be no assurance that the market price of our
common stock will not continue to fluctuate or decline significantly in the future.
We may fail to comply with the continued listing requirements of the Nasdaq Capital Market, such that our common stock may be delisted and the price of
our common stock and our ability to access the capital markets could be negatively impacted.
Our common stock is listed for trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market. We must satisfy Nasdaq’s continued listing requirements, including, among other
things, a minimum closing bid price requirement of $1.00 per share for 30 consecutive business days (the "Minimum Bid Price Requirement"). If a company
trades for 30 consecutive business days below the $1.00 minimum closing bid price requirement, Nasdaq will send a deficiency notice to the company
advising that it has been afforded a “compliance period” of 180 calendar days to regain compliance with the applicable requirements.We received such notice
on February 18, 2022 and thus risk delisting unless we are able to regain compliance in a timely fashion.
In accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), we have a grace period of 180 calendar days, or until August 17, 2022, to regain compliance with
the Minimum Bid Price Requirement. Compliance can be achieved automatically and without further action if the closing bid price of our stock is at or above
$1.00 for a minimum of 10 consecutive business days at any time during the 180-day compliance period, in which case Nasdaq will notify us of our
compliance and the matter will be closed. If, however, we do not achieve compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Requirement by August 17, 2022, we may
be eligible for additional time to comply. In order to be eligible for such additional time, we will be required to meet the continued listing requirement for
market value of publicly held shares and all other initial listing standards for The Nasdaq Capital Market, with the exception of the Minimum Bid Price
Requirement, and must notify Nasdaq in writing of our intention to cure the deficiency during the second compliance period. There can be no assurance that
we will regain compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Requirement, that we will maintain compliant with other Nasdaq listing requirements or that we will
be granted a second compliance period.
A delisting of our common stock from Nasdaq could materially reduce the liquidity of our common stock and result in a corresponding material
reduction in the price of our common stock. In addition, delisting could harm our ability to raise capital through alternative financing sources on terms
acceptable to us, or at all, and may result in the potential loss of confidence by investors, employees and fewer business development opportunities.
In addition to potential dilution associated with potential future fundraising and strategic transactions, we currently have significant numbers of
securities outstanding that are exercisable for our common stock, which could result in significant additional dilution and downward pressure on our
stock price.
As of December 31, 2021, there were 59,789,712 shares of our common stock outstanding. In addition, there were outstanding stock options, restricted
stock units and warrants representing the potential issuance of an additional 24,093,000 shares of our common stock. The issuance of these shares in the
future would result in significant dilution to our current stockholders and could adversely affect the price of our common stock and the terms on which we
could raise additional capital. In addition, the issuance and subsequent trading of shares could cause the supply of our common stock available for purchase in
the market to exceed the purchase demand for our common stock. Such supply in excess of demand could cause the market price of our common stock to
decline.
Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and by-laws and Delaware law may inhibit a takeover of us, which could limit the
price investors might be willing to pay in the future for our common stock and could entrench management.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and by-laws contain provisions that may discourage unsolicited takeover proposals that
stockholders may consider to be in their best interests. Our board of directors is divided into three classes, each of which will generally serve for a term of
three years with only one class of directors being elected in each year. As a result, at a given annual meeting only a minority of the board of directors may be
considered for election. Since our staggered board of directors may prevent our stockholders from replacing a majority of our board of directors at any given
annual meeting, it may entrench management and discourage unsolicited stockholder proposals that may be in the best interests of stockholders. Moreover,
our board of directors has the ability to designate the terms of and issue new series of preferred stock without stockholder approval.
We are also subject to anti-takeover provisions under Delaware law, which could delay or prevent a change of control. Together, these provisions may
make more difficult the removal of management and may discourage transactions that otherwise could involve payment of a premium over prevailing market
prices for our securities.
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Failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could have a material
adverse effect on our business and stock price.
During the course of testing our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, we may identify and disclose material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that will have to be remedied. Implementing any appropriate changes to our
internal control may require specific compliance training of our directors, officers and employees, entail substantial costs to modify our existing accounting
systems, and take a significant period of time to complete. Such changes may not, however, be effective in maintaining the adequacy of our internal control
over financial reporting, and any failure to maintain that adequacy or inability to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis could result in our
financial statements being unreliable, increase our operating costs and materially impair our ability to operate our business.
Failure to achieve and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could result in a loss of investor confidence in our financial reports and
could have a material adverse effect on our stock price. Additionally, failure to maintain effective internal control over our financial reporting could result in
government investigation or sanctions by regulatory authorities.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.
Our corporate headquarters are in Basking Ridge, New Jersey. The space is approximately 11,600 rentable square feet and the base monthly rent is
approximately $25,700 through May 31, 2022. In November 2021 we executed a lease amendment to reduce the space to approximately 8,100 rentable square
feet effective June 1, 2022 through September 30, 2025 (three years and four months). The new base monthly rent is approximately $15,900 with the first four
months free. In addition, there are two five-year renewal options. In July 2019, we executed a three-year lease extension for the approximately 3,400 rentable
square feet in our Rye Brook, New York office, which extension expires in March 2023. The base monthly rent for our Rye Brook office is approximately
$9,000. We believe the total leased space is sufficient for the near future.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.
We are party to certain legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business. We do not believe that any current legal proceedings are likely to have a
material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.
Not applicable.
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES.
Market for Our Common Equity
Our common stock trades on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “CLBS.”
Holders
As of March 22, 2022, there were approximately 570 stockholders of record of our common stock. The number of record holders was determined from
the records of our transfer agent and does not include beneficial owners of our common stock whose shares are held in the names of various security brokers,
dealers, and registered clearing agencies.
Dividends and Dividend Policy
We have not paid cash dividends on our common stock. The holders of our common stock are each entitled to receive dividends when and if declared by
the board of directors out of funds legally available therefor, subject to the terms of any outstanding series of preferred stock. We intend to retain any future
earnings to fund the development and growth of our business, and therefore we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the
foreseeable future.
Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table provides information as of December 31, 2021 regarding shares of our common stock that may be issued under our existing equity
compensation plans, including our 2018 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan (the “2018 Plan”), our 2015 Equity Compensation Plan (the “2015 Plan”), our
2009 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the “2009 Plan”), and our amended 2017 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Amended 2017 ESPP”).
Equity Compensation Plan Information
Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity
Number of securities
Weighted
Average
compensation plan
to be issued upon
exercise price of
exercise
(excluding securities
outstanding options
of outstanding options
referenced in column
(1)
and rights
(a))

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders (2)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders

2,131,849
0

$5.64
—

5,886,238
0

(1)

Includes stock options only; does not include purchase rights accruing under the Amended 2017 ESPP Plan because the purchase price (and
therefore the number of shares to be purchased) will not be determined until the end of the purchase period.

(2)

Consists of the 2018 Plan, the 2015 Plan, the 2009 Plan, and the Amended 2017 ESPP.

(3)

Includes shares available for future issuance under the 2018 Plan and the Amended 2017 ESPP.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.

ITEM 6. [RESERVED].
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains forward-looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various
factors, including those set forth under “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” herein. The following discussion should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report.
Overview
We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company dedicated to the development and commercialization of cellular therapies designed to reverse disease
and/or promote the regeneration of damaged tissue. We are developing first-in-class therapeutics based on the characteristics of naturally occurring CD34+
cells and their ability to stimulate the growth of new microvasculature. Our technology leverages these cells to enable the body's natural repair mechanisms
using formulations unique to each medical indication.
Our leadership team has decades of collective biopharmaceutical development experience. Our goal is to develop and commercialize products that
address important unmet medical needs based on a broad and versatile portfolio of candidates. The Company’s current product candidates include:
• XOWNA® (CLBS16), the subject of both a completed positive Phase 2a study (ESCaPE-CMD) and an ongoing follow-on Phase 2b study
(FREEDOM Trial) in the United States for the treatment of coronary microvascular dysfunction (“CMD”);

•

HONEDRA® (CLBS12), recipient of SAKIGAKE designation and eligible for early conditional approval in Japan for the treatment of critical limb
ischemia (“CLI”) and Buerger’s disease is being sought based on the current results of a clinical trial executed in Japan. CLBS12 was the recipient of orphan
drug designation in March 2021 from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) for Buerger's disease; and
• CLBS201, designed to assess the safety and efficacy of CD34+ cell therapy as a treatment for patients with chronic kidney disease related to type 2
diabetes (diabetic kidney disease or “DKD”).
In addition, we also desire to diversify our pipeline of development product candidates and are exploring a range of strategic transactions in furtherance
of that goal. We have taken, and intend to continue to take, active steps to identify diligence-suitable assets and/or companies that would complement and derisk our current development programs. Such assets could potentially include indications beyond cardiovascular as well as product categories outside of cell
therapy and transactions could include an acquisition, merger, business combination, in-license or other strategic transaction, any of which could result in the
issuance of securities that could significantly dilute the shares of our existing stockholders. There can be no assurance that this exploration of strategic
alternatives will result in us entering into or completing any transaction or that such transaction, if completed, will add to shareholder value.
Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic
The COVID-19 pandemic continues to present substantial public health and economic challenges around the world, and to date has led to the
implementation of various responses, including government-imposed quarantines, stay-at-home orders, travel restrictions, mandated business closures and
other public health safety measures.
We continue to closely monitor the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on all aspects of our business, including how it has and will continue to impact
our operations and the operations of our suppliers, vendors and business partners, and may take further precautionary and preemptive actions as may be
required by federal, state or local authorities. In addition, we have taken steps to minimize the current environment’s impact on our business and strategy,
including devising contingency plans and securing additional resources from third party service providers. For the safety of our employees and families, we
implemented a universal work from home policy as well as stringent social distancing and other hygiene policies for employees when they must be in the
office. Our clinical study of HONEDRA® in Japan has experienced significant delays in enrollment due to the States of Emergency in effect in Japan for
most of 2020 and reimplemented from January 7, 2021 through March 21, 2021 covering Tokyo and other regions in response to an increased number of
COVID-19 infections. Due to reported increases in COVID-19 cases and a low rate of vaccination in Japan, States of Emergency were renewed on April 25,
2021 through May 11, 2021 and then reimplemented in Tokyo from July 12, 2021 through September 30, 2021. With our expectation that COVID-19 in Japan
would continue to impact negatively enrollment of patients in the HONEDRA® clinical trial, we elected to suspend trial enrollment, seek a development
partner and consult with the Japanese regulatory authorities regarding the submission of
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patient data already accrued. In addition, our phase 2b trial of XOWNA® in the United States has also experienced delays in enrolling patients as a result of
COVID-19.
Beyond its impact on our development pipeline described above, the extent to which COVID-19 ultimately impacts our business, results of operations
and financial condition will depend on future developments, which remain highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, such as the duration of
the outbreak, the emergence of new variants, new information that may emerge concerning the severity of COVID-19 or the effectiveness of actions taken to
contain COVID-19 or treat its impact, including vaccination campaigns, among others. If we or any of the third parties with whom we engage, however, were
to experience any additional shutdowns or other prolonged business disruptions, our ability to conduct our business in the manner and on the timelines
presently planned could be materially or negatively affected, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. It is possible that our clinical development timelines could continue to be negatively affected by COVID-19, which could materially and adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. See “Risk Factors” for additional discussion of the potential adverse impact of the COVID19 pandemic on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2021 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2020
The following table summarizes our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:
Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020
Operating Expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Total other income (expense)
Benefit from income taxes
Net loss

$

$

17,680 $
11,370
29,050
(29,050)
76
(1,508)
(27,466) $

9,253
9,892
19,145
(19,145)
132
(10,872)
(8,141)

Change
$

$

8,427
1,478
9,905
(9,905)
(56)
(9,364)
(19,325)

Overall, net losses were $27.5 million and $8.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Operating Expenses
For the year ended December 31, 2021, operating expenses totaled $29.1 million compared to $19.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2020,
representing an increase of $9.9 million or 52%. Operating expenses comprise the following:

•

Research and development expenses were approximately $17.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to $9.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020, representing an increase of approximately $8.4 million, or 91%. This increase was primarily due to an increase in
expenses associated with the enrollment of our XOWNA® Phase 2b study (the FREEDOM Trial). Research and development in both periods focused
on the advancement of our ischemic repair platform and related to:

◦

expenses associated with our XOWNA® Phase 2b study (the FREEDOM Trial) which commenced in the fourth quarter of 2020 with the
first patient in the study treated in January 2021;

◦

ongoing registration-eligible study expenses for HONEDRA® in CLI in Japan which focused on patient enrollment completion. The study's
enrollment has been significantly curtailed by the COVID-19 pandemic's impact in Japan, including the States of Emergency that have
persisted there for over 18 months. Due to the significant and continued operational and financial burden incurred as a result of these
COVID-19 delays, coupled with the complete unpredictability of the timing of site enrollment re-initiation, we have suspended enrollment
efforts and will focus on consummating a partnership with a Japanese company in order to complete the study enrollment as well as to
explore the possibility of submitting the existing data to PMDA under the SAKIGAKE designation; and
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◦
•

expenses associated with the preparation for filing an IND for the clinical study of CLBS201 for treatment of DKD. A Phase 1, open-label,
proof-of-concept trial has been initiated recently and is expected to include six subjects in total.

General and administrative expenses were approximately $11.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to $9.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020, representing an increase of approximately $1.5 million, or 15%. This increase was primarily due to an increase in
directors and officers insurance premiums and strategic consulting expenses. Our general and administrative expenses focus on general corporaterelated activities.

Historically, to minimize our use of cash, we have used a variety of equity and equity-linked instruments as compensation to employees, consultants,
directors and other service providers. The use of these instruments has resulted in charges to the results of operations, which has been significant in the past.
Other Income (Expense)
Total other income (expense) is comprised primarily of investment income on cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities and a loss on sale of $0.1
million related to the sale of our New Jersey net operating losses (“NJ NOLs”).
Income Tax Benefit
In April 2020, we received approval from the New Jersey Economic Development Authority (“NJEDA”) to participate in the Technology Business Tax
Certificate Transfer Program (the “Program”), whereby we qualified to sell a percentage of its New Jersey net operating losses (“NJ NOLs”). We
subsequently sold a portion of our NJ NOLs to a qualifying and approved buyer pursuant to the Program for net proceeds of $10.9 million.
In April 2021, we received final approval from the NJEDA under the Program to sell a portion of our NJ NOLs, which subsequently were sold to a
qualifying and approved buyer pursuant to the Program for net proceeds of $1.4 million. The $1.5 million of our NJ NOL tax benefits have been recorded as a
benefit from income taxes and the loss on sale of $0.1 million recorded in other income (expense).
Analysis of Liquidity and Capital Resources
At December 31, 2021, we had cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities of approximately $95.0 million, working capital of approximately $91.7
million, and stockholders’ equity of approximately $92.3 million.
During the year ended December 31, 2021, we met our immediate cash requirements through existing cash balances. Additionally, we used equity and
equity-linked instruments to pay for services and compensation.
Net cash provided by or used in operating, investing and financing activities were as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2021

Net cash used in operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities

$

(22,245)
(54,896)
85,276

2020

$

(8,82
(7,27
18,58

Operating Activities
Our cash used in operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2021 totaled approximately $22.2 million, comprising (i) our net loss of $27.5
million, as adjusted for non-cash income and expenses totaling $4.6 million (which includes adjustments for equity-based compensation, depreciation and
amortization, and amortization/accretion of marketable securities), and (ii) changes in operating assets and liabilities of approximately $0.6 million.
Our cash used in operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2020 totaled approximately $8.8 million, which is the sum of (i) our net loss of
$8.1 million, as adjusted for non-cash income and expenses totaling $1.6 million (which includes adjustments for equity-based compensation, depreciation
and amortization, and amortization/accretion of marketable securities), and (ii) changes in operating assets and liabilities of approximately $2.3 million.
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Investing Activities
Our cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2021 totaled approximately $54.9 million and was primarily due to net
purchases of marketable securities (net of sales of marketable securities).
Our cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2020 totaled approximately $7.3 million and was primarily due to net purchases
of marketable securities (net of sales of marketable securities).
Financing Activities
Our cash provided by financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily consisted of (i) net proceeds of $23.1 million through the
issuance of common shares and warrants in our January 2021 private placement, (ii) net proceeds of $1.8 million in connection with warrant exercises, (iii)
net proceeds of $60.6 million through the issuance of common shares and warrants in both of our February 2021 registered direct offerings which was
partially offset by tax withholding-related payments on net share settlement equity awards to employees.
Our cash provided by financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2020 primarily consisted of (i) net proceeds of $4.5 million through the
issuance of common shares and warrants in our April 2020 registered direct offering, (ii) net proceeds of $3.8 million through the issuance of common shares
and warrants in our May 2020 registered direct offering, and (iii) net proceeds of $1.9 million through the issuance of common shares and warrants in our
July 2020 private placement offering, and (iv) net proceeds of $8.4 million through the issuance of common shares under our common stock sales agreement
with HCW, which was partially offset by tax withholding-related payments on net share settlement equity awards to employees.
Liquidity and Capital Requirements Outlook
To meet our short and long-term liquidity needs, we expect to use existing cash balances and a variety of other means. Other sources of liquidity could
include additional potential issuances of debt or equity securities in public or private financings, partnerships and/or collaborations and/or sale of assets. Our
history of operating losses and liquidity challenges may make it difficult for us to raise capital on acceptable terms or at all. The demand for the equity and
debt of biopharmaceutical companies like ours is dependent upon many factors, including the general state of the financial markets. During times of extreme
market volatility, capital may not be available on favorable terms, if at all. Our inability to obtain such additional capital could materially and adversely affect
our business operations. We will also continue to seek, as appropriate, grants for scientific and clinical studies from various governmental agencies and
foundations, and other sources of non-dilutive funding. We believe that our cash on hand will enable us to fund operating expenses for at least the next 12
months following the issuance of our financial statements.
On June 4, 2021, we entered into an At The Market Offering Agreement (the “ATM Agreement”) with HCW, as sales agent, in connection with an “at the
market offering” under which we may, from time to time offer and sell shares of our common stock, having an aggregate offering price of up to $50.0 million.
As of December 31, 2021, we had not issued any shares under the ATM Agreement. Pursuant to the ATM Agreement, HCW is only obligated to make sales
when we are in compliance with all Nasdaq listing standards. On February 18, 2022, we received a deficiency notice from Nasdaq informing us that we are
not in compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Requirement. As such, we will not be able to sell shares under the ATM Agreement until we regain
compliance, if ever.
In February 2021, we received preliminary approval from the NJEDA to participate in the Program. The Program permits qualified companies to sell a
percentage of their NJ NOLs to unrelated profitable corporations. On April 12, 2021, we received final approval from NJEDA to sell $1.5 million of our NJ
NOLs, which were subsequently sold to a qualifying and approved buyer pursuant to the Program for net proceeds of $1.4 million.
In February 2021, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “Institutional Purchase Agreement”) with certain institutional investors (the
“Institutional Purchasers”). Pursuant to the terms of the Institutional Purchase Agreement, we sold to the Institutional Purchasers in a registered direct
offering an aggregate of 24,906,134 shares of our common stock and warrants to purchase an aggregate of 12,453,067 shares of our common stock at a
combined purchase price equal to $2.45 per share and associated warrant. Each warrant features an exercise price equal to $2.90 per share, is exercisable
immediately upon issuance and will expire five years from the issuance date. Additionally, in a concurrent non-brokered registered direct offering, we entered
into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “Additional Purchase Agreement”) with certain accredited investors (the “Additional Purchasers”). Pursuant to the
terms of the Additional Purchase Agreement, we sold to the Additional Purchasers an aggregate of 1,632,652 shares of our common stock and warrants to
purchase an aggregate of 816,326 shares of our common stock at a combined purchase price equal to $2.45 per share and associated warrant. Each warrant
features an exercise price equal to $2.90 per share, is exercisable immediately upon issuance and will expire five years from the issuance date. The closing of
the offerings occurred on February 17, 2021. In connection with the registered direct offerings, we received gross proceeds of approximately $65.0 million.
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On February 12, 2021, we suspended the use of the at-the-market transactions facility (the “ATM”) and terminated the continuous offering pursuant to
the Common Stock Sales Agreement (“Sales Agreement”) entered into in February 2018 with HCW. As of termination date of February 12, 2021, we had
sold an aggregate of 3,784,912 shares of our common stock pursuant to the Sales Agreement for aggregate net proceeds of $9.5 million.
In January 2021, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “January Purchase Agreement”) with certain institutional and accredited investors
(the “January Purchasers”), pursuant to which the Company issued and sold to the January Purchasers in a private placement an aggregate of (i) 12,500,000
shares of common stock, and (ii) warrants exercisable for up to an aggregate of 6,250,000 shares of common stock at a combined offering price of $2.00 per
share of common stock and associated warrant. The warrants have an exercise price of $2.90 per share. Each warrant will be immediately exercisable and will
expire five and one-half years from the issuance date. The closing of the offering occurred on January 25, 2021. We received gross proceeds of $25.0 million
in connection with the private placement, before deducting placement agent fees and related offering expenses.
In March 2019, we and Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC (“Lincoln Park”) entered into a purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) and a
registration rights agreement (the “Registration Rights Agreement”), pursuant to which we have the right to sell to Lincoln Park shares of our common stock
having an aggregate value of up to $26 million, subject to certain limitations and conditions set forth in the Purchase Agreement (the “Offering”). As
consideration for entering into the Purchase Agreement, we issued to Lincoln Park an additional 181,510 shares of common stock as commitment shares.
Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, Lincoln Park purchased 250,000 shares of common stock, at a price of $4.00 per share, for a total gross purchase price
of $1.0 million (the “Initial Purchase”) upon commencement. Thereafter, as often as every business day from and after one business day following the date of
the Initial Purchase and over the 36-month term of the Purchase Agreement, we have the right, from time to time, at our sole discretion and subject to certain
conditions, to direct Lincoln Park to purchase up to 100,000 shares of common stock, with such amount increasing as the closing sale price of the common
stock increases; provided Lincoln Park’s obligation under any single such purchase will not exceed $2,500,000, unless we and Lincoln Park mutually agree to
increase the maximum amount of such single purchase (each, a “Regular Purchase”). If we direct Lincoln Park to purchase the maximum number of shares of
common stock we then may sell in a Regular Purchase, then in addition to such Regular Purchase, and subject to certain conditions and limitations in the
Purchase Agreement, we may direct Lincoln Park in an “accelerated purchase” to purchase an additional amount of common stock that may not exceed the
lesser of (i) 300% the number of shares purchased pursuant to the corresponding Regular Purchase or (ii) 30% of the total number of shares of our common
stock traded during a specified period on the applicable purchase date as set forth in the Purchase Agreement. Under certain circumstances and in accordance
with the Purchase Agreement, we may direct Lincoln Park to purchase shares in multiple accelerated purchases on the same trading day. As of December 31,
2021, the Company had not made any sales of common stock to Lincoln Park under the Purchase Agreement other than the Initial Purchase.
While we continue to seek capital through a number of means, there can be no assurance that additional financing will be available on acceptable terms,
if at all, and our negotiating position in capital generating efforts may worsen as existing resources are used. Additional equity financing may be dilutive to
our stockholders; debt financing, if available, may involve significant cash payment obligations and covenants that restrict our ability to operate as a business;
our stock price may not reach levels necessary to induce option or warrant exercises; and asset sales may not be possible on terms we consider acceptable. If
we are unable to access capital necessary to meet our long-term liquidity needs, we may have to delay the expansion of our business or raise funds on terms
that we currently consider unfavorable.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make
estimates and judgments that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. We base
our estimates on historical experience and other assumptions believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for
making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results could differ from these
estimates.
An accounting policy is considered to be critical if it is important to our financial condition and results of operations and if it requires management’s most
difficult, subjective and complex judgments in its application. For a summary of all of our significant accounting policies, see Note 2 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements.
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Share-Based Compensation
We expense all share-based payment awards to employees, directors, and consultants, including grants of stock options, warrants, and restricted stock,
over the requisite service period based on the grant date fair value of the awards. Consultant awards are remeasured each reporting period through vesting.
For awards with performance-based vesting criteria, we estimate the probability of achievement of the performance criteria and recognize compensation
expense related to those awards expected to vest. We determine the fair value of option awards using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model which uses both
historical and current market data to estimate fair value. This method incorporates various assumptions such as the risk-free interest rate, expected volatility,
expected dividend yield and expected life of the options or warrants. The fair value of our restricted stock and restricted stock units is based on the closing
market price of our common stock on the date of grant.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.
Not applicable.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.
The financial statements and notes thereto required to be filed under this Item are presented commencing on page 51 of this Annual Report on Form 10K.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Board of Directors and Stockholders of Caladrius Biosciences, Inc.
Opinion on the financial statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as
of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the
period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Basis for opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Critical audit matters
Critical audit matters are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to
the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging,
subjective, or complex judgments. We determined that there are no critical audit matters.
/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2011.
New York, New York
March 22, 2022
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CALADRIUS BIOSCIENCES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share data)
December 31,
2021
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Prepaid and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Other assets

$

$

Total assets
LIABILITIES, NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS AND EQUITY
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Total current liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and Contingencies
Stockholders' Equity
Preferred stock; authorized, 20,000,000 shares
Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock liquidation value, 0.001 share of common stock, $0.01 par value; 825,000
shares designated; issued and outstanding, 10,000 shares at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively
Common stock, $0.001 par value, authorized 500,000,000 shares; issued 59,800,792 and 19,389,413 shares, at December
31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively; and outstanding, 59,789,712 and 19,378,333 shares, at December 31, 2021
and December 31, 2020, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Treasury stock, at cost; 11,080 shares at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 respectively
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. stockholders' equity
Non-controlling interests
Total equity

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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24,647
70,323
1,212
96,182
62
764
97,008

$

1,934
2,589
4,523
485
5,008

$

$

—

$

Total liabilities, non-controlling interests and equity

December 31,
2020

60
545,988
(708)
(453,016)
(70)
92,254
(254)
92,000
97,008 $

16,512
18,061
758
35,331
57
614
36,002

1,020
2,486
3,506
254
3,760

—
19
458,748
(708)
(425,550)
(13)
32,496
(254)
32,242
36,002
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CALADRIUS BIOSCIENCES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)
Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020
Operating Expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Operating expenses

$

Operating loss
Other income (expense):
Investment income, net
Other expense, net
Total other income
Net loss before benefit from income taxes and noncontrolling interests
Benefit from income taxes
Net loss
Less - net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

17,680
11,370
29,050

$

(29,050)

(19,145)

151
(75)
76

132
—
132

Net loss attributable to Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. common shareholders

$

(28,974)
(1,508)
(27,466) $
—
(27,466) $

Basic and diluted loss per share:
Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. common shareholders

$

(0.50) $

$

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic and diluted shares

55,313

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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9,253
9,892
19,145

(19,013)
(10,872)
(8,141)
9
(8,150)

(0.53)

15,440
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CALADRIUS BIOSCIENCES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2021

Net loss

$

Other comprehensive loss:
Available for sale securities - net unrealized loss
Total other comprehensive loss
Comprehensive loss
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests
$

Comprehensive loss attributable to Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. common stockholders

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2020

(27,466)

$

(8,141)

(57)
(57)

(15)
(15)

(27,523)

(8,156)

—

9

(27,523)

$

(8,165)
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CALADRIUS BIOSCIENCES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
(In thousands)

Series B Convertible
Preferred Stock

Balance at December 31, 2019
Net loss
Unrealized loss on marketable securities
Share-based compensation
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock and
warrants

Shares
10
—
—
—

Amount
$
—
—
—
—

—

Balance at December 31, 2020
Net loss
Unrealized loss on marketable securities
Share-based compensation
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock and
warrants
Proceeds from option exercises

10
—
—
—

Balance at December 31, 2021

10

$

—
—
$

Common Stock
Shares
10,529
—
—
53

—

8,807

—
—
—
—

19,389
—
—
517

—
—

39,888
7

—

59,801

Amount
$
11
—
—
—

Additional
Paid-in
Capital
$
438,911
—
—
1,117

8
$

19
—
—
—

18,720
$

458,748
—
—
1,757

41
—
$

60

Total
Caladrius
Accumulated
Biosciences,
NonOther
Inc.
Controlling
Comprehensive Accumulated Treasury Stockholders'
Interest in
Total
Income (Loss)
Deficit
Stock
Equity
Subsidiary
Equity
$
2 $
(417,400) $
(708) $
20,816 $
(263) $
20,553
—
(8,150)
—
(8,150)
9
(8,141)
(15)
—
—
(15)
—
(15)
—
—
—
1,117
—
1,117
—
$

85,459
24
$

545,988

(13) $
—
(57)
—

—
(425,550) $
(27,466)
—
—

—
—
$

(70) $

—
—
(453,016) $

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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—
(708) $
—
—
—
—
—
(708) $

18,728

—

32,496 $
(27,466)
(57)
1,757
85,500
24
92,254

(254) $
—
—
—
—
—

$

(254) $

18,728
32,242
(27,466)
(57)
1,757
85,500
24
92,000
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CALADRIUS BIOSCIENCES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Equity-based compensation expense
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization/accretion on marketable securities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of marketable securities
Sales of marketable securities
Purchases of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of options
Tax withholding payments on net share settlement equity awards
Net proceeds from issuance of capital stock
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

$

$

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest
Taxes

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

54

(27,466) $

(8,141)

2,005
55
2,514

1,265
63
307

(453)
(150)
1,250
(22,245)

56
466
(2,839)
(8,823)

(179,775)
124,939
(60)
(54,896)

(34,799)
27,542
(20)
(7,277)

24
(248)
85,500
85,276
8,135
16,512
24,647 $

—
—

$

—
(148)
18,728
18,580
2,480
14,032
16,512

—
—
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CALADRIUS BIOSCIENCES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 – The Business
OVERVIEW
Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. (“we,” “us,” “our,” “Caladrius” or the “Company”) is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company dedicated to the
development of treatments and reversal of severe diseases. The Company is developing what are intended to be first-in-class therapeutics based on the
characteristics of naturally occurring CD34+ cells and their ability to stimulate the growth of new microvasculature. Its technology is intended to leverage
these cells to enable the body's natural repair mechanisms using formulations unique to each medical indication.
The Company's leadership team has decades of collective biopharmaceutical development experience. Its goal is to develop and commercialize products
that address important unmet medical needs based on a broad and versatile portfolio of candidates. The Company's current product candidates include:
• XOWNA® (CLBS16), the subject of both a completed positive Phase 2a study (ESCaPE-CMD) and an ongoing follow-on Phase 2b study
(FREEDOM Trial) in the United States for the treatment of coronary microvascular dysfunction (“CMD”);

•

HONEDRA® (CLBS12), recipient of SAKIGAKE designation pursuant to which early conditional approval in Japan for the treatment of critical limb
ischemia (“CLI”) and Buerger’s disease is being sought based on the current results of a clinical trial executed in Japan. HONEDRA® was the recipient of
orphan drug designation in March 2021 from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) for Buerger's disease; and
• CLBS201, designed to assess the safety and efficacy of CD34+ cell therapy as a treatment for patients with chronic kidney disease related to type 2
diabetes (diabetic kidney disease or “DKD”).
Ischemic Repair (CD34 Cell Technology)
The CD34+ cell was discovered as a result of the deliberate search for a cell capable of stimulating the development and/or repair of blood vessels. All
tissues in the body maintain their function by replacing cells over time. In addition to the maintenance function, the body must also be capable of building
new blood vessels after injury. A CD34+ cell is an endothelial progenitor cell that has the ability to stimulate new blood vessel formation at the level of the
microvasculature. No other native cell discovered to date has demonstrated this same capability.
The Company's proprietary cell technology using autologous (a patient’s own naturally occurring) CD34+ cells has led to the development of therapeutic
product candidates designed to address diseases and conditions caused by ischemia. Ischemia occurs when the supply of oxygenated blood to healthy tissue is
restricted or reduced. Through the administration of CD34+ cells, Caladrius seeks to promote the development and formation of new microvasculature and
thereby increase blood flow to the impacted area. The Company believes that a number of conditions caused by underlying ischemic injury can be improved
through its CD34+ cell technology including, but not limited to, Buerger's disease, CLI, CMD, and DKD.
XOWNA® for Treatment of Coronary Microvascular Dysfunction
In 2017, with the assistance of a $1.9 million grant from the National Institutes of Health (Award Number R44HL135889), the Company initiated its
program for XOWNA® for the treatment of CMD, a disease that afflicts as many as 1.6 million patients in the United States alone, with no current targeted
treatment options. That study, the ESCaPE-CMD Trial, was a Phase 2a proof-of-concept open label study that enrolled patients at the Mayo Clinic in
Rochester, MN and Cedars-Sinai Medical Center in Los Angeles, CA. Those data showed a positive therapeutic effect with a statistically significant
improvement in angina frequency, coronary flow reserve, Canadian Cardiovascular Society Angina Class and Seattle Angina Questionnaire scores, as well as
an acceptable safety profile. The full data set from that study was presented at the SCAI 2020 Scientific Sessions Virtual Conference on May 14, 2020 by Dr.
Timothy Henry, FACC, of the Christ Hospital in Cincinnati, Ohio. In December 2020, the Company commenced enrollment in its Phase 2b FREEDOM Trial
of XOWNA®, a double-blind, randomized and placebo-controlled clinical trial designed to further evaluate the efficacy and safety of intracoronary artery
delivery of autologous CD34+ cells in subjects with CMD and without obstructive coronary artery disease. While early enrollment proceeded to plan with the
first patient treated in January 2021, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic contributed to a general slowing of enrollment. Protocol amendments to the initial
FREEDOM Trial protocol, as agreed to by the FDA, were implemented with the goal of enhancing breadth and speed of subject enrollment.
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HONEDRA® for Treatment of Critical Limb Ischemia
The Company's randomized, open-label, registration-eligible study of HONEDRA® in Japan for the treatment of CLI and Buerger's disease has, to date,
demonstrated positive trends in both safety and efficacy. The HONEDRA® study's enrollment, however, has been significantly curtailed by the COVID-19
pandemic's impact in Japan, including the States of Emergency in Japan that have persisted for much of the past 18 months. Due to the significant and
continued operational and financial burden incurred as a result of these COVID-19 delays, coupled with the unpredictability of the timing of site enrollment
re-initiation, Caladrius suspended further enrollment and is focusing its efforts on consummating a partnership for the product in Japan. Such a partnership
may become the basis for the completion of development and registration of HONEDRA® in Japan and may include the completion of enrollment of the four
remaining no-option CLI subjects stipulated in the original protocol, if necessary, and/or exploration of the possibility of submitting the existing data to
Japan's Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency (“PMDA”) under Japan's regenerative medicine regulations, which allow for conditional approval of
innovative regenerative medicine products. Despite receipt from FDA in March 2021 of orphan designation in the U.S. for CLBS12 as a potential treatment
for Buerger's disease, based on a response from the FDA in October 2021 regarding a development plan for U.S. registration the Company decided not to
pursue United States development in Buerger's disease at this time.
CLBS201 for Treatment of Diabetic Kidney Disease
Progressive kidney failure is associated with attrition of the microcirculation of the kidney. Pre-clinical studies in kidney disease and injury models have
demonstrated that protection or replenishment of the microcirculation results in improved kidney function. Based on these observations, the Company has
elected to move forward with a Phase 1, open-label, proof-of-concept trial evaluating CLBS201 dosed via intra-renal artery injections in subjects with DKD.
This protocol, as approved by an Institutional Review Board (the “IRB”), is expected to include six subjects in total with the first two subjects sequentially
dosed and followed for a two-week safety observation period. Clearance by the independent Data Safety Monitoring Board (“DSMB”) overseeing the study
will then permit the treatment of the next four patients, with all patients being followed for safety and therapeutic effect. A read-out of data will occur after at
the six-month follow-up visit for all patients. A key criterion for continued development of CLBS201 will be its ability to demonstrate a therapeutic effect
that will make it competitive in the field of DKD treatment, i.e., kidney function regeneration, as indicated by increased glomerular filtration rate.
Additional Out-licensing Opportunities and Pipeline Diversification
The Company's broad intellectual property portfolio of cell therapy assets includes notable programs available for out-licensing in order to continue their
clinical development. The Company's current long-term strategy focuses on advancing its therapies through development with the ultimate objective of
obtaining market authorizations and entering commercialization, either alone or with partners, to provide treatment options to patients suffering from lifethreatening medical conditions. The Company believes that it is well-positioned to realize potentially meaningful value increases within its own proprietary
pipeline if it is successful in advancing its product candidates to their next significant development milestones.
In addition, the Company further desires to diversify its pipeline of development products candidates and is exploring a range of strategic transactions in
furtherance of that goal. The Company has taken, and intends to continue to take, active steps to identify assets and/or companies for acquisition and/or
partnership that would complement its current development programs and de-risk its overall development portfolio. Such assets potentially could target
indications beyond cardiovascular disease as well as product categories outside of cell therapy. The range of possible transactions includes an acquisition,
merger, business combination, in-license or other strategic transaction, any of which could result in the issuance of securities that could significantly dilute the
shares of its existing stockholders. There can be no assurance that this exploration of strategic alternatives will result in Caladrius entering into or completing
any transaction or that such transaction, if completed, will add to shareholder value.
Coronavirus Considerations
In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2), which causes COVID-19, was reported to have surfaced in China. In March 2020, the
World Health Organization declared the outbreak of COVID-19 to be a pandemic, and the world's economies began to experience pronounced effects. Despite
the FDA approval of multiple COVID-19 vaccines in late 2020, there remains uncertainty around the extent and duration of disruption and any future related
financial impact cannot reasonably be estimated at this time. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company implemented a universal work from home
policy as well as stringent social distancing and other hygiene policies for employees when they must be in the office. The Company's clinical study of
HONEDRA® in Japan has experienced significant delays in enrollment due to the States of Emergency in effect in Japan for most of 2020 and reimplemented from January 7, 2021 through March 21, 2021 covering Tokyo and other regions in response to an increased number of COVID-19 infections.
Due to reported increases in COVID-19 cases and a low rate of vaccination in Japan, States of Emergency were renewed on April 25, 2021 through May 11,
2021 and then re-implemented in Tokyo from July 12, 2021 through September 30, 2021. With the Company's expectation that
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COVID-19 in Japan would continue to impact negatively enrollment of patients in the HONEDRA® clinical trial, it elected to suspend trial enrollment, seek a
development partner and consult with the Japanese regulatory authorities regarding the submission of patient data already accrued. Caladrius' phase 2b trial of
XOWNA® in the U.S. has also experienced delays in enrolling patients as a result of COVID-19.
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“GAAP”).
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Estimates also affect the
reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and other assumptions believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The Company makes critical estimate and assumptions in determining stock-based awards values. Accordingly, actual
results could differ from those estimates and assumptions.
Principles of Consolidation
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. and its wholly owned and majority owned subsidiaries and
affiliates. All intercompany activities have been eliminated in consolidation.

Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include short-term, highly liquid, investments with maturities of ninety days or less when purchased.
Concentration of Risks
The Company is subject to credit risk from its portfolio of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. Under its investment policy, the Company
limits amounts invested in such securities by credit rating, maturity, industry group, investment type and issuer, except for securities issued by the U.S.
government. Cash is held at major banks in the United States. Therefore, the Company is not exposed to any significant concentrations of credit risk from
these financial instruments. The goals of the Company's investment policy, in order of priority, are as follows: safety and preservation of principal and
diversification of risk, liquidity of investments sufficient to meet cash flow requirements, and a competitive after-tax rate of return.
Marketable Securities
The Company determines the appropriate classification of its marketable securities at the time of purchase and reevaluates such designation at each
balance sheet date. All of the Company's marketable securities are considered as available-for-sale and carried at estimated fair values and reported in cash
equivalents and marketable securities. Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are excluded from net income and reported in accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) as a separate component of stockholders' equity. Other income (expense), net, includes interest, dividends, amortization of
purchase premiums and discounts, realized gains and losses on sales of securities and other-than-temporary declines in the fair value of securities, if any. The
cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method. The Company regularly reviews all of its investments for other-than-temporary declines
in fair value. The Company's review includes the consideration of the cause of the impairment, including the creditworthiness of the security issuers, the
number of securities in an unrealized loss position, the severity and duration of the unrealized losses, whether the Company has the intent to sell the securities
and whether it is more likely than not that it will be required to sell the securities before the recovery of their amortized cost basis. When the Company
determines that the decline in fair value of an investment is below its accounting basis and this decline is other-than-temporary, it reduces the carrying value
of the security it holds and records a loss for the amount of such decline.
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Property and Equipment
The cost of property and equipment is depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line
method. Repairs and maintenance expenditures that do not extend original asset lives are charged to expense as incurred. The estimated useful lives of
property and equipment are as follows:
Furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment
Software
Leasehold improvements

10 years
3 years
3 years
Life of lease

Long-lived Assets
Long-lived assets consist of property and equipment. The assets are amortized on a straight line basis over their respective useful lives. The Company
reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset exceeds the fair value of
the asset. If other events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset that the Company expects to hold and use may not be
recoverable, the Company will estimate the undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and/or its eventual disposition, and
recognize an impairment loss, if any. The impairment loss, if determined to be necessary, would be measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of
the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets.
Share-Based Compensation
The Company expenses all share-based payment awards to employees, directors, and consultants, including grants of stock options, warrants, and
restricted stock, over the requisite service period based on the grant date fair value of the awards. Consultant awards are remeasured each reporting period
through vesting. For awards with performance-based vesting criteria, the Company estimates the probability of achievement of the performance criteria and
recognizes compensation expense related to those awards expected to vest. The Company determines the fair value of option awards using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model which uses both historical and current market data to estimate the fair value. This method incorporates various assumptions such as the
risk-free interest rate, expected volatility, expected dividend yield and expected life of the options or warrants. Stock based compensation expense also
includes an estimate, which is made at the time of the grant, of the number of awards that are expected to be forfeited. The fair value of the Company’s
restricted stock and restricted stock units is based on the closing market price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant.
Loss Per Share
Basic loss per share is based on the weighted effect of all common shares issued and outstanding and is calculated by dividing net loss attributable to
common stockholders by the weighted average shares outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss attributable to
common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares used in the basic loss per share calculation plus the number of common shares that
would be issued assuming conversion of all potentially dilutive securities outstanding. Diluted loss per share is not presented as such potentially dilutive
securities are anti-dilutive to losses incurred in all periods presented.
Treasury Stock
Treasury stock purchases are accounted for under the cost method whereby the entire cost of the acquired stock is recorded as treasury stock. Gains or
losses on the subsequent reissuance of shares are credited or charged to additional paid in capital.
Research and Development Costs
Research and development (“R&D”) expenses include salaries, benefits, and other headcount related costs, clinical trial and related clinical
manufacturing costs, contract and other outside service fees including sponsored research agreements, and facilities and overhead costs. The Company
expenses the costs associated with research and development activities when incurred.
To further drive the Company’s cell therapy initiatives, the Company will continue targeting key governmental agencies, congressional committees and
not-for-profit organizations to contribute funds for the Company’s research and development programs. The Company accounts for such grants as a deduction
to the related expense in research and development operating expenses when earned.
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New Accounting Pronouncements
In October 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, which affects general principles within Topic 740, Income Taxes. The amendments of ASU 2019-12 are
meant to simplify and reduce the cost of accounting for income taxes. For public business entities, the amendments in this Update are effective for fiscal
years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2020. The Company believes that the adoption of this new accounting
guidance has not had a material impact on its financial statements and footnote disclosures.

Note 3 – Available-for-Sale-Securities
The following table is a summary of available-for-sale securities recorded in cash and cash equivalents or debt marketable securities in the Company's
Consolidated Balance Sheets (in thousands):
December 31, 2021
Gross
Gross
Unrealized
Unrealized
Gains
Losses

Cost

Corporate debt securities
Money market funds
Municipal debt securities
Total

$

$

53,135
18,124
20,263
91,522

$

—
—
—
—

$

$

Estimated Fair
Value

(65) $
—
(5)
(70) $

$

53,070
18,124
20,258
91,452

December 31, 2020
Gross
Gross
Unrealized
Unrealized
Gains
Losses

Cost

$

$

8,406
7,591
14,753
30,750

$

—
—
—
—

$

$

Estimated Fair
Value

(7) $
—
(6)
(13) $

$

8,399
7,591
14,747
30,737

Estimated fair values of available-for-sale securities are generally based on prices obtained from commercial pricing services. The following table
summarizes the classification of the available-for-sale debt securities on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets (in thousands):
December 31, 2021

Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities

$
$

Total

December 31, 2020

21,129
70,323
91,452

$
$

12,676
18,061
30,737

The following table summarizes the Company's portfolio of available-for-sale securities by contractual maturity (in thousands):
December 31, 2021
Amortized Cost
Estimated Fair Value

Less than one year
Greater than one year

$

Total

$

91,522
—
91,522

$
$

91,452
—
91,452

December 31, 2020
Amortized Cost
Estimated Fair Value

$

30,750
—
30,750

$

$
$

30,737
—
30,737

Note 4 – Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2021

Furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment
Leasehold improvements
Property and equipment, gross
Accumulated depreciation

$

Property and equipment, net

$

59

2020

26 $
314
90
430
(368)
62 $

26
254
90
370
(313)
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The Company’s results included depreciation expense of approximately $0.1 million and $0.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.

Note 5 – Loss Per Share
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company incurred net losses and therefore no common stock equivalents were utilized in the
calculation of loss per share as they are anti-dilutive in the periods presented. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company excluded the following
potentially dilutive securities (in thousands):
December 31,
2021

Stock Options
Warrants
Restricted Stock Units

2020

2,132
21,357
604

964
2,638
340

Note 6 – Fair Value Measurements
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are being measured and reported are defined as the exchange price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants in the principal market at the measurement date (exit price). The Company
is required to classify fair value measurements in one of the following categories:
Level 1 inputs are defined as quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to access
at the measurement date.
Level 2 inputs are defined as inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liabilities, either directly or
indirectly.
Level 3 inputs are defined as unobservable inputs for the assets or liabilities. Financial assets and liabilities are classified based on the lowest level of
input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement
requires judgment and may affect the valuation of the fair value of assets and liabilities and their placement within the fair value hierarchy levels.
The Company's financial assets and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020
were as follows (in thousands):
December 31, 2021
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1

Assets:
Marketable securities - available for
sale

$
$

—
—

$
$

70,323
70,323

$
$

Total

—
—

$
$

70,323
70,323

December 31, 2020
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1

$
$

—
—

$
$

18,061
18,061

$
$

Total

—
—

$
$

18,061
18,061

The carrying values of cash, cash equivalents, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value at December 31, 2021 and December 31,
2020, due to the short maturity nature of these items.
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Note 7 – Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities were as follow (in thousands):
December 31,
2021

Salaries, employee benefits and related taxes
Operating lease liabilities - current
Other

$

$

2020

2,034
229
326
2,589

$

1,716
370
400
2,486

$

Note 8 – Operating Leases
The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) on January 1, 2019 and recognized leases with duration greater than 12 months on the
balance sheet using the modified retrospective approach. The Company has operating leases for two offices with terms that expire in 2023 and 2025,
respectively. The Company estimates its incremental borrowing rate at lease commencement to determine the present value of lease payments as most of the
Company's leases do not provide an implicit rate of return. The Company recognizes lease expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. For lease
agreements entered into or reassessed after the adoption of Topic 842, the Company elected to account for non-lease components associated with its leases
and lease components as a single lease component. Each of the Company's leases includes options for the Company to extend the lease term and/or sub-lease
space in whole or in part.
Operating lease liabilities and right-of-use assets were recorded in the following captions of our balance sheet as follows (in thousands):
December 31, 2021

Right-of Use Assets:
Other assets

December 31, 2020

$
$

724 $
724 $

574
574

Operating Lease Liabilities:
Accrued liabilities
Other long-term liabilities

$

Total Operating Lease Liabilities

$

229 $
485
714 $

370
254
624

Total Right-of-Use Asset

As of December 31, 2021, the weighted average remaining lease term for our operating leases was 2.50 years, and the weighted average discount rate for
our operating leases was 9.625%. Future minimum lease payments under the lease agreements as of December 31, 2021 were as follows (in thousands):
Years ended

Operating Leases

2022
2023
2024
2025
Total lease payments
Less: Amounts representing interest

$

Present value of lease liabilities

$

286
217
190
143
836
(122)
714

Note 9 – Stockholders' Equity
Equity Plans
The Company has used long-term incentive plans for the purpose of granting equity awards to employees of the Company, including officers, and
nonemployees, including consultants and nonemployee members of the Company's board of directors
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(collectively, the “Participants”). The Participants may receive awards as determined by a committee of independent members of the Company's board of
directors or, to the extent authorized by such committee with respect to certain Participants, a duly authorized employee (collectively, the “Committee”). The
incentive plan currently used by the Company is the 2018 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan (the “2018 Plan”), as adopted by the stockholders of the
Company in June 2018, and subsequently increased by the stockholders of the Company in June 2021 with 6,000,000 shares authorized for issuance
thereunder and in June of 2020 with 2,500,000 shares authorized for issuance thereunder, plus any shares awarded under the 2015 Equity Compensation Plan
(the “2015 Plan”) or the Amended and Restated 2009 Equity Compensation Plan (the “2009 Plan”) that are not issued due to their subsequent forfeiture,
cancellation, or other settlement thereof. Concurrent with the adoption of the 2018 Plan, no future awards will occur under the 2015 Plan or the 2009 Plan.
The awards that may be made under the 2018 Plan include: (a) incentive stock options and nonqualified stock options, (b) shares of restricted stock, (c)
restricted stock units, and (d) other kinds of equity-based compensation awards. All stock options under the 2015 Plan and 2009 Plan were granted and the
2018 Plan are granted at the fair market value of the common stock at the grant date. Stock options vest either on the date of grant, ratably over a period
determined at time of grant, or upon the accomplishment of specified business milestones, and generally expire 2, 3, or 10 years from the grant date
depending on the status of the recipient as a nonemployee, employee or director of the Company. As of December 31, 2021, there were 5,585,661 shares
available for future grants under the 2018 Plan. No additional awards may be made under the 2015 Plan or the 2009 Plan.
The Company adopted an employee stock purchase plan effective January 1, 2013 and authorized 50,000 shares under the plan (the “2012 ESPP”). The
plan has two six-month offering periods per year under which eligible employees may contribute up to 15% of their compensation toward the purchase of the
Company's common stock per offering period (with a $25,000 cap per calendar year). The employee's purchase price is equal to (i) 85% of the closing price
of a share of the Company's common stock on the enrollment date of such offering period or (ii) 85% of the closing price of a share of the Company's
common stock on the Exercise Date of such Offering Period, whichever is lower. In May 2017, the Company's stockholders approved an amendment and
restatement to the 2012 ESPP (the “2017 ESPP”) in order to effect an increase of authorized shares from 50,000 to 100,000. In June 2018, the Company's
stockholders approved an amendment to the 2017 ESPP (the “Amended 2017 ESPP”) in order to effect an increase of authorized shares from 100,000 to
500,000. During the year ended December 31, 2021, 47,132 shares were issued under the Amended 2017 ESPP. At December 31, 2021, the Company had
300,577 shares of the Company's common stock available for future grant in connection with this plan.
Equity Issuances
Purchase Agreement
In March 2019, the Company and Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC (“Lincoln Park”) entered into a purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) and
a registration rights agreement (the “Registration Rights Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company has the right to sell to Lincoln Park shares of the
Company’s common stock having an aggregate value of up to $26.0 million, subject to certain limitations and conditions set forth in the Purchase Agreement
(the “Offering”). As consideration for entering into the Purchase Agreement, the Company issued to Lincoln Park an additional 181,510 shares of common
stock as commitment shares.
Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, upon commencement Lincoln Park purchased 250,000 shares of common stock, at a price of $4.00 per share for a
total gross purchase price of $1,000,000 (the “Initial Purchase”) upon commencement. Thereafter, as often as every business day from and after one business
day following the date of the Initial Purchase and over the 36-month term of the Purchase Agreement, the Company has the right, from time to time, at its sole
discretion and subject to certain conditions, to direct Lincoln Park to purchase up to 100,000 shares of common stock, with such amount increasing as the
closing sale price of the common stock increases; provided Lincoln Park’s obligation under any single such purchase will not exceed $2,500,000, unless the
Company and Lincoln Park mutually agree to increase the maximum amount of such single purchase (each, a “Regular Purchase”). If the Company directs
Lincoln Park to purchase the maximum number of shares of common stock it then may sell in a Regular Purchase, then in addition to such Regular Purchase,
and subject to certain conditions and limitations in the Purchase Agreement, the Company may direct Lincoln Park in an “accelerated purchase” to purchase
an additional amount of common stock that may not exceed the lesser of (i) 300% the number of shares purchased pursuant to the corresponding Regular
Purchase or (ii) 30% of the total number of shares of the Company’s common stock traded during a specified period on the applicable purchase date as set
forth in the Purchase Agreement (each, an "Accelerated Purchase"). Under certain circumstances and in accordance with the Purchase Agreement, the
Company may direct Lincoln Park to purchase shares in multiple accelerated purchases on the same trading day.
The Company controls the timing and amount of any sales of its common stock to Lincoln Park. There is no upper limit on the price per share that
Lincoln Park must pay for its common stock under the Purchase Agreement, but in no event will shares be sold to Lincoln Park on a day the closing price is
less than the floor price specified in the Purchase Agreement. In all instances, the Company may not sell shares of its common stock to Lincoln Park under the
purchase agreement if it would result in Lincoln Park beneficially owning more than 9.99% of its common stock.
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The Purchase Agreement does not limit the Company’s ability to raise capital from other sources at the Company’s sole discretion, except that (subject to
certain exceptions) the Company may not enter into any Variable Rate Transaction (as defined in the Purchase Agreement, including the issuance of any
floating conversion rate or variable priced equity-like securities) during the 36 months after the date of the Purchase Agreement. The Company has the right
to terminate the Purchase Agreement at any time, at no cost to the Company.
As of December 31, 2021, the Company had not made any sales of common stock to Lincoln Park under the Purchase Agreement other than the Initial
Purchase. In addition, the Company may not direct Lincoln Park to make Accelerated Purchases under the Purchase Agreement if the stock is below the
specified floor price of $1.00.
Common Stock Sales Agreement
In February 2018, the Company entered into a common stock sales agreement with H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC (“HCW”) as sales agent, which was
subsequently amended in August 2018 (the “Sales Agreement”), in connection with an “at the market offering” under which the Company from time to time
may offer and sell shares of its common stock, having an aggregate offering price of not more than $25.0 million.
The Company provided HCW with customary indemnification rights, and HCW was entitled to a commission at a fixed commission rate equal to 3.0%
of the gross proceeds per share sold.
On February 12, 2021, the Company suspended the use of the at-the-market transactions facility and terminated the continuous offering pursuant to the
Sales Agreement.
As of the termination of the Sales Agreement on February 12, 2021, the Company had sold an aggregate 3,784,912 shares of its common stock pursuant
to the Sales Agreement for net proceeds of $9.5 million since inception. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company had not issued any shares under
the Sales Agreement.
At The Market Offering Agreement
On June 4, 2021, the Company entered into an At The Market Offering Agreement (the “ATM Agreement”) with HCW, as sales agent, in connection
with an “at the market offering” under which the Company from time to time may offer and sell shares of its common stock, having an aggregate offering
price of up to $50.0 million. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, the Company had not issued any shares under the ATM Agreement.
Having received a listing deficiency notice from Nasdaq on February 18, 2022 after the Company’s shares traded below $1.00 for 30 consecutive trading
days, the Company will not be permitted to sell additional shares under the ATM Agreement until it re-establishes timely compliance. Compliance may be
reestablished by various mechanisms, including stock price appreciation at or above $1.00 for a requisite period of time and reverse stock split.
Registered Direct Offerings
In February 2021, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “Institutional Purchase Agreement”) with certain institutional
investors (the “Institutional Purchasers”). Pursuant to the terms of the Institutional Purchase Agreement, the Company sold to the Institutional Purchasers in a
registered direct offering an aggregate of 24,906,134 shares of its common stock and warrants to purchase an aggregate of 12,453,067 shares of its common
stock at a combined purchase price equal to $2.45 per share and associated warrant. Each warrant features an exercise price equal to $2.90 per share, is
exercisable immediately upon issuance and will expire five years from the issuance date. Additionally, in a concurrent non-brokered registered direct offering,
the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “Additional Purchase Agreement”) with certain accredited investors (the “Additional
Purchasers”). Pursuant to the terms of the Additional Purchase Agreement, the Company sold to the Additional Purchasers an aggregate of 1,632,652 shares
of its common stock and warrants to purchase an aggregate of 816,326 shares of its common stock at a combined purchase price equal to $2.45 per share and
associated warrant. Each warrant features an exercise price equal to $2.90 per share, is exercisable immediately upon issuance and will expire five years from
the issuance date. In connection with the registered direct offerings, the Company received gross proceeds of approximately $65.0 million.
Private Placement
In January 2021, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement (the “January Private Placement”) with certain investors (the “January
Purchasers”). Pursuant to the terms of the January Private Placement, the Company agreed to sell to the January Purchasers an aggregate of 12,500,000 shares
of its common stock at a purchase price equal to $2.00 per share, along with warrants to purchase an aggregate of 6,250,000 shares of its common stock. In
connection with the January Private Placement, the Company received gross proceeds of $25.0 million. Each warrant is exercisable for one share of common
stock
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and features an exercise price equal to $2.90 per share. The warrants are exercisable immediately upon issuance and will expire five and one-half years from
the issuance date.
Warrant Exercises
In January 2021, the Company issued 801,148 shares of common stock for net proceeds of $1.8 million in connection with warrant exercises associated
with the April 23, 2020 securities purchase agreement and the May 25, 2020 securities purchase agreement.
Stock Options and Warrants
The following table summarizes the activity for stock options and warrants for the year ended December 31, 2021:
Shares

Outstanding at December 31, 2020

963,700

Stock Options
Weighted
Weighted
Aggregate
Average
Average
Intrinsic Value
Exercise Price
Remaining
(In Thousands)
Contractual
Term (Years)
$
14.64
5.86 $
—

Changes during the Year:
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Expired
Outstanding at December 31, 2021
Vested at December 31, 2021 or expected
to vest in the future

1,314,790
(7,250)
(29,842)
(109,549)
2,131,849

$
$
$
$
$

1.32
3.28
2.18
34.12
5.64

7.97 $

2,120,643

$

5.66

7.96 $

Exercisable at December 31, 2021

1,122,783

$

9.26

6.70 $

Shares

2,638,355

Warrants
Weighted
Weighted
Aggregate
Average
Average
Intrinsic Value
Exercise Price
Remaining
(In Thousands)
Contractual
Term (Years)
$
2.18
4.98 $
—

—

19,519,393
(801,148)
—
—
21,356,600

$
$
$
$
$

2.90
2.19
—
—
2.84

4.37 $

—

—

21,356,600

$

2.84

4.37 $

—

—

21,356,600

$

2.84

4.37 $

—

(3)

Restricted Stock
During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company issued restricted stock for services as follows ($ in thousands, except share data):
2021
612,950

Number of Restricted Stock Issued
$

Value of Restricted Stock Issued

877.7

2020
156,184
$

512.3

The weighted average estimated fair value of restricted stock issued for services in the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $1.43 and $3.28 per
share, respectively. The fair value of the restricted stock was determined using the Company’s closing stock price on the date of issuance. The vesting terms
of restricted stock issuances are generally between one to four years.
Restricted Stock Units
During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company issued restricted stock units for services as follows ($ in thousands, except share
data):
2021
458,245

Number of Restricted Stock Units Issued
$

Value of Restricted Stock Units Issued

728.6

2020
325,853
$

863.0

The weighted average estimated fair value of restricted stock units issued for services in the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $1.59 and
$2.65 per share, respectively. The fair value of the restricted stock units was determined using the
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Company’s closing stock price on the date of issuance. The vesting terms of restricted stock unit issuances are generally one year, or upon the achievement of
performance-based milestones.

Note 10 – Share-Based Compensation
Share-based Compensation
The Company utilizes share-based compensation in the form of stock options, restricted stock, and restricted stock units. The following table summarizes
the components of share-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 ($ in thousands):

Research and development
General and administrative

$

Total share-based compensation expense

$

Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020
760 $
179
1,245
1,086
2,005 $
1,265

Total compensation cost related to unvested awards not yet recognized and the weighted-average periods over which the awards are expected to be
recognized at December 31, 2021 were as follows ($ in thousands):

Unrecognized compensation cost
Expected weighted-average period in years of compensation cost to be recognized

Restricted Stock
Stock Options
Units
Restricted Stock
$
757 $
149 $
546
1.64
1.57
1.70

Total fair value of shares vested and the weighted average estimated fair values of shares granted for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were
as follows ($ in thousands):

Total fair value of shares vested
Weighted average estimated fair value of shares granted

$

Stock Options
Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020
757 $
536
0.91
2.11

Valuation Assumptions
The fair value of stock options at the date of grant was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The expected volatility is based upon
historical volatility of the Company’s stock. The expected term for the options is based upon observation of actual time elapsed between date of grant and
exercise of options for all employees.
The range of assumptions made in calculating the fair values of stock options was as follow:
Stock Options
Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020
6
6
6
6
79%
75%
84%
79%
81%
75%
—
—
0.63%
0.40%
1.16%
1.71%

Expected term - minimum (in years)
Expected term - maximum (in years)
Expected volatility - minimum
Expected volatility - maximum
Weighted Average volatility
Expected dividend yield
Risk-free interest rate - minimum
Risk-free interest rate - maximum
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Note 11 – Research Funding
California Institute of Regenerative Medicine Grant Award
In February 2017, the California Institute for Regenerative Medicine (“CIRM”) awarded the Company funds of up to $12.2 million to support The
Sanford Project: T-Rex Study, a prospective, randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind Phase 2 clinical trial to evaluate the safety and efficacy of
CLBS03 as a treatment for recent-onset type 1 diabetes. The funding is based upon the achievement of certain milestones related to the proportion of subjects
enrolled in California, as well as manufacturing and development costs incurred in California. Based on the actual number of subjects enrolled in California,
the total amount of funding was revised to $8.6 million, of which $8.2 million has been received through the grant project period completion.
The Company received $5.7 million in initial funding in May 2017, a $1.9 million milestone payment in December 2017, a $0.3 million progress
payment in March 2018, and a $0.2 million progress payment in May 2019, of which the total was amortized over the estimated award period through July
2020 as a reduction to the related research and development expenses, with the final true up payment of $46 thousand received in September 2020 and
recorded as a reduction to the related research and development expenses. During the year ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 the Company
amortized and recognized $0.0 million and $1.6 million in credits, respectively, to research and development related to CIRM funds received.

Note 12 – Income Taxes
The provision (benefit) for income taxes is based on loss from operations before provision for income taxes and noncontrolling interests as follows ($ in
thousands):
Years Ended December 31,

Pre-tax book income
United States

2021

$
$

2020

(28,974) $
(28,974) $

(19,013)
(19,013)

The provision (benefit) from income taxes was as follows ($ in thousands):
Years Ended December 31,
2021
2020

Current
U.S. Federal
State and local

$
$

Deferred
U.S. Federal
State and local

$
$

Total
U.S. Federal
State and local

$
$
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—
—
—

$
$

—
—
—

— $
(1,508)
(1,508) $

—
(10,872)
(10,872)

— $
(1,508)
(1,508) $

—
(10,872)
(10,872)
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The provision (benefit) for income taxes is determined by applying the U.S. Federal statutory rate of 21% to income before income taxes, and the
components are set forth below ($ in thousands):
Years Ended December 31,
2021
2020

U.S. Federal benefit at statutory rate
Permanent non deductible expenses for U.S. taxes
Change in state deferred
Return to actual
Other true ups
Section 382 NOL Limitation
Sale of New Jersey State NOLs
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets

$

Tax provision (benefit)

$

(6,085) $
320
622
2,277
1,407
35,438
(1,508)
(33,979)
(1,508) $

(3,993)
5
5,122
—
387
—
(10,872)
(1,521)
(10,872)

Deferred income taxes at December 31, 2021 and 2020 consist of the following ($ in thousands):
December 31,
2021

Deferred Tax Assets:
Accumulated net operating losses (tax effected)
Right of use liability
Share-based compensation
Intangibles
Accumulated depreciation
Accrued payroll
Other
Deferred tax assets

$

Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Right of use asset
Deferred tax liabilities

$

Valuation allowance
$

Net deferred tax asset

36,281
201
3,086
97
26
176
526
40,393

2020

$

68,286
176
5,025
131
19
167
526
74,330

(204) $
(204)
40,189
(40,189)
— $

(161)
(161)
74,169
(74,169)
—

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, including the net operating loss carryforwards (NOLs), the Company assesses the available positive
and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable income will be generated to utilize its existing deferred tax assets. Based on its assessment, the
Company has provided a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets as their future utilization remains uncertain at this time.
As of December 31, 2021, and 2020, the Company had approximately $281 million and $264 million, respectively, of Federal NOLs available to offset
future taxable income expiring from 2030 through 2036. The Company performed an analysis and determined that they had an ownership change of greater
than 50% over a 3-year testing period on January 25, 2021. As a result, $169 million of the $281 million of Federal NOLs will expire unutilized. The
Company wrote off that portion of the deferred tax asset and reduced the corresponding valuation allowance resulting in $112 million of remaining Federal
NOL. The write off of the deferred tax asset and the corresponding reduction in valuation allowance has no impact to the balance sheet or income statement.
Losses incurred before the ownership change on January 25, 2021 will be subject to an annual limitation of $173k under Internal Revenue Code Section 382,
while losses incurred after January 25, 2021 will not be subject to limitations. The Company may be able to utilize additional NOLs of approximately
$1.1 million per year for the first five years after this ownership change as a result of the application of the Net Unrealized Built-in Gain rules.
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As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had State NOLs available in New Jersey of $97 million and $99 million, respectively, California of
$70 million and $70 million, respectively, and New York City of $13 million and $13 million, respectively, to offset future taxable income expiring from 2031
through 2041. In accordance with Section 382 of the Internal Revenue code, the usage of the Company’s state NOLs would be limited given the change in
ownership. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the period when those temporary
differences become deductible.
The Company applies the FASB’s provisions for uncertain tax positions. The Company utilizes the two-step process to determine the amount of
recognized tax benefit. For tax positions meeting the more-likely-than-not threshold, the amount recognized in the consolidated financial statements is the
largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant taxing authority. The Company recognizes
interest and penalties associated with certain tax positions as a component of income tax expense.
As of December 31, 2021, management does not believe the Company has any material uncertain tax positions that would require it to measure and
reflect the potential lack of sustainability of a position on audit in its financial statements. The Company will continue to evaluate its uncertain tax positions in
future periods to determine if measurement and recognition in its financial statements is necessary. The Company does not believe there will be any material
changes in its unrecognized tax positions over the next year.
For years prior to 2018 the federal statute of limitations is closed for assessing tax. The Company’s state tax returns remain open to examination for a
period of three to four years from date of filing.
In February 2021, the Company received preliminary approval from the New Jersey Economic Development Authority (“NJEDA”) to participate in the
Technology Business Tax Certificate Transfer Program (the “Program”). The Program permits qualified companies to sell a percentage of their New Jersey
net operating losses (“NJ NOLs”) to unrelated profitable corporations. On April 12, 2021, the Company received final approval from NJEDA to sell a portion
of our NJ NOLs, which were subsequently sold to a qualifying and approved buyer pursuant to the Program for net proceeds of $1.4 million. The $1.5 million
of our NJ NOL related tax benefits (“NJ NOL Tax Benefits”) have been recorded as a benefit from income taxes and the loss on sale of $0.1 million recorded
in other income (expense) in the consolidated financial statements.

Note 13 – Contingencies
From time to time, the Company is subject to legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or unasserted, that arise in the ordinary course of business.
While the outcome of pending claims cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company does not believe that the outcome of any pending claims will have a
material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition or operating results.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.
Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedures are the Company’s controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed
in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934), as amended (the “Exchange Act”) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and
Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief
Executive Officer/Principal Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the
disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. Due to the inherent limitations of control systems, not all misstatements may be detected.
These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or
mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override
of the control. Controls and procedures can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the above objectives have been met.
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On March 7, 2022, the Company evaluated, with the participation of its management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Legal Officer, the
effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer/Principal Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were
effective, at the reasonable assurance level, in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under
the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and is accumulated and
communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Legal Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
The Company's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
The Company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those
policies and procedures that:
•

Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
Company;

•

Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and the board of directors of the Company; and

•

Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or because of declines in the
degree of compliance with policies or procedures.
Management assessed the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021. In making this assessment, they used the
criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013).
As of December 31, 2021, based on management’s assessment, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2021 that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.
None.
ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS.
Not applicable.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto under the captions “Management and Corporate and
Governance Matters,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,” and “Code of Conduct and Ethics” in the Company's Proxy Statement
for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto under the captions “Executive Compensation” and
“Caladrius Director Compensation,” in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS
The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto under the caption “Security Ownership of Management and
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto under the captions “Certain Relationships and Related Party
Transactions” and “Management and Corporate Governance Matters” in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto under the caption “Accounting Fees and Other Accounting
Matters” in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
The following documents are being filed as part of this Report:
(a)(1) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:
Reference is made to the Index to Financial Statements on Page 48 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
All other schedules have been omitted because the required information is not present or is not present in amounts sufficient to require submission of the
schedule, or because the information required is included in the Financial Statements or Notes thereto.
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(a)(3) EXHIBITS:
The following is a list of exhibits filed (or furnished, where specified) as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Exhibits that were previously filed are
described below and are incorporated by reference. For exhibits incorporated by reference, the location of the exhibit in the previous filing is indicated.
Exhibit

Description

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Caladrius Biosciences, Inc., as amended, effective July 27, 2016 (filed
as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2016, filed with the SEC on August 9, 2016).

3.2

Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. as amended, effective as of July 27, 2016 (filed as Exhibit
3.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2016, filed with the SEC on August 9,
2016).

3.3

Amendments to Amended and Restated Bylaws of Caladrius Biosciences, Inc., effective as of September 18, 2017 (filed as
Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2017).

4.1

Description of Capital Stock.

4.2

Form of Warrant (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on April 24, 2020).

4.3

Form of Warrant (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on May 26, 2020).

4.4

Form of Warrant (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on July 10, 2020).

4.5

Form of Warrant (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on January 25,
2021).

10.1

Director Compensation Policy (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2018, filed with the SEC on March 22, 2018 and amended on April 2, 2018).

10.2

2015 Equity Compensation Plan (filed as Annex A to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement filed on Schedule 14A, filed
with the SEC on June 8, 2015).

10.3 +

2017 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the
SEC on August 10, 2017).

10.4

Form of Indemnification Agreement for executive officers (filed as Exhibit 10.44 to the Company's Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 as filed with the SEC on March 2, 2015).

10.5 +

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 5, 2015 and effective on January 5, 2015, by and between the Company and
David J. Mazzo, Ph.D. (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 5, 2015).

10.6 +

Amendment, dated as of January 16, 2015, to Employment Agreement, dated as of January 5, 2015 and effective on January
5, 2015, by and between the Company and David J. Mazzo, Ph.D. (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on January 16, 2015).

10.7 +

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of July 25, 2016, by and between the Company and David J. Mazzo, PhD
(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. for the quarter ended June 30, 2016, filed with the
SEC on August 9, 2016).

10.8 +

Amendment to Employment Agreement with David J. Mazzo, effective September 18, 2017 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 21, 2017).
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10.9 +

Amendment to Employment Agreement with David J. Mazzo, dated December 6, 2018 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 7, 2018).

10.10 +

Form of Purchase Agreement, dated April 23, 2020, by and between Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. and each purchaser identified
on the signature pages thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on
April 24, 2020).

10.11 +

Placement Agent Agreement, dated November 5, 2019, as subsequently amended on each of March 11, 2020, April 23, 2020
and May 25, 2020, by and between Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. and H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on May 26, 2020).

10.12 +

Form of Purchase Agreement, dated May 25, 2020, by and between Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. and each purchaser identified
on the signature pages thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on
May 26, 2020).

10.13 +

Form of Purchase Agreement, dated July 10, 2020, by and between Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. and each purchaser identified
on the signature pages thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on July
10, 2020).

10.14 +

Form of Registration Rights Agreement, dated July 10, 2020, by and between Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. and each purchaser
identified on the signature pages thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
SEC on July 10, 2020).

10.15 +

Form of Purchase Agreement, dated January 21, 2021, by and between Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. and certain Investors, as
defined therein (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on January 25, 2021).

10.16 +

Form of Registration Rights Agreement, dated January 21, 2021, by and between Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. and each
purchaser identified on the signature pages thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
with the SEC on January 25, 2021).

10.17

Form of Institutional Securities Purchase Agreement, by and between Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. and each purchaser
identified on the signature pages thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on
February 16, 2021).

10.18

Form of Institutional Additional Securities Purchase Agreement, by and between Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. and each
purchaser identified on the signature pages thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Registrant’s Form 8-K
filed on February 16, 2021).

14.1

Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers (filed as Exhibit 14.1 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2018 filed with the SEC on March 14, 2019).

21.1 †

Subsidiaries of Caladrius Biosciences, Inc.

23.1 †

Consent of Grant Thornton LLP

31.1 †

Certification of Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer pursuant to Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32 †

101.INS †

Certification of Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH †

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

101.CAL †

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

101.DEF †

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

101.LAB †

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
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101.PRE †
+
†

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Management contract or compensatory plan, contract or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit to this Form 10-K
pursuant to Item 15(b) of Form 10-K.
Filed herewith.

††

Furnished herewith.

(1)

Certain portions of this exhibit were omitted based upon a request for confidential treatment, and the omitted portions were
filed separately with the SEC on a confidential basis.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY
None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in Basking Ridge (Bernards Township), State of New Jersey, on March 22, 2022.
CALADRIUS BIOSCIENCES, INC.
By: /s/ David J. Mazzo, PhD
Name: David J. Mazzo
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive
Officer, Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer)
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

/s/ David J. Mazzo
David J. Mazzo, PhD
/s/ Gregory B. Brown
Gregory B. Brown, MD
/s/ Michael H. Davidson
Michael H. Davidson
/s/ Cynthia L. Flowers
Cynthia L. Flowers
/s/ Steven M. Klosk
Steven M. Klosk
/s/ Steven S. Myers
Steven S. Myers
/s/ Peter G. Traber, MD
Peter G. Traber, MD
/s/ Anne C. Whitaker
Anne C. Whitaker

Title

Date

Director, and President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal
Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer)

March 22, 2022

Chairman of the Board of Directors

March 22, 2022

Director

March 22, 2022

Director

March 22, 2022

Director

March 22, 2022

Director

March 22, 2022

Director

March 22, 2022

Director

March 22, 2022
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our report dated March 22, 2022, with respect to the consolidated financial statements included in the Annual
Report of Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021. We consent to the incorporation by
reference of said report in the Registration Statements of Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. on Form S-1 (File No 333-239302), Forms S3 (File No. 333-196702, File No. 333-206175, File No. 333-210664, File No. 333-214607, File No. 333-220354, File No. 333226319, File No. 333-248100, and File No. 333-252560) and on Forms S-8 (File No. 333-107438, File No. 333-144265, File No.
333-159282, File No. 333-162733, File No. 333-173854, File No. 333-181365, File No. 333- 184927, File No. 333-191572, File
No. 333-205662, File No. 333-212202, File No. 333-215455, File No. 333-218642, File No. 333-222410, File No. 333-225743,
File No. 333-225744, File No. 333-248101, File No. 333-257560, and File No. 333-254971).

/s/GRANT THORNTON LLP
New York, New York
March 22, 2022

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 302
I, David J. Mazzo, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Caladrius Biosciences, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 22, 2022
/s/ David J. Mazzo
David J. Mazzo, PhD
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32
CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 906
Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code), each of the
undersigned officers of Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), does hereby certify, to such officer’s knowledge, that:
The Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2021 (the “Form 10-K”) of the Company fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: March 22, 2022

/s/ David J. Mazzo
David J. Mazzo, PhD
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

